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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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On behalf of Apollo Solar Energy Technology Holdings
Limited (the “Company” or “Apollo Solar”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively as the “Group”), | am
pleased to present the annual results for the year ended
31 December 2011 to our shareholders (the “year” or the

“year under review").

2011 was a year full of challenges, solar subsidy cuts
in European countries, over-supply of silicon solar
modules and price drops of solar products had a strong
negative impact on the solar industry and the Group's
business. Nevertheless, thanks to the great efforts we
have put in and the support from our customers, Apollo
Solar successfully managed to achieve satisfactory
sales and maintain good profitability. For the year under
review, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$2,613,925,000 (2010: HK$3,444,673,000), a decrease
of 24% from the previous year. Profit for the year
amounted to approximately HK$722,962,000 (2010:
HK$1,191,012,000).

RIDING ON PHOTOVOLTAIC MARKET
TURMOIL

During the year under review, the global solar market was
very difficult, due to cuts in feed-in-tariff (FiT) for solar
power in various European countries such as Germany,
Italy, UK and Spain as well as the over capacity and
inventories built up following the market boom in previous
years. The international prices for solar modules have
been declining significantly during the year. This has
heavily squeezed the profit margins of all solar module
manufacturers, including the crystalline silicon modules and
thin-film modules manufacturers. In turn, the investment on
building new solar module manufacturing plants has been
trimmed down and this affected adversely the Group's
business. Most importantly, the credit environment of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") market has been
very tight during the year. During the first half of 2011, the
Chinese central bank raised bank reserve ratio six times to
a record high 21.5% and raised benchmark interest rates
twice to 3%. The tightening in bank loans has imposed
stress and negative impacts on our customers, both
existing and potential ones, and resulted in deferred and
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delayed investment in thin-film production lines. Since
most of the Group’s customers rely on bank loans to build
solar module manufacturing lines, the tightening in PRC
credit market bodes ill for the Group's business, given
China is the biggest solar module manufacturing country in
the world.

Weak European photovoltaic (“PV") market demand in
the first half of 2011, as well as the fast expansion of
module manufacturing capacity, caused the global solar
module inventories to soar at the end of first half of 2011.
According to the Solarbuzz Quarterly report issued on 30
June 2011, inventories were estimated to reach a record
8.6GW by the end of the second quarter of 2011. This
excess supply caused ex-factory module prices to drop by
9% in Europe in second quarter of 2011 and 16% since
the start of the year. PV Insights and Yuanta Research
have reported the price of poly silicon module dropped to
US$0.96/Watt on 28 December 2011 from US$1.6/Watt on
29 December 2010.

With the effect of shrinking demand in solar PV modules
and declining in module prices, the significant tightening of
credit market in PRC, the pace of the delivery of production
lines to our existing customers as well as the equipment
sales payment has been invariably affected. The Company
has been working very hard with its customers to ensure a
smooth delivery and installations of production lines, while
at the same time, pushing hard for timely payment from
them.

During the year under review, Apollo Solar delivered
equipment for 5 locations of its customer, & &2 5 i% &
B R A A (unoffical English translation being Hanergy
Holding Group Limited (“Hanergy"”)), and 4 of them
have started producing their first thin-film photovoltaic
module. In August 2011, the company further signed
contracts with Hanergy for equipment sales with an
aggregate consideration of US$5.95 billion (equivalent
to approximately HK$46.41 billion). The aggregate
consideration comprises the consideration of US$2.975
billion (equivalent to approximately HK$23.205 billion) for
the Equipment Sales Contract and the consideration of
US$2.975 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$23.205
billion) for the Service Contracts.
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CONTINUOUS EFFORTS ON CAPABILITY
BUILDING

Regarding technology research and development (“R&D"),
Apollo Solar has expanded the scientist team comprising
of world-leading experts in thin-film solar energy,
semiconductor material and radio-frequency technology.
The R&D team of the Group has achieved significant
advancement in conversion efficiency and technique on
controlling the degradation of silicon germanium alloy
deposition, as well as deposition techniques on flexible
substrates. At the same time, R&D work based on an
existing large-scale production line has provided valuable
operating parameters for accelerating the perfection and
application of new techniques.

In respect of the Company's operations, comprehensive
technical service system and network have been
established to enhance customer’s satisfaction with an aim
to increasing the operating efficiency of the Company.

PROSPECTS

During 2011, facing financial difficulties, European
countries executed rounds of subsidy cuts in FiT (Feed
in Tariff). The price drops in solar modules, on the other
hand, offset the FiT cuts, and investment opportunities in
solar farm are still very attractive.

Meanwhile, all levels of the Chinese government initiated
various solar incentive programs such as subsidies in
investment in “Golden Sun Program” and solar farm
FiT subsidies. These initiatives have strongly supported
the development of renewable energy in China, and the
installation of solar farms has experienced explosive
growth and the total installation surpassed 2GW.

The US government and investors have also shown their
support for photovoltaic energy. According to the July 2011
edition of the United States Deal Tracker database released
by Solarbuzz on 6 July 2011, the US non-residential PV
pipeline now exceeds 17GW. This comprises 601 projects
ranging from 50KW to 500MW in size, with planned
installation dates from second half of 2011 to 2015.
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Internationally, PV installations in 2011 reached 27.7GW,
a 70% increase from the previous year, according to new
figures released by the European Photovoltaic Industry
Association (EPIA). Accumulated installations reached
67.4GW at the end of 2011, up from 39.7GW at the end
of 2010. Europe continued to be the major market in 2011,
accounting for 75% of all new capacity, according to the
EPIA. The two biggest markets in 2011, Italy and Germany,
account for nearly 60% of global market growth during the
year.
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Solar silicon module weekly spot price trend in $/watt
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—— Silicon module
% ST AE

Source: Yuanta & PVinsight

Although the FiT cuts and module price drops have put
great pressure on all PV manufacturers, the large number
of installation of solar farm has shown that the world
needs PV energy and cost reduction will be the key to
success for market players.

Given the soaring demand for solar energy, the Group
will continue to concentrate on developing its solar
energy business and services in the future, with a focus
on the PRC market and a view to extending its footprint
in the international market. We will also continue to
invest abundant resources in technology R&D work,
and proactively increase our pool of talents through
recruiting expertise and staff training. We are dedicated to

maintaining our leadership position in the industry.

We firmly believe that our focus on technology R&D is
in the right direction for our development. Apart from
enhancing the existing thin-film technology, the Group is
also working on developing the manufacturing system for
microcrystalline silicon deposition technology. Meanwhile,

)& ¢ Yuanta & PVinsight
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we will leverage on our technical advantages in thin-
film solar equipment and materials to develop related
solar technologies. With its leading technology, strong
partnership network with customers and suppliers as well
as well established comprehensive service systems, the
Group is set to gain wide market recognition around the
world.

In addition, the Group will also explore the possibility
of extending its business in the PV value chain, to go
downstream into solar farm business so as to benefit from
the government incentives. The Company has recently
entered into negotiations with Hanergy in relation to the
supply of solar panels by the Hanergy Group to the Group
for its diversification of business to solicit and undertake
PV power generation projects in the PRC. The Board is
of the view that the extension and diversification of the
business of the Group in the downstream solar business
will be beneficial to the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

| would like to take this opportunity to thank for the good

efforts of our staff and the support from our shareholders
in the past years.

Frank Mingfang Dai
Chairman and President

Hong Kong, 29 March 2012

B NERAGEMARBBIIM - RERLN
i BERPRHEHBERR - URRBE
- AEBRAESERREATFORR
WHESERTISEZNEE °

BRI - AEBETBRRIBRE M IRNE
BEREGH AN - BEABEESHN T
X UXRBERERBFRBGRERER - A2
AL EERELERE R E R A K EHE K
BEERERGEITRER  UHAEE SR EBE
RAGEEEUMER - WA B FHRPAR
REEHEBE -EFTERR - ARERERR
DHETHAGERY  EE8MEHEAR
AINMBRERF -

AABRREFS  BRASEZELENG
N BB RZ F RO F o

FERAEE
Frank Mingfang Dai

E& —E——F=A=-+ANA



—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group's revenue for
the year amounted to HK$2,613,925,000, representing
a decrease of 24% from the previous year's
HK$3,444,673,000. The decrease in revenue was mainly
attributable to the decrease in the revenue from the solar
energy business by 15% from HK$3,019,097,000 in 2010
to HK$2,564,640,000 in 2011.

For the year under review, the Group showed a decline
in profits from HK$1,191,012,000 to HK$722,962,000
for the corresponding financial year ended 31 December
2010. Such decline is primarily due to a number of various
reasons including but not limited to (i) the decrease in
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2011, including but not limited to the lack of gain on
disposal of an intangible asset and income from transfer of
certain technology know-how for the financial year; (ii) the
decrease in gross profit; (iii) the increase in other expenses
including but not limited to the making of provision of
a trade receivable, impairment loss on intangible assets
and loss on disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries;
(iv) the decrease in gain on disposal of equity interests
in subsidiaries; and (v) the increase in R&D costs and
expenses.

The Group has recorded a provision for a trade receivable
of HK$178,395,000 during the year. Such provision is made
after prudent review and assessment of a customer’s trade
receivable by the management of the Group. After careful
deliberation, taking into consideration that the customer
has been procrastinating and shown no intention to settle
the subject trade receivable, the management of the Group
considers that the recovery of the subject trade receivable
would be quite difficult. For the sake of prudent accounting
treatment, the management of the Group decided to make
full provision in respect of the subject trade receivable.
During the year under review, impairment of intangible
assets amounted to HK$61,300,000 has recognised which
was attributable to the termination of certain customers’
contracts during the year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

1.

Investment in R&D to achieve efficiency
improvement and cost reduction

Facing continuous cuts in government subsidies and
drop in module price, the key to success for a leading
turn-key solution provider is to keep on developing
new technologies so as to achieve higher conversion
efficiency and lower manufacturing cost, with an aim
to eventually achieving the Grid Parity. The Group
has always attached great importance to R&D work.
During the year, the Group achieved outstanding R&D
results which served as a strong credential for the
Group’'s professional R&D team. The headcount of
the R&D team has also increased from 42 as at the
end of 2010 to 76 at the end of 2011.

During the year, the board of directors (the “Board”)
announced appointment of Dr. Li Yuanmin, the
Chief Technology Officer, as the Director and Vice
Chairman; and two more world-leading scientists,
Dr. Xu Xixiang and Dr. Shan Hongging, joined
the Company. Dr. Xu was appointed as the Chief
Technology Officer and Dr. Shan was appointed as
the General Manager of the Solar Research Center.
The expanding of our scientist team comprising
world-leading scientists from various technology fields
will speed up and broaden our R&D work on existing
and new solar technologies.

During the vyear, the Group’s new R&D Center has
been established in Chengdu with a total building
area of more than 5,000 square meters. In that
center, the scientist team is able to carry out its R&D
work on a production line of 300MW capacity. To the
best market information of the management, the size
and facilities in the R&D center is among one of the
world’s biggest.

During the year, an outdoor |-V testing (J¢8Iz) and
light-induced degradation (¥ ZJ&#) lab was set up in
Panzhihua City and an indoor light soaking (PR Y%
#R) lab in Shuangliu. These laboratories will facilitate
the R&D work and provide the scientist team the
most needed first hand data on degradation rate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1.

Investment in R&D to achieve efficiency
improvement and cost reduction (continued)

The Group has made significant advancement in the
conversion efficiency and stability of SGG (Silicon-
Germanium-Germanium), SSG (Silicon-Silicon-
Germanium) triple tandem module technologies. SGG
triple tandem production lines have been delivered to
customers and in large scale production stage.

The R&D team has also made progress in deposition
technology on flexible substrates. The thin-film has
been successfully deposited on flexible substrates
using the modified existing production line. A road
map has been selected for research on micro
crystalline based thin-film deposition technology also.

The 1GW equipment under the 2010 Sales Contract
(as defined in the circular of the Company dated
14 November 2011) with Hanergy

Following the execution of the 2010 Sales Contract
in 2010 (as more particularly described in the circular
of the Company dated 8 July 2010) with Hanergy, the
Group has been working closely with Hanergy and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Hanergy Group”) in
delivering the ordered equipments to Hanergy. By
31 December 2011, the first 1TGW thin-film module
production line has been delivered to 5 Hanergy
sites pursuant to the 2010 Sales Contract, 4 of these
production sites have produced the first PV module.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

2.

The 1GW equipment under the 2010 Sales Contract
(as defined in the circular of the Company dated
14 November 2011) with Hanergy (continued)

By 31 December 2011, gross amount due from
Hanergy for contract works of HK$2,810,658,000
is recognised according to the stage of completion
of the project whereas only HK$536,221,000 of the
total gross amount due from Hanergy for contract
works is overdue (“Payable Installment”) according
to the installment payment schedules as set out in
the contracts with Hanergy. The Board was informed
by Hanergy that part of their installment payments
did not adhere to the contracted payment schedules
due to the delay in obtaining government funding and
delay in bank financing drawdown. In respect of such
Payable Installment, the Group is entitled to claim
Hanergy penalty on such overdue Payable Installment.

Since then, Hanergy has offered a revised payment
schedule proposal for the Payable Installment.
The Company’'s Chief Executive Officer and three
independent non-executive directors represented
the Company have conducted due diligence on the
feasibility of the proposal. After conducting site visit
in Hanergy Group and reviewing financial information
of the Hanergy Group, the three independent non-
executive directors are satisfied that the revised
payment schedule offered by the Hanergy will be
feasible and hence is acceptable by the Group.

As such, Hanergy has undertaken to pay to the
Company HK$370,000,000 to settle the Payable
Installment by 30 June 2012 and settle the rest of
the Payable Installment by 31 August 2012.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

3.

Postpone of Vietnam sales contract

On 14 May 2011, the Indochina Energy & Industry
Company Limited ("IC Energy”) broke ground for the
construction of a solar panel factory in the central
coastal Vietnamese province of Quang Nam. Deputy
Prime Minister Hoang Trung Hai of Vietnamese
Central Government delivered a key speech to push
for more renewable energy in the country. According
to the Vietnamese Communist Party, the IC Energy-
built solar panel factory has a design capacity of
120MW annually with all products aimed for export.
The Group has signed a contract of 30MW with IC
Energy in 2010 to provide turn-key solutions and
technical support for the said panel plant. However,
due to the shortage of financial means and the rapid
downturn of global solar industry, IC Energy has
requested the company to delay the project by no
more than 24 months. In view of keeping a good
working relationship with our customers, the Group
agreed to such a request.

New orders worth HK$46 billion

The Group has entered into the 2011 Sales Contracts
with Hanergy, with the aggregate consideration of
US$5.95 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$46.41
billion). The contract was achieved at after arm’s
length negotiations with reference to the 2010
Sales Contract and the historical selling price of
equipment with similar capacity for the production of
the thin-film solar PV modules which is on terms no
less favourable to independent third parties of the
Company. The aggregate consideration comprises
the consideration of US$2.975 billion (equivalent to
approximately HK$23.205 billion) for the Equipment
Sales Contract and the consideration of US$2.975
billion (equivalent to approximately HK$23.205 billion)
for the Service Contracts.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

4.

New orders worth HK$46 billion (continued)

The subject matter to be sold by the Group to
Hanergy under the equipment sales contract is the
equipment, which will be divided into three batches
of production lines and to be produced and delivered
by Apollo in three phases. The first and the second
batches of the production lines consist of 8 sets of
the equipment for each batch and the third batch
of the production lines consists of 12 sets of the
equipment. Each set of the equipment consists of,
among other items, 42 units of PECVD equipment
and 6 units of PVD equipment, which are the core
equipment of the new turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of the solar PV modules production
system. The underlying equipments to be sold under
the 2011 Sales Contracts are similar to those under
the 2010 Sales Contract and the patents and licences
involved for the 2010 Sales Contract and the 2011
Sales Contracts are the same.

The subject matter under the Service Contracts is the
provision of, among others, technical and engineering
support services, layout of production lines, operation
support, maintenance, training services, grant of
software license in relation to the equipment for
each batch of the production lines, by the Group to
Hanergy in six stages of the production lines including
(i) facility planning — planning for factory construction
and devising detailed specification and requirement
of the factory; (i) move-in of equipment — installing
and fine tuning of equipment in the factory; (iii)
testing — testing of the installed production line; (iv)
start of production — the initiation of production line
associated with further fine tuning and modifying
software parameters; (v) end of ramping — the
production line meets certain criteria on panel
conversion rate, yield rate and up time; and (vi)
warranty period.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

5.

Manufacturing and service capability expanded

The Company has strengthened its workforce in the
year. The labor force in solar business increased to
390 at 31 December 2011 from 263 on 31 December
2010. Of them, the number of staff in scientist team
increased from 42 to 76 and that in customer support
department increased from 86 to 110. Because of
the disposal of our toy business, the total headcount
dropped to 345 from 4,000 on 31 December 2010.
The strengthening of our highly skilled engineers and
scientists work force will enhance our R&D capability.
It will also strengthen our installation efficiency and
greatly increase the Group’s annual output capacity.

On the other hand, Hong Kong office has moved to
the new office at International Commerce Centre at
the end of the year. The new office has a gross floor
area of 7,600 square feet.

Extended service and support system

In respect of customer service, the Group has
expanded its existing service network during the year
to better serve its customers. The Group has added
two service stations while withdrawn two customer
service points and maintained 6 customer service
centers as at the end of 2011. The service coverage
encompassed the entire PRC. With the number of
technical and after-sales staff increasing from 86 to
110, the Group is able to provide more convenient
and efficient services and continuously enhance the
Company’s competitiveness.

Disposal of Toy Business

On 30 March 2011, the Company entered into an
agreement pursuant to which the Company had
agreed to sell 51% of the issued share capital of
RBI Industries Holdings Limited for an aggregate
consideration of HK$90 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

7.

Disposal of Toy Business (continued)

The directors consider the disposal of its remaining
equity interest in the Toy Business in the best
interests of the Group having taking into consideration
the prevailing factors including the present business
environment in which the Toy Business has been
operating. These factors include the continued rising
material and labour costs, high worker mobility,
Renminbi appreciation and implementation of more
onerous testing requirements. Therefore, taking
into account the difficult business environment of
the Toy Business and the expected sluggish global
toy industry, the directors believe that the disposal
represents a good opportunity for the Group to realize
its investment in the Toy Business, and is fair and
reasonable and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole. The Company
intends to use the net proceeds from the disposal
to fund its future development and as the general
working capital of the Company.

Upon completion, each member of RBI Industries
Holdings Limited ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company. The Company ceased to have any interests
in the Toy Business after completion.
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OUTLOOK

The Group is convinced that mastering the most advanced
technologies is the key to maintain its leading position
in the solar energy market. As such, the Group has
adhered to its past practice and continued to invest
substantial resources in the R&D. In order to keep its
competitiveness, the Group has been actively seeking
appropriate large scale production line for conducting R&D
works. At 9 March 2012, the Group has entered into an
equipment lease agreement with FJIEEEHIREAR QT
(Sichuan Hanergy Photovolale Limited) (“Sichuan Hanergy")
to lease the production line located in the factory premises
with equipments associated with the production line to the
Group for a term of one year commencing from 10 March
2012 to 9 March 2013. At the same day, Sichuan Hanergy
shall upon the request of the Group to provide relevant
equipments, material and facilities to allow the Group to
carry out research on thin-film solar energy technology
development. In particular, Sichuan Hanergy shall upon
request of the Group to provide PECVD furnaces for
research to be conducted by the Group. The Group also
rent the office premises, the factory premises and the staff
dormitory owned by Sichuan Hanergy for a term of one

year commencing from 10 March 2012 to 9 March 2013.

The Group is dedicated to further enhancing the conversion
efficiency of its thin-film solar production line. The Group
will continue its R&D work on multi-junction silicon based
thin-film technology in 2012. It has also started the
manufacture of micro-crystalline silicon deposition system.
In addition, the Group will also join hands with certain
major suppliers in its R&D work so as to further lower the
production cost of equipment and better master the new

solar technologies.

In order to cater for the newly signed 2011 Sales Contracts
with Hanergy, Apollo Solar will expand its manufacturing
capacity in Beijing. By the year end of 2011, the Group
has rent a large manufacturing plant of more than 32,000
square meters in Beijing as its new manufacturing base.
The Group believes that this much larger manufacturing
center could greatly enhance the manufacturing capacity of
the Group so as to swiftly and efficiently execute the 2011

Sales Contracts with Hanergy for the coming years.

RE

REERE  BEREEAXNGREITENSRTH
i - BIRENRME@EME - At - K
SEHE—MNATEEERRKEERZERTH
BIE %Tﬁzli%l{%%—iﬁiﬁﬁ%j] N SETES
NERRIBRPERE - R_T—_F=AN
A AEEED)E ﬁ*ﬁﬂEAﬁT(FEJIIE

e FRI B ERZ - MEMRUI IS
FﬁWZiE#«%@iE mEAREHERMA
—E——F=ZA+HAE_FT—=F=ZANAB "
BE—F)  c RE—XK - WINEEEASEEE
o IR ARRERE - MR RERIE - MEARSE
EETERE NG R MR 2 - EH )l
R AEAE R ZRKIBH PECVD IR RIE -
A EGETT S IERR 3 T4E - REETRAEA D)
EREBEA DG TSR ETHES
H-E——F=-ATHEBEZZ—=F=HAN
HiEBEI—%F -

AEBERNE-FRITERKNGREERLZ
BRYE - R_T—_F AEEKEES
BESYERXMHNAETIE REBECH
MAEEMAYIIERAS o o ANEBEHE
TEHEREMBR TSI EETAE - R
KR E A AN I 58 AUt e R 3% T A PS5 e
BB -

RTEITEZERFRITIN _T——FaR
5 ARG RS B AR AL A E R IBHIERE ©
AEEECR - ZE——FRAELERERTEE
Hi832,000 F T AKZ REERE - EREIL
FATHEEREM - REBREMALEESOE
TERERRIRTI AL - BN ARRE B MM RE
HFEMERE T ——FER -



18

IS ARG RiTER B R AR APOLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

OUTLOOK (continued)

The Group will also expand its existing service network
so that a wide coverage customer service network could
serve and respond to the needs of clients swiftly and
satisfactorily. The Group intends to build such a network
coverage that could encompass the entire PRC. To this
end, the number of technical and after-sales staff will be
increased accordingly. In 2012, the Group will commit itself
to consolidating its existing clientele and strive to ensure
timely completion of orders.

The Group believes that the PRC market is one of the
most promising solar energy markets in the world. As
a leading provider of thin-film solar energy equipment
turnkey solution, the Group will focus on the PRC and the
Asia-Pacific markets in the future.

In addition, the Group will explore the possibility of
extending its business in the PV value chain to enter
into downstream solar business like solar farm, so as to
benefit from the government incentives. The Company has
recently entered into negotiations with Hanergy in relation
to the supply of solar panels by the Hanergy Group to
the Group for its diversification of business to solicit and
undertake PV power generation projects in the PRC. The
Board is of the view that the extension and diversification
of the business of the Group in the downstream solar
business will be beneficial to the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

The Group will continue its best efforts to push forward
the existing contract with Hanergy. With the support of
our customers, it is believed that the Group will sustain its
existing growth momentum in the coming year and reward
its shareholders with fruitful results.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group did not have any bank
borrowings (2010: Nil) while the cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$284,809,000 (2010:
approximately HK$890,880,000).

Gearing ratio (total borrowings (exclude convertible bonds)
over shareholders’ equity) as at 31 December 2011 was
0% (2010: 0%).

TREASURY POLICIES AND EXCHANGE &
OTHER EXPOSURES

The Group’'s monetary transactions and deposits continued
to be in the form of US dollars, Renminbi and HK dollars.
The Group expected that the exposure to exchange rates
fluctuation was not significant and therefore had not
engaged in any hedging activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2011,
charges on its leasehold land and buildings (2010: Nil).

the Group did not have any

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2011, information on
sales and purchases relating to the major customers and

suppliers is summarized as follows:

Sales (Percentage over total sales)

The largest customer BAEF
Five largest customers AREF

Purchases (Percentage over total

purchases)
The largest supplier BAMER
Five largest suppliers hARHEER
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

(continued)

At 31 December 2011, Hanergy, a company in which
certain key management personnel were also directors of
the Company (the “Director”), was one of the Group's five
largest customers. Henan Gogreen Energy Limited (Ji] F{#
482 R BB AT]), being one of the five largest customers
of the Group, was a subsidiary of China Gogreen Assets
Investment Limited, which owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital as at 31 December 2011.
All transactions between the Group and the customers
concerned were carried out on normal commercial terms.

Other than as mentioned above, none of the Directors,
their associates, or any shareholder which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had a beneficial interest in
any of the Group's five largest customers or five largest
suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2011.

PERSONNEL

The number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2011 was approximately 390 (2010: 4,000) of whom 159
(2010: 650) were office administration staff.

Remuneration of employees and directors are determined
according to individual performance and the prevailing
trends in different areas and reviewed on an annual basis.
The Group has also contributed mandatory provident fund,
retirement funds and provided medical insurance to its
employees.

Bonuses are awarded based on individual performance
and overall Group performance, and are made to certain
employees of the Group.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. During the year under review, the Group’s revenue
and operating profit were derived principally from the
manufacture of equipment and turnkey production lines for
the manufacture of amorphous silicon based thin-film solar
photovoltaic modules.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of operating segment information of the Group
during the year are set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2011 and the state of the Group's affairs as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 58 to 178.

The Board does not recommend to declare final dividend
(2010: Nil) and interim dividend (2010: Nil) for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's convertible bonds,
share capital and share options during the year are set
out in notes 27, 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF BE  HEIE@D LHES
LISTED SECURITIES

During the 12 months ended 31 December 2011, the #HZz—_ZET——F+_A=+—HIt+=@
Company repurchased and cancelled 313,952,000 shares A - 2N &) A8 A BB [0 3F 51 $5 313,952,000
of the Company on The Stock Exchange. Details of the &RARRQAI[EMD o BEEIZFFIBWT :
repurchase were as follows:

Number of Price per share
repurchased SRER Aggregate
Month of repurchase share Highest Lowest cost paid
BmEAH BERHHE &S B®IE 2 RERE
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000
T BT T FAET
January 2011 215,792 0.64 0.61 135,539
—E——F—f
February 2011 98,160 0.66 0.64 63,976
—T——%_HR
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BEXS

In accordance with the reporting and announcement #R#E FH#HBIFE14ASE N2 HERE DM
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the F @ KNEBRFRETATEERS :

Group had entered the following connected transactions

during the year:

()~ On 29 April 2011, the Company and Hanergy entered () RZZ——FWNA=-+IH AQFH
into the Second Extension Letter in respect of the BT - TFEREREFIE N
2010 Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which the EHAR - Bl - AR R ROERER B
Company and Hanergy agreed to further extend the et RBEKBHR_ZE—F
last day for all Conditions to be fulfilled from 30 April MA=FTH(KARBHEZEREZH
2011 (or such later date as agreed by the Company BREBH)E—PTEHE-_FT——F
and Hanergy) to 30 September 2011 (or such later NA=ZTHEARFEERBECH
date as agreed by the Company and Hanergy). AREBE) RSFBERZZE——
The details of the transaction were set out in an FOA =+ BB A -

announcement dated 29 April 2011.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(1

On 18 September 2011, Fujian Apollo (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered
into (i) the 2011 Sales Contracts and the Company
entered into (ii) the 2011 Subscription Agreement,
(iii) the 2011 Option Agreements and (iv) the Fifth
Supplemental Agreement, while the resolutions
relating to the transactions were duly passed by
the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”)
by way of poll, each as an ordinary resolution, at
the special general meeting ("SGM") held on 30
November 2011.

(i) The 2011 Sales Contracts

Fujian Apollo and Hanergy entered into the 2011
Sales Contracts in relation to the sale of the
new turnkey equipment, tools and machinery
of Solar PV Modules Production System (the
“Equipment”) and the provisions of technical
and engineering support, training services and
the grant of software license in relation to the
Equipment by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy, for
an aggregate consideration of US$5.95 billion
(equivalent to approximately HK$46.41 billion).

(ii) The 2011 Subscription Agreement

The Company and Hanergy entered into the
2011 Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which
Hanergy has agreed to subscribe for 18 billion
Subscription Shares at the subscription price of
HK$0.10 per Subscription Share.

(iii) The 2011 Option Agreements

The Company entered into the 2011 Option
Agreements with each of Hanergy and Apollo
Management respectively, pursuant to which the
Company conditionally agreed to grant the 2011
Options to Hanergy (or its designated individuals
or entities) and Apollo Management to subscribe
for an aggregate of 1.4 billion 2011 Option
Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.1664 per
2011 Option Share.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(1

(111)

(continued)

(iv) The Fifth Supplemental Agreement

The Company and Hanergy entered into the Fifth
Supplemental Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company and Hanergy have agreed to amend
certain existing terms of the 2010 Subscription
Agreement.

The details of the transactions from above (i) to
(iv) were set out in an announcement dated 18
September 2011 and the circular dated 14 November
2011 respectively.

On 28 September 2011, the Company and Hanergy
entered into the Incentive Agreement, pursuant to
which Hanergy has agreed to subscribe for 3 billion
Incentive Shares at the subscription price of HK$0.10
per Incentive Share. The details of the transaction
were set out in an announcement dated 28
September 2011 and the circular dated 14 November
2011 respectively, while the resolutions relating to
the transaction were duly passed by Shareholders by
way of poll, as an ordinary resolution, at SGM held on
30 November 2011.

On 26 October 2011, Fujian Apollo and Hanergy
entered into various supplemental agreements (the
“Supplemental Agreements”) to amend certain terms
and conditions of the 2010 Sales Contract and each
of the 2011 Sales Contracts. Under the Supplemental
Agreements, Hanergy agreed that Fujian Apollo has
the right to transfer all or part of its right and/or
obligations under 2010 Sales Contract and 2011 Sales
Contracts respectively to the Company's subsidiary
provided that a notification of such transfer is given
by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy in advance. The details
of the transaction were set out in an announcement
dated 26 October 2011 and the circular dated 14
November 2011 respectively, while the resolutions
relating to the transaction were duly passed by
Shareholders by way of poll, as an ordinary resolution,
at SGM held on 30 November 2011.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(V)

On 8 November 2011, the Company and Hanergy
entered into (i) a supplemental agreement (the “Sixth
Supplemental Agreement”) to amend certain terms
and conditions of the 2010 Subscription Agreement,
and (ii) a supplemental agreement (the “2011
Supplemental Agreement”) to amend certain terms
and conditions of the 2011 Subscription Agreement.
The details of the transaction regarding the Sixth
Supplemental Agreement and 2011 Supplemental
Agreement were set out in an announcement dated 8
November 2011 and the circular dated 14 November
2011 respectively, while the resolutions relating to
the transactions were duly passed by Shareholders by
way of poll, each as an ordinary resolution, at SGM
held on 30 November 2011.

MATERIAL DISPOSAL

In March 2011, the Group disposed of its remaining 51%

equity interest in RBI Industries Holdings Limited to three

independent third parties for a total cash consideration of
HK$90,000,000. Completion of such disposal took place
in March 2011 and a loss on disposal of equity interest

in a subsidiary of approximately HK$12,331,000 was

recognised in profit or loss of the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income. The details of the transactions

were set out in an announcement dated 30 March 2011.
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EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

On 9 March 2012, Fujian Apollo, a wholly owned
subsidiary entered into three tenancy agreements,
the equipment lease agreement and the technology
agreement (“Agreements”) with Sichuan Hanergy, a 68%
owned subsidiary of Hanergy. Given that Hanergy will
become a substantial shareholder of the Company after
the completion of the subscription of new shares of the
Company by Hanergy in accordance with the terms as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
18 September 2011, the entering into of the Agreements
constitutes a continuing connected transaction on the part
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of the Agreements are disclosed below:

()  Three Tenancy Agreements

Pursuant to the terms of the three tenancy
agreements, Fujian Apollo shall rent the office
premises, the factory premises and the staff
dormitory located in the production base in Shuangliu
County, Sichuan Province, the PRC owned by Sichuan
Hanergy for a term of one year commencing from 10
March 2012 to 9 March 2013.

The monthly rent for the office premises shall be
RMB19,680 per month. The monthly rent for the
factory premises shall be RMB204,680 per month.
The monthly rent for the staff dormitory shall be
RMB5,600 per month. The monthly rent is determined
after arm’s length negotiations with reference to the
monthly rental of other similar premises in Shuangliu
County, Sichuan Province, the PRC.

MBRRKEEE

B oz

RZE—ZF=ANA BEHVBEEN
AWEEH% ZEReEB68% 2B A
AN =M HERZ - REEE BRIl
E((ZEHE]) - ERNEEBREERIE
ARAFIAA-_Z——FAA+TNBZAH
T GRRERRBITRG —F2KE
BB AR TIE%%v@FLﬁﬁW%MA
B ANZEMERERAAR I ERE

5o ZEMBZFBERBELT

() =nHAEH=

BE=MHERZ G EBEABE
FAAWIDEERELNPEME)IEER
BEEEM P RNGH  IHSFRE
IEE B-E——-F=A+HEBE=
T-=F=ANAILEH—F -

WABFzEAESAARE 19,680
T IRSEMcBREEARAR
204680 EITEE v BHEEAA
R¥5,60070 - AL EFRED)|
HERGEMAE S A% - FTE
B A FREEEE -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEERE

EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION DATE (continued)

(1

(1

Equipment Lease Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the equipment lease
agreement in relation to the lease of the production
line by Sichuan Hanergy to Fujian Apollo for its use,
Sichuan Hanergy shall lease the production line
located in the factory premises with equipments
associated with the production line to Fujian Apollo
for a term of one year commencing from 10 March
2012 to 9 March 2013.

The monthly rent for the production line and
the equipments associated thereto shall be
RMB1,376,986 per month. The monthly rent is
determined after arm’s length negotiations with
reference to the monthly rental costs of other similar
equipments used in the production line in the PRC.

Technology Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the technology agreement,
Sichuan Hanergy shall upon the request of Fujian
Apollo provide relevant equipments, material and
facilities to allow Fujian Apollo to carry out research
on thin-film solar energy technology development.
In particular, Sichuan Hanergy shall upon request of
Fujian Apollo provide plasmas enhanced chemical
vaporized deposition device (“PECVD") furnaces for
research to be conducted by Fujian Apollo.

The term of the technology agreement shall
commence from 10 March 2012 to 9 March 2013.
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EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION DATE (continued)

() Technology Agreement (continued)

The consideration payable by Fujian Apollo to
Sichuan Hanergy shall be at RMB12,000 per PECVD
furnace. Assuming that the maximum number of
PECVD furnaces to be utilised by Fujian Apollo shall
be 1,500, the maximum aggregate consideration
payable by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy under
the Technology Agreement shall be RMB18,000,000.
The consideration payable by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan
Hanergy is determined after arm’s length negotiations
with reference to the costs and expenses to be
borne by Sichuan Hanergy in respect of each PECVD
furnace.

The details of the transactions were set out in an
announcement dated 9 March 2012.

CHANGE IN AUDITORS

Grant Thornton had resigned as auditors of the Group
with effect from 16 July 2010. To fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Grant Thornton as auditors of
the Group, Ernst & Young had been appointed as auditors
of the Group at the special general meeting held on 9
August 2010. The details of the change in auditors were
set out in an announcement dated 21 July 2010 and the
circular dated 22 July 2010.
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Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the terms of the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 28 August 2007 (the
“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant
option to (i) any director, employee or consultant of
the Group or a company in which the Group holds
an equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
("Affiliate”); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
(iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose service
to the Group or business with the Group contributes
or is expected to contribute to the business or
operation of the Group as may be determined by
the Directors from time to time to subscribe for the
shares of the Company.

Principal terms of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose
of attracting and retaining quality personnel and other
persons and providing incentive to them to contribute
to the business and operation of the Group. To this
end, the Directors may specify the minimum period,
if any, for which an option must be held or the
performance targets, if any, that must be achieved
before the option can be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment for the share options at an exercise price
(subject to adjustments as provided therein) equal
to the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(ii) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant of the share option; and (iii) the average closing
price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share option.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company shall not exceed
10 per cent. of the share capital of the Company in
issue on 28 August 2007, the date of adoption of
the Share Option Scheme, unless a refresh approval
of the shareholders is obtained. At a special general
meeting of the Company held on 11 June 2010,
the shareholders of the Company have approved
to refresh the 10% limit. As at the date of this
annual report, the total number of shares available
for issue upon the exercise of all options granted
or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is
461,224,947 (representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of passing the
resolution to refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and to
be issued) in respect of which share options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme to any
one grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1 per cent. of the share capital of the Company in
issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company has
been obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Share Option Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007
and has a life of 10 years until 27 August 2017. The
exercise period of an option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not be more than ten years
from its date of grant and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which such option must be held
before it can be exercised.
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Other Option

The Company has also granted other options to
certain consultants upon completion of acquisition
of Apollo Precision Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Solar
Business”) in November 2009 as incentive of their
contribution to the development of Solar Business
(the "Other Option 1”). The Other Option | was not
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Principal terms of the Other Option |

The Other Option | entitled the consultants to
subscribe for an aggregate of 320,000,000 shares of
the Company as adjusted after the share subdivision
effective from 5 November 2009 at an exercise price
of HK$0.25 after the share subdivision effective from
5 November 2009 for a period of 5 years from the
date of granting of the Other Option |. The vesting
period was 1 year from the date of grant. Details of
the Other Option | are set out in the circular dated 29
October 2009.

Moreover, the Company has granted other options to
the companies which are owned by the employees
of Hanergy on 6 August 2010 as incentive of
contribution to a smooth execution of Principal Sales
Contract (the “"Other Option II"). The Other Option Il
was not granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Other Option (continued)
Principal terms of the Other Option Il

The Other Option Il entitled the Hanergy's employees
to subscribe for an aggregate of 602,448,000 shares
of the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.72. It
is exercisable during the period commencing on the
payment in full of the three installment prepayment
in respect of the sale of the first batch of production
lines; and ending on the day immediately prior to
the fifth anniversary of the date of grant. It will be
lapsed, upon the earlier of: (i) the fifth anniversary
of the date of grant; and (ii) on 31 December 2011 if
Hanergy fails to pay the three instalment prepayment
in respect of the sale of the first batch of production
lines under the Sales Contract in full before that
day. Details of the Other Option Il are set out in the
circular dated 8 July 2010.

On 18 September 2011, the Company entered into
the 2011 Option Agreements with each of Hanergy
and Apollo Management respectively pursuant to
which the Company conditionally agreed to grant the
2011 Options to Hanergy (or its designated individuals
or entities) and Apollo Management (the “Other
Option [11"). On 16 December 2011 (the “Date of
Grant”), after fulfillment of the conditions precedent
to each of the 2011 Options Agreements, the
Company has granted the Other Option Ill to Hanergy
Option Limited (Hanergy's designated entities) and
Apollo Management. The Other Option Il was not
granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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Other Option (continued)

Principal terms of the Other Option IlI

The Other Option Il entitled Hanergy Option

Limited (Hanergy's designated entities) and Apollo

Management to subscribe for an aggregate of 1.3

billion shares and 100 million shares of the Company

at an exercise price of HK$0.1664 respectively. It will

be lapsed upon the fifth anniversary of the Date of
Grant.

For the Other Option Il granted to Hanergy Option

Limited, the exercise periods are as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Options to subscribe for 610 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the Date of Grant and ending on
the day immediately prior to the fifth anniversary
of the Date of Grant;

Options to subscribe for 310 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the first anniversary of the Date
of Grant and ending on the day immediately prior
to the fifth anniversary of the Date of Grant;

Options to subscribe for 310 million shares
of the Company are exercisable during the
period commencing on the second anniversary
of the Date of Grant and ending on the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Date of Grant;

Options to subscribe for 10 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the third anniversary of the Date
of Grant and ending on the day immediately prior
to the fifth anniversary of the Date of Grant; and

Options to subscribe for 60 million shares of
the Company are exercisable during the period
commencing on the fourth anniversary of the
Date of Grant and ending on the day immediately
prior to the fifth anniversary of the Date of
Grant.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) BBIRAE (=)

ii. Other Option (continued) i. HtBREE)
For the Other Option Il granted to Apollo BTMGERRE 2 LamBEREN 277
Management, the exercise periods are as follows: BRgnR -

Exercise periods

s
From the From the
From the first second  From the third fourth
anniversary anniversary anniversary anniversary

From the Date of the Date of the Date of the Date of the Date
of Grant and of Grant and of Grant and of Grant and of Grant and

ending on ending on ending on ending on ending on
the day the day the day the day the day
immediately immediately immediately immediately immediately
prior to prior to prior to prior to prior to

the fifth the fifth the fifth the fifth the fifth

anniversary of  anniversary of  anniversary of  anniversary of  anniversary of
the Date of the Date of the Date of the Date of the Date of

Grant Grant Grant Grant Grant

b ARLAS ARLAS mERLAS BARLAS

ez -BERZ “RERE ZRERE mAFEz

BEREAS  BERLAY  EERMAN  BEREAE  RERLAN

Name of grantees RARRARS TEFAZAL EBFAZAL EBEFAZAL EAFHzAL DAFHZAL
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai

R 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 16,800,000

Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. FRELELTFHET 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,400,000 14,400,000

Dr. Li Yuan-min FnRiEL 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 7,200,000

Dr. Xu Xixiang GEABL 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 7,200,000

Dr. Shan Hongging EREEL 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 7,200,000

Mr. Li Guangmin ZERGAE 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 3,600,000

Mr. Xu Xiaohua rEELE 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 3,600,000

Total a5t 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 60,000,000

Details of the Other Option Ill are set out in the EMmBERENZFBEHNBEHEA-Z

circular dated 14 November 2011. ——F+—A+UHEZEH -
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) BRREE

iii. Movements of Share Options i BRESH
Movements of the Share options granted to the BE-_FT——F+_-_A=1+—HIFE
participants during the year ended 31 December 2011 AR EERHBEARE S8 T -

are as follows:

Outstanding Exercised/  Outstanding
as at Granted lapsed as at
1 January during during 31 December
Date of grant Exercise price Exercise period 2011 the year the year 2011
RZB——-% RZB-—-§
—A-AHX FREfR/ +TZA=t+-
RILAH THE Eog:d Cay:d FREH Pt B RITH
(a)  the Share Option Scheme WKl
13 July 2009 HK$0.18 %7 * 13 April 2010 12,000,000 — (12,000,000) —
— 12 July 2011
“ZRNAFLATZR “Z-ZEMAT=HE
—2——%+tA+ZH
(b)  the Other Option HfziEMRE
(i) 25 November 2009 HK$0.257% 7L * 25 November 2009 114,400,000 — (110,800,000) 3,600,000
— 24 November 2014
—TENE “EENFT-AZTAR
+—A=t+&A eSS
+—A=t+mAB
(ii) 6 August 2010 HK$0.72 7T Note 602,448,000 — — 602,448,000
—Z-FF/\ARHA B sx
(i) 16 December 2011 HK$0.1664 /57 16 December 2011 — 1,400,000,000 — 1,400,000,000
— 15 December 2016
—2——F “E2——Ft+ZA+RAZE
+ZA+A8 ZE-R"¥tZAt+EA
* after the adjustment of Share Subdivision. * AERE (7 AT T B 1
Note: Hfat
It is exercisable during the period commencing on the BHBERENREEE —HEERK =T
payment in full of the three installment prepayment in MNRBEBFR N REEEER O BPRESFA
respect of the sale of the first batch of production lines; and #Z A IEEARI A TTAE o
ending on the day immediately prior to the fifth anniversary
of the date of grant.
Save as disclosed above, none of the grantees is a B FIREEY  BEAR A AR T
director, chief executive or substantial shareholder TEE TBEIHASNTERBE ST
of the Company or an associate (as defined in the ARET e A+ (FE 8 Frgg)) -

Listing Rules) of any of them.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the consolidated financial statements set out on
page 63.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders at 31 December
2011 were as below:

i fa
AEEZFRERERZEBERARNE6SE
RARBRRTPHAESEDRA -

EERAR ARAR_ZE——F+_-A
=t+—BAHSIRTRRZFEHEET :

2011 2010

—E——-F —ZT-ZF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Contributed surplus A 262,432 262,432

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the carrying value of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
in prior years and reorganisation during the year ended 31
December 2009 which, under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), is available for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of contributed surplus if:

(i) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

ARARZEFRAERKBNE AR ZRE
BEREMBETAARAKRNEABEZZERLEE
—EENFFT A=t HLFERZEXR
Bl YARBE-AN-FAERERFEK
R DR TARRZIR o AW - fWHIRA
TER - AARRAFEMIIRERS LA
EREBDIK

() xR KNRBTE
(4

LEEIIMZAE

(i) HEEZAEREEAMINEBER
HERITRARBRMD EER AR -
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws (“Bye-laws”) although there is no
statutory restriction against such rights under the laws in
Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

The Group had no borrowings outstanding at 31 December
2011. No interest was capitalised by the Group during the
year.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2011 are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five year financial summary is shown on pages 179 and
180.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year 2011 and up to the
date of this report were:

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai (Chairman and President)

Dr. Li Yuan-min (Vice-chairman and Chief Technology
Officer) (appointed on 3 August 2011)

Mr. Chen Li (appointed on 12 December 2011)

Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 3 August 2011)

Mr. Li Guangmin

Mr. Peng Li Bin (resigned on 12 December 2011)

Mr. Xu Guo Jun (resigned on 3 August 2011)

Mr. Zhao Lan (appointed on 23 August 2011)*

BRBEERE

BREXVIHELEBERERLTRS - E
ARRZ AR RBARR )L EA B
SN ZBE -

M BERRE

AEBZME BEMERBRREMENF
Nz EBBIFERFBED R ER AR A B 1 HK M

sF16 °

BEERERELFE
AEBR-_E—F+_A=+—HILEHE
BER - REBRFARAWEEFIBERE -

\

FENBLF

R=F——F+=A=+—0 AAALE
A R 2 BB A BT TRART R 18 -

PMBHRE

AFEEHESHMNE179F 1808 -

B=
T FHBFEREEAREAMIE
ESURNE

Frank Mingfang Dai e4 (@I
FRREL(BlEFEHREREME)
(RZZE—F N\A=-HEZHF)
BRAOEERZZE——F+ AT -AEZMT)
FTRBES R 4+ (FTIRAEEL)
(RZE—FNA=HEZF)
TERSLE
CAMAE(RZE——F T ATZHET)
BEEEE(RZE——FE N \A=HEF)
HELZET(W=_Z—FN\A-+=AEZD"*
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Wong Wing Ho (appointed on 23 August 2011)*
Mr. Wang Tongbo (appointed on 12 December 2011)*
Mr. Jiang Zhesheng (resigned on 12 December 2011)*
Mr. Xie Boyang (resigned on 12 December 2011)*

Mr. Su Changpeng (resigned on 3 August 2011)*

Independent non-executive Directors

In accordance with the Bye-laws section 86(2), the
offices of Dr. Li Yuan-min, Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P.,
Mr. Chen Li, Ms. Zhao Lan, Mr. Wong Wing Ho and Mr.
Wang Tongbo as a Director will end at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (“Annual General
Meeting”). Dr. Li Yuan-min, Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P.,
Mr. Chen Li, Ms. Zhao Lan, Mr. Wong Wing Ho and Mr.
Wang Tongbo, who being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting.

In accordance with the Bye-law section 87(1), Mr. Frank
Mingfang Dai and Mr. Li Guangmin will retire from the
office of Directors at the Annual General Meeting by
rotation. Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai and Mr. Li Guangmin,
who being eligible, offers themselves for re-election at the
Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2011, the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the "SFQ")) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as follows:

B4

BRERER_E——FN\A-T=ZAEZM)"
ERARER-FT——FTAT-BRZRED)"
TEERE(RZE—F+A+=HFHD)"
HEGEE(R=T—F+=—A+=B&%D)"
melErtEt(R—_ZE—F N \A=ZB&HT)’

" OBNEMTES

RIBARAMANESR) - FRREL - 7K
BEENF@HL BROKLE BEXL =
AERERTERPDEEZEETERHNAR
AEERRBFAS(RRBFEARE ) LE
me FRRBLE  FREEEANFEHEL R
Nk BREZL  FAEEERERBE
EEERUMBNRRBFAS LERBIE -

B A A B %E87(1) 1 - Frank Mingfang
Dai FERZEREEBNIRRBEFAE Lin
RE © Frank Mingfang Dai e4£RFER
FEEERTBERARRBFTAG LBEES
£

EEzR{ER

R-_ZT——F+-_A=+—H8 ARAE=E
EREBTHRABEARR A SKE A AEH
E(EERBHFRBERINTES RBEK
Bl EXV 8) 2 - HEBRGKNESFTE
BREARHERARAIRERSF &S KROE
352 (RBEGEZERMZERIAR - R
BLEMBRAMESEATE s EMBETAESE
TEHRHREETRIBNEG AR E) KRR
Frz AT
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES (continued) ZEZEZRDHER &)

Percentage of

Number of issued share

Number of share capital

shares options Total interests ~ {HER{TRA

Name of Director BERR ROEE BREHA SHER BOL
(%)

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai %t 4 — 28,000,000 28,0000,000 0.21
Dr. Li Yuan-min (Note 1) TRREL (M) 1,200,000 12,000,000 13,200,000 0.10
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. FRELER LT — 24,000,000 24,000,000 0.18
Mr. Li Guangmin TERLE — 6,000,000 6,000,000 0.04
Mr. Wong Wing Ho (Note 2) BELE(F2) 7,150,000 — 7,150,000 0.05

Note: Htat -

(1)~ Dr. Li Yuan-min, who is a vice-chairman, executive Director (1) ZARQFEIFFE HTESHZEFERNES T

and chief technology officer of the Company, is deemed to R RE ABBEEH A F Thriving Sino
be interested in 1,200,000 Shares, through its controlled Limited 71,200,000 A& B FH A
corporation, Thriving Sino Limited, within the meaning of HlE 571 EFALEEEHEXVETRAELZ
Part XV of the SFO (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). FEZS o

(2)  Mr. Wong Wing Ho, who is an independent non-executive (2) AARBIYEHITESTE KEELEHES

Director of the Company, is deemed to be interested in M7,150,000 RO P HEE#ERD  EH 8
7,150,000 Shares, including 800,000 Shares owned by Ms. BekEhtt s RESEZEELLTHEAE Y
Yuan Sugin, the spouse of Mr. Wong Wing Ho. 800,000 &t °

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS YN I
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any RAFEEHFEHJHKFENRN - NN 5 sk E A F @K
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had BAGMEIIVESHE S D EESEEE
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted BEA#ERZEELSA) -

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR [BER{HSES L8
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the Share Option Scheme section [ EX [T | —SEREEN  NE
stated above, at no time during the year was the Company  R{E@EE @ AN 7 sk (T [ E A 530 &
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to EFIVEELZH  BFEENREBE KRQ T
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the  {F{aJE ik A BEEL 7 %D ek &% MRz -
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or

any other body corporate.
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MANAGEMENT AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management
or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year
without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement scheme are shown in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's retirement scheme contributions charged to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year amounted to approximately HK$4,334,000 (2010:
HK$7,110,000).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2011, having made enquiries with
the relevant persons/corporations, the interests or short
positions of such persons/corporations, other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company, in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO are as follows:

EERBREESH

FRALE|I LR FERBARRR 2R
TEHFDEB 2 EREERLITREL -

BREENHET RRBEAS LEEY
EEMEBEEARAHEERMEQRT LR
RARARAAE-—FATTRECEERER
SN AR L Z BRI A ©

RIKEHE

ANEE 7 RIREFEIFHBH NG A T EIRE M
FF2.4 0

AFEE REAE2ERSZRNBZAEER
RET 2 K49 54,334,000 T(Z 8 —F
£ :7,110,000/&7T) °

FERR

WoB——F+=A=+—H0 "EEAL
SEBfELERE  RRARTREEER
BEIGDIE 36 REFE 2 BEMMES - A
WAL EE(ARAEEERTETRAR
BN AR FIR 1 AR o A 2 A
AT :
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FERRE)
Number of
underlying
shares under
derivatives Percentage of
equity issued share
Name of Number of fTEIA capital
shareholder Capacity shares B#HET 2  Total interests HERTRE
REER BEHE KRB #E HEROHE SHER ALk
(%)
Mr. Li He Jun Interest of controlled 25,928,387,688 2,150,253,669  28,078,641,357 209.06
EERE corporation
s ER 2 e
FEEEERERAF Interest of controlled 25,928,387,688  2,150,253,669  28,078,641,357 209.06
corporation
P s AR 2 B
LTREEENHEBRAR  Interest of controlled 25,928,387,688  2,150,253,669  28,078,641,357 209.06
corporation
Pzl AE 2w
TREYRREESERAF  Interest of controlled 25,928,387,688  2,150,253,669  28,078,641,357 209.06
corporation
FriEslERE 2 s
Hanergy Beneficial owner 25,928,387,688 2,150,253,669  28,078,641,357 209.06
=1 ESBEBA
EEMBETHELBEERALF  Interest of controlled 25,928,387,688  2,150,253,669  28,078,641,357 209.06
corporation
BT ER 2 s
BRRIENEEARAA  Interest of controlled 25,928,387,688  2,150,253,669  28,078,641,357 209.06
corporation
ipe N 3
Hanergy Option Limited Beneficial owner 2,649,746,331 3,651,069,669 6,300,816,000 46.91
EGBEAA
Mr. Geng Jiafeng Interest of controlled 2,649,746,331 3,651,069,669 6,300,816,000 46.91

e i

corporation

P AR 2
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FERRE)
Number of
underlying
shares under
derivatives Percentage of
equity issued share
Name of Number of fT£IR capital
shareholder Capacity shares BRET2  Total interests HEBITRA
BRRA®E EatE ROEE HBROHE aRER B
(%)
GL Wind Farm Investment  Beneficial owner 91,022,862 2,776,905,535 2,867,928,397 21.35
Limited EnlEAA
Mr. Yu Jie Interest of controlled 91,022,862 2,776,905,535  2,867,928,397 21.35
FAREE corporation
Pz =8 2 e
China Genco Investment Beneficial owner 16,858,728 2,351,069,669 2,367,928,397 17.63
Limited EREAA
Mr. Yang Jing Interest of controlled 16,858,728 2,351,069,669 2,367,928,397 17.63
BERE corporation
PRt EE 2 e
Affluent Capital Holdings Beneficial owner —  2,150,253,669  2,150,253,669 16.01
Limited EHBEAA
Mr. Lin Jianfang Interest of controlled — 2,150,253,669 2,150,253,669 16.01
WEFTE corporation
FrssEE 2 e
China Gogreen Assets Beneficial owner 1,000,000,000 — 1,000,000,000 7.45

Investment Limited

PERGEEREARAR

EalAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, no

other persons/corporations had interests or short positions

in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which

are required to be recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company’s corporate governance

practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”

from pages 44 to 51.

Bk EXFTIREEIN

RZE——F+_H

=t—B BEEMAL EEEADQAR
I REERNDPEEALENRARARER
7 R BRG] 336 (R BF B 2 Erofit 2 i

AR -

EER

BRAARRARCEEATRZENENE 448

EELVAZIEREARE] -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules for the purpose of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group's financial reporting process
and internal controls. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and with the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company's issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young was appointed by the Directors to conduct
audit on the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 2011. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Ernst &
Young as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the board

Frank Mingfang Dai
Chairman and President

Hong Kong, 29 March 2012

BEREES

ARBACERETRAUEI2NERIERE
Eg ARFEHNIEEAKREZYHHARE
FRhABEE BRZEZEQXBERE=%8
MIFHITES -

ABEREREE
RBEARRMBZAREMLERESAA
RAREBH - AAREBLETRANARE
NORBEEITIRN 25% 2 FE B R RFFRE ©

B ED
RKBFAMERIEEETZEBTRARAE
E-T—FIFE2WHRRK - RAKE
TZERBEFAREGLHRE —HRBERNE
LK GET RV B AR R R EED

RREEE

FIERABE

Frank Mingfang Dai

BE —T——FZA-+ANH
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The Board is charged with providing effective and
responsible leadership for the Company. The Directors,
individually and collectively, must act in good faith in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Board has established the following committees to
oversee different areas of the Company’'s affairs. The
composition of the Board and the committees are given
below and their respective responsibilities are discussed
later in this report. The terms of references of these
committees adopted by the Board are published on the
Company’s website (www.apollosolar.com.hk).

E=ZRaERARRREAEMNEEEZR
B BRZNAMAMNRARATAITE  UAR
A M AR 2 RREM S RIKER

EXECARUNTZEEEEARA TR
B2EK BEFEREEZEGZREHERNT
X MEEBZBERNRARE T 3GR -
ZEZEGZRERECREFTSRM X

B AR A J 48 3k (www.apollosolar.com.

As at 31 December 2011, the members of the Board and W-ZT——F+_-_A=+—H EFe k%
the committees are as follows: ZEEIKENT
Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
EREEE FHEES
Board EEg
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai
(Chairman and President) SE(FEFRAAZ)
Dr. Li Yuan-min® (Vice-chairman and THRET (G EHR
Chief Technology Officer) BEIEE)
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. © RS ERT ML
(Chief Executive Officer) (7TECAE2%;)
Mr. Chen Li* BRAEE
Mr. Li Guangmin TER%LE
Independent Non Executive Directors BMYIEHITES
Ms. Zhao Lan* Rt v V¥
Mr. Wong Wing Ho* EACEEE" v v
Mr. Wang Tongbo™ TR L™ v v

¥ Chairman of the committee
appointed on 3 August 2011
appointed on 23 August 2011
appointed on 12 December 2011

##

## ﬁ/i\

—ET—F)\A=BHEZE
fRZE——F N\ TZHEZE
“E—FT-A+-RHEZRE
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The Board sets the Group's objectives and strategies
and monitors its performance. The Board also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, major
transactions, director appointments, and dividend and
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility of managing and overseeing the Group's
day to day operations to the Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Directors of the Company and respective
directors of principal subsidiaries of the Group. The
role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is
segregated.

The Company had received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive directors as regards
their independence to the Company and based on the
contents of such confirmations, considers that each of the
independent non-executive Directors is independent to the
Company.

The company secretary of the Company assists the
Chairman in setting the agenda of board meetings and
each Director is invited to present any businesses that they
wish to discuss or propose at the meetings. All Directors
have timely access to all relevant information of the
meetings and may take professional advice if necessary.

EEeREASEZBELER  YEEH
RE-BEENE Tﬁ%ﬁif&qﬂﬁﬁ%%~
TERG EFRME UERBRERSFEEE
HRE -BFEREBNEBAEEREL
BREIREERETANRRITRAE LB
TEERAEETIZMNBRARASBZES -
TRETHRARZBEBMED

RARCEESB YN TESTAREE L
%K"ﬂZEF’E@?& C UREEBEERZA
BRREELFNTEST IR INARF

ARRZARMEBHETRRBEETS SR
ZQE%S%%:E C MEBEFYSREBIR D TR

“’E/\ALJ RREZFH - 2REFY
ARMEAEERERIEN  FARE
SREXER -

EEE‘]
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THE BOARD

The Board held 5 full Board Meetings for the year ended
31 December 2011. Attendances of the full Board meetings
are as follows:

RBE-_T——F+_A=1t—BHLFE"
EXeCBTREREFTEEH - 2REF
BERZHFERLENT

No. of meetings attended

HEEBRRE
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai st 4 5/5
Dr. Li Yuan-min® FRRELC 5/5
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P.® AREFRERNTF L 5/5
Mr. Chen Li* PR S 71
Mr. Li Guangmin TERSA 5/5
Mr. Peng Li Bin™ EREET 4/4
Mr. Xu Guo Jun” BBEREEE" 0/0
Ms. Zhao Lan” iz el 5/5
Mr. Wong Wing Ho" EoOEEE? 5/5
Mr. Wang Tongbo™ TR E™ il
Mr. Jiang Zhesheng™ THEERET 4/4
Mr. Xie Boyang™ WEBEE" 4/4
Mr. Su Changpeng’ mEM L 0/5
?  appointed on 3 August 2011 ° R-E——E \AZRHEZT
" appointed on 23 August 2011 R ZE——F A+ HEZRE
* appointed on 12 December 2011 " ORZE——F+ A+ -—AEZRE
*  resigned on 3 August 2011 TR E——FN\AZAET
** resigned on 12 December 2011 RZE——F+ZA+ZHEE

The full Board participates in the selection and approval
of new Directors and therefore has not established a
nomination committee. The Board takes into consideration
criteria such as expertise, experience, integrity and
commitment when selecting new Directors.

Under the Bye-laws, all the Directors are currently required
to offer themselves for re-election by rotation at least once
every three years. All Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election at the first general
meeting after their appointment.

The independent non-executive Directors were appointed
for one year up to the date of the next annual general
meeting.

HREREFSHS2ENBERBERTE
EORAUTEBRIERZES EFENHE
HEESER FYFXME - &% @mIELE
BEREHAESERELEZE -

BRELRMAY  2REFERRELIE=F
WREX —REE o TR AEMBRRZERM
BEZACEERERXZERERRRAS
LHETIER

BYFRTEEZERR—F ETERRE
BERSBTRH/L -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
was established to review the Group’s financial reporting,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and
make relevant recommendations to the Board. As at 31
December 2011,
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of

the Audit Committee comprises of three

the Audit Committee possess appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules. Please refer
to biography section of Directors for further details of the
committee members.

The Audit Committee may elect to ask its external
auditors to attend its meetings. During the year, the Audit
Committee has met with the external auditors with no
executive Directors present.

Ms. Zhao Lan* (Chairman) wELt (EE)
Mr. Wong Wing Ho" EoOEEE?
Mr. Wang Tongbo® TR EE™
Mr. Jiang Zhesheng ** THEERET
Mr. Xie Boyang ** WEBEE"
Mr. Su Changpeng * mEMEL"

appointed on 23 August 2011
appointed on 12 December 2011

##

* resigned on 3 August 2011

** resigned on 12 December 2011

BEREES

ARBlzERZBR([BEREZER]) KT
NEMASE AR REfEEE R B X
EREH UHE=ESRLMEMRESR - N=
E-——F+-_A=+—RH BEZZESRHE
—RBUFWTES - BRERBEEIRAR
EARAMAREZEEERER - 5T %M
MU BEESXNE - REQKBEZE—H
HER2HESERE— -

ERZESRREBEENIMNERBMLEAS
#oMAFE  ERZBESC BINEREM
BITRTESITBLFEZE -

No. of meetings attended

HESBRE

11
11
0/0
2/2
2/2
11

#

—ENAZT=ZAEET
—F+-A+-AEET
—EN\AZHET
—F+ZATZHEM®

##

B_Z—
B==—
R-E—
B==—
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION BB
The services provided by Ernst & Young and the associated ZXKE:MEBANEBEE_ST—TFER_FT
fees thereof for the years ended 31 December 2010 and ——4%+= A :+*EIJJ:¢ED B 2 AR
2011, respectively, were as follows: BREMBERNT
2011 2010
—E——-F ZZT-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Statutory audit and interim review AR EZ R HER 2,830 3,500
Taxation services %5 AR 75 57 5
2,887 3,505
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES

The remuneration committee of the Company AR HFMEZEEL((HFMEE L )AL
(“Remuneration Committee"”) was established to review JI\EHEZMESRAEEFMES - FTAEK
the remuneration of Directors and the Group's salary B¥ABYIFEHNTTEES - BBMEZEEFRE
policy. All members are independent non-executive iKW FAIKEWNNFIIEH 2 BEPEAE
Directors. To minimize any conflict of interest, any member 35 BB ZEHZHEREZ - NEBEEE
who is interested in any given proposed motion is required [N - HWE S €0 F{HAE Ii%&%%&%ﬁ
to abstain from voting on such motion. During the year I A 8 7 %NS MZEH o

under review, the Remuneration Committee had reviewed

the Group's policy and structure for all remuneration of

Directors and senior management.

No. of meetings attended

HESRXE
Ms. Zhao Lan® (Chairman) MR (EE) 0/0
Mr. Wong Wing Ho" moAOESE? 0/0
Mr. Wang Tongbo™ TR 0/0
Mr. Jiang Zhesheng** STHEERET 1/1
Mr. Xie Boyang** AEBEE" 1/1
Mr. Su Changpeng* e L’ 1/1
*  appointed on 23 August 2011 fRZE—F\AZT=REZRME
# appointed on 12 December 2011 " O RZBE-—F+ZA+-BHEZRT
* resigned on 3 August 2011 TRZE——FN\AZAEI
** resigned on 12 December 2011 YR ZZE——H+ - A+ -ABI(ET
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results announcement of the
Company are published in a timely manner and within
three months and two months respectively of the year end
and interim periods.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial
statements is set out below. It should be read in
conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on pages 56 and 57 which acknowledges

the reporting responsibility of the Group’s Auditor.

Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the annual report and financial statements
of the Company to ensure that these financial statements
give a true and fair presentation in accordance with Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable accounting
standards.

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
in accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose the financial
position of the Group upon which financial statements
of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group's accounting policies.

LEREEE- 3
MBS

ARAFEMNPHEERGONNELERAR
THRAERESER=ER RW®EA KR
PO B T 3% o

EEMUBMRMAEZRETHINAT - T
XHE 66 B ME 57 BB R BRI ME AARE
EZBMERAELREEETEMIR ERE
FE&—BFBIE -

FHRRE

EERARAEARUAATZFRRH B
HE - ARRHLEHN BREERETELT
O REREER HEMATHLIE
%o

BT BE

EERR AEBERUEMBBKRESER —
ERMZEESER  UREERZ G
RERNEH A I RRE 2 HET R AR -

BitEs

EFRERRAEMET TREAEDH K
HRZ @RS MUFLE  AAEEE
R RE Y @R R RS -
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Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within
the Group.

Going Concern

The Directors, after due and careful enquiries and by
performing the necessary due diligence work to assess
the credibility and the capacity of the Hanergy Group, are
of the view that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system (the “System”)
of the Group. The System is designed not only to achieve
the Group’'s objectives with facilitating an effective
and efficient business operation to ensure a reliable
financial reporting and compliance with applicable rules
and regulations, but also to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance on preventing material misstatement
or loss as well as managing and minimizing risks of failure
in operational system.

The Board should at least annually conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the System including all relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee and the
internal audit department, have continued to review the
effectiveness of the System. The System is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Controls are monitored by management review and
by a programme of internal audits.

REEE

EZ0ERDUeBEMEZEBRERN
SHEE UHBREERAKEANZFRT
REREMERER -

FEEE

REBSANRTEERER 2 EENEE
METLEAERBRESTHER EFRRELE
BHEERMEREN B ARREESZE At
AEBEEERAFELEEERFEY R
= o

M AR EE 1

ESCERERASEREMA R ABEE
Em(IER)EAL2E  WAREEEBR
BEEMRBRZEGERE  BRA FZH
¥E MR E ST & TRE AR RDA R DA BUR
SEER RASTEERESEGEFEY)
®RE - UHhBEAKRERMKIER » AKRE
& B B (K 28 AR R B 2 LR

ExeRz L EFERAR(BEMEERBY
% 2ERARESREAREENE) ZBX
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF BIFLEERERSTH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company has complied with the code provisions set REBE-_Z——F+_A=+—BILFE -
out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set A al—H &S Fif B4+ mpms > o
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the E & AT RTRIFTE 2 TRIEX °

year ended 31 December 2011.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES KPR EBETESRZNRES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF THE Al
COMPANY

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Model ZARAFCMEBEENZELSX S EFHEMN—ET
Code"”) regarding securities transactions by the Directors (KRBt EmRBIMIEE+ ]2 21T 5
on terms no less exacting than the required standard set SFRI([1@%<FH|]) - KAFBESELETE
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made &% EHRAKRED BFEETFE| 2R
specific enquiry to all Directors, the Directors confirmed F[ZERAKAGTMEENZ L S EBAER
that they had compiled with the required standard set #2717 a<F8l -

out in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding

securities transactions by Directors adopted by the

Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai (“Mr. Dai”), aged 48, is the
chairman, president and an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Dai joined the Company on 13 August
2010. He is a senior vice president of Hanergy. Mr. Dai
has extensive experience in asset restructuring, merger
and acquisition, international financing and development
of photovoltaic business. Before joining Hanergy, Mr. Dai
had been engaged in business management and market
development in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States
of America ("USA”) for many years. Mr. Dai graduated
from the faculty of industrial economy management of /&
5 A2 (Shenyang University) in 1984 and later obtained a
master’'s degree in business administration (EMBA) in 2000
from the University of Texas at Dallas, USA.

Dr. Li Yuan-min (“Dr. Li"), age 53, joined the Group
in 2009 and has been the Vice Chairman, an Executive
Director and the Chief Technology Officer of the Company
since 3 August 2011. Dr. Li graduated in modern physics
from University of Science and Technology of China in
1982 and obtained a master’'s degree in physics from
Harvard University in 1984 and obtained his doctor of
philosophy in applied physics from Harvard University in
1989. Dr. Li has over 29 years of experience in international
thin-film materials preparation, characterization and
deposition technologies, photovoltaic (PV) devices design,
synthesis, analysis and optimization, large-area PV module
manufacturing and related process engineering, displays
and optoelectronic devices and materials. Dr. Li is the
inventor of numerous patents related to thin-film materials
preparation and technologies and PV devices design. Dr.
Li is currently a member of the Technical Advisory Board
of SEMI (China) PV Committee (a PV industry promotional
organization with headquarters in Shanghai). Dr. Li was
also the president and chief technology officer of a thin-
film PV company in New Jersey, USA and was a consultant
to a number of PV companies in the People's Republic of
China, Taiwan and USA.

HITES

Frank Mingfang Dai %4 ([Dai &4 1) * 48
% RAREIERE  BERWITESE - Dailft
ERZZE—ZFFNAT=ZBMALRRQA
REREZARBIBE - BEREESMA - RO
g BEmERECREBRE T EERL
EXE - Dai CETEMAZREZ RIS EFRE -
BEEREREMEZFRELEERRMER
BETE-DaikER— N N\NFEERERS
RETEKEERZE  HERNR_TETH
REBRENTMETENAZRSIHEE
EL B -

FRREL(FHEL]) 835m R-TTN
FMALER BZT——FNA=BEA
ARBEIZERE ROTESREFERME - F
BEIRN - AN ZFEXRNFEMEASEIN
WIRE - X RIE—NN\EFER—ANNF
RRGAEREYELBE LT 20N ERYE
BIELTEM - FETHEBRBERMHRE
KB EORERM - KBRS I 2 ’RR
B ATAEL - KEE KA REN
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P. (“Mr. Hui"”), aged 48, joined
the Group in 2009 as chief financial officer of the Group.
Following his appointment as an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 3 August
2011, he has ceased to be chief financial officer of the
Group. Mr. Hui is a specialist in Paediatrics. Mr. Hui is
also a chartered financial analyst (CFA) and holds a master
of business administration (MBA) degree conferred by
Universitas 21 Global. Mr. Hui is a member of Energy
Advisory Committee and Small and Medium Enterprises
Committee of the Government of HKSAR and also a non-
official member of the Women’s Commission of the
Government of HKSAR. Mr. Hui is currently an independent
non-executive director of Suncorp Technologies Limited
(stock code: 1063). In the past three years, Mr. Hui was
an executive director of each of Town Health International
Investments Limited (stock code: 3886), China Gogreen
Assets Investment Limited (stock code: 397) and China
Natural Investment Company Limited (stock code: 8250)
and was an independent non-executive director of Hao Tian
Resources Group Limited (stock code: 474).

Mr. Chen Li (“Mr. Chen”), aged 39, has years of
experience in finance management, risk management and
arranging for financing. Mr. Chen, who joined the Company
on 12 December 2011, is currently the executive vice-
president and executive Director of the Company. He
obtained a master degree in business administration from
the University of International Business and Economics
in 2006. He is also the vice-president and the chief head
of finance management unit of Hanergy. Before joining
Hanergy, Mr. Chen has worked in the Jinan branch of
the Bank of China and been responsible for the credit
business.

HITES(#)
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Li Guangmin (“Mr. Li"”), aged 35, was appointed as
an executive Director of the Company on 13 August 2010
and as the financial controller of the Company with effect
from 1 November 2011. He is the senior deputy finance
controller of Hanergy. He joined Hanergy in 2002. He had
worked for it R B # B (Beijing Crane Factory*) from
2000 to 2002. He graduated from 1t77#@AE (Northern
Jiaotong University*) (currently known as 3k 5 3% i A £
(Beijing Jiaotong University*)) with a bachelor degree in
accountancy in 2000.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Ms. Zhao Lan (“Ms. Zhao"), aged 48, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and the chairman
of each of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
of the Company on 23 August 2011. Ms. Zhao obtained
the Bachelor of Economics from Renmin University of
China, the People's Republic of China (“PRC”), in 1996.
Ms. Zhao is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Beijing City Certified Tax
Agents Association. Ms. Zhao is experienced in auditing,
accounting and corporate management.

Mr. Wong Wing Ho (“Mr. Wong”), aged 37, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
a member of each of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company on 23 August 2011. Mr. Wong
is the senior branch manager of a worldwide leading
wealth management company. Mr. Wong is a Chartered
Certified Accountant ACCA, a Certified Financial Planner
CFP®™, a Chartered Wealth Manager CWM™ and also a
member of the Global Association of Risk Professionals.
Mr. Wong has extensive experience in financial, wealth
and risk management.

HITES(#)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Wang Tongbo (“Mr. Wang”), aged 61, has years
of experience in foreign import and export. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company and a member of each of Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company on
12 December 2011. He obtained a master degree in
Economics from Liaoning University (3 % K 2) in 1995.
Mr. Wang is currently a partner of B — hEKEES
(American-China Growth Fund*). Before joining American-
China Growth Fund, Mr. Wang has worked in E{EZEE %
7] (Etech Securities, Inc*) as an executive director from
2005 to 2009; EF5 4R B (Shenyang Wilke Medicine*)
as a director from 2003 to 2004; BT HTE X E
& (Shenyang Municipal Government Offices*) as a chief
representative of the United States of America from 1996
to 2002; EE M HIINEEE HZEZ BE (Shenyang Foreign
Economic and Trade Commission*) as deputy chief from
1990 to 1996; ES A &EEH LT N5 (Shenyang Metals
and Minerals Import and Export Corporation*) as general
manager from 1988 to 1990; and FEASEEHEL AN
&) (China National Metals and Minerals Import and Export
Corporation*) Shenyang branch office as general manager
from 1985 to 1988.

BMFHATESH)

TEABAEETEEED 6155 EEZF
HNEROKR BER_T——F+= A
TIEWEAAARRIZB L IERITES -
ERZEEeZEBRFMZESZE - HER
NN AFREEZTRSBLESPE L2 -
FEEBRRBER — RBKKRESZEKA °
MAER — FEXEESH - TAER T
TRHFE_TETNFAEEREZTESF LN
TEE —_TTE-FE_TTNFAESGE
MREXESRE; —NWNAFE_ZEE-_F7F
BETERNEEERERARE —WNT
FE-NNAANFETEGTHINCEESZ 8
grEEE: —NAN\NEFEE-—NAAZEFTE
GRS EEREDORARELE : R—LN\HR
FE-ANNFIHEREEELEHNOAF
EISDNEABALIE o

55



56

IS ARG RiTER B R AR APOLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT

BYRZEMHRES

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

z Kk

To the shareholders of Apollo Solar Energy Technology
Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Apollo Solar Energy Technology Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 58 to 178, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

BB AR RERMZERARLTZERR
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 December 2011, and of the
Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central
Hong Kong

29 March 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEZEWER

(Year ended 31 December 2011 BE=_FT——F+_A=t+—HIFE)

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FET FETT
CONTINUING OPERATION BEQEXER
REVENUE WA 5 2,564,640 3,019,097
Cost of sales SHE A AR (952,879) (1,015,580)
Gross profit EF 1,611,761 2,003,517
Other income and gains E AU A R e 6 6,662 137,565
Selling and distribution costs HIHE A (2,062) (6,332)
Administrative expenses THER (117,144) (391,425)
Research and development costs B Ak X (121,010) (29,523)
Other expenses HEmER (319,595) —
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of equity  HEMBATKEZ
interests in subsidiaries F(E18) ek (12,331) 26,131
Finance costs B 7% & A 7 (78,738) (222,804)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM A REFESEEKZ
CONTINUING OPERATION B A= 8 967,543 1,517,129
Income tax expense Fre i g (243,814) (346,459)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM A REFERLEEL 2
CONTINUING OPERATION 75 g A 723,729 1,170,670
DISCONTINUED OPERATION EARIEREER
(Loss)/profit for the year from a REBRIELEER
discontinued operation REE(EE), & T 10 (767) 20,342
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 786 B g A 722,962 1,191,012
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Ha 2wk
Exchange reserve: b S
Translation of foreign operations BMEGINETS 105,575 27,097
Release upon disposal of o & BT B A BB
subsidiaries [ 32 - 299
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEFHMEHE
FOR THE YEAR I &= 105,575 27,396
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  ANEEZHEKE
FOR THE YEAR Fok ) 828,537 1,218,408
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEZEPER

(Year ended 31 December 2011 Eﬁﬁ:;??;‘-.%fr:ﬂ = 1 — [ElIFE5ED)

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
ikz3 FET FET
Profit for the year attributable to: JEMRAREERF
Owners of the parent ISTNEIE/ZEPN 11 719,320 1,184,697
Non-controlling interests e I e 3,642 6,315
722,962 1,191,012
Total comprehensive income FEfh 2 E s
attributable to: 4z
Owners of the parent HRRHERA 824,895 1,222,073
Non-controlling interests eI i e 3,642 (3,665)
828,537 1,218,408
HK cents HK cents
B JEN
EARNINGS PER SHARE B ATEBE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BEREE AEN
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BREF
PARENT 13
Basic BN
— For profit for the year — RNFEmF 5.9 24.8
— For profit from a continuing — REFBLCEED
operation ZAE E s T 5.9 24.4
Diluted e
— For profit for the year — RERHF| 5.0 8.7
— For profit from a continuing — RERFBLCEED
operation 2 AE E T 5.0 8.6

Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note

12 to the consolidated financial statements.

AEERE ZHBREE M BRERME 128

= o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B BT RS IR R

(31 December 2011 R=ZF——F+=—_A=+—H)

2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B KR E 16 119,364 155,369
Prepaid land lease payments SEL Dl 17 — 9,665
Deposits paid for acquisition of WEEIZE - R K tE
property, plant and equipment ZBEffiEe 15,583 22,763
Goodwill EES 19 7,915,318 7,915,318
Intangible assets mIEE 20 370,689 542,636
Deferred tax assets EETIREE 28 71,453 16,434
Total non-current assets ERBNE ELRTE 8,492,407 8,662,185
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepaid land lease payments R A S 17 - 165
Inventories FE 21 360,345 180,064
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b fE W Sk IE 22 2,897,939 1,586,197
Bills receivable R = % 23 — 3,629
Deposits and prepayments e RIBRREIA 38,695 165,460
Equity investment at fair value BATEIERERZ
through profit or loss g E 24 5,320 —
Pledged deposits R NER N 25 40,759 213,906
Cash and bank balances B MRTTHET 25 284,809 890,880
Total current assets MENEEER 3,627,867 3,040,301
CURRENT LIABILITIES REIBE
Trade and other payables B 5 M E M ER FRIE 26 474,489 490,178
Bills payable i ANES — 97,588
Deposits and accruals e RETER 71,035 231,768
Tax payable e IR 256,549 256,959
Total current liabilities BB BT 802,073 1,076,493
NET CURRENT ASSETS nEEEFE 2,825,794 1,963,808
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEATRTE

LIABILITIES =R+ 11,318,201 10,625,993
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B BT RS AR O =

(31 December 2011 R=F——&+=A=+%5 A)

2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Biat F#T FHET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABEBARE
LIABILITIES =L 11,318,201 10,625,993
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEMS
Convertible Bonds Al E S 27 729,375 2,072,384
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBEE 28 197,157 147,755
Total non-current liabilities EmBE[ELREE 926,532 2,220,139
Net assets BEFH 10,391,669 8,405,854
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to the owners of B2 F#EA AE
the parent =
Issued capital BEITRA 29 33,577 20,721
Reserves s 10,358,092 8,277,262
10,391,669 8,297,983
Non-controlling interests FEHE IR FE 2R — 107,871
Total equity Rz 1BEE 10,391,669 8,405,854
Frank Mingfang Dai Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P.
FFREES A K H L
Chairman and President Director

FERAAE EZE
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IS ARG RiTER B R AR APOLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERSER

(Year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE—

B A= BLER

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAAREARE
Retained
Share Capital Convertible Share profits/ Non-
Issued premium ~ redemption Reserve  Contributed  bonds equity Other Exchange option ~ (accumulated controlling Total
capital account Teserve funds surplus reserve reserve reserve Teserve [osses) Total interests equity
TEERS g/
BRGRE  ROEEER EARERE it Rézn EERE AhER EXgf  BBEEE  (ZtER) A FokEs #E8E
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKs 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$'000
i T 7ET 7L 7L 73 A 7Er i T AT AT 7L
(note 31(elfl)  (note 31falfl]  (note31(ali) note 27) {note 31(alfv)
(isnaln) (W3l (Wastelin) ) (Rl
Group A%E
At 1 January 2010 W-%-35-R-A 1153 1,831,799 6,203 51,106 161,797 4,031,110 (81,970) 20,386 39,137 (3364 5868345 178957 6,047,302
Repurchase of own shares ~ BEASRA
(note 29() (o) (612) (263,810) 612 = - - 81,970 = = = (171,840) = (171,840)
Share repurchase expenses  RIVEE R
(note 29() (hit2a) - (840) - - - - - - - - (640) = (640)
Conversion of Convertible
Bonds (note 29(i) 9180 2,001,509 - - - (1,277,389) = = = = 953,305 - 953,305
Exercise of share options
[note 30) 616 291,59 - - = = = = 233435) = 58777 - 58,777
Equity-settled share option
arangements (note 30) - - - - - - - - 323,255 - 313,255 - 323,25
Dividend paid to a non-
controling shareholder - - - - - - - - - - - (67,164) (67,164)
Disposal of parta equity ~ HEMBRATHRE
interest in a subsidiary - - - - - - 44,908 - - - 44908 (808) 44100
Transfer of other resene EHBRARIERER
upon disposal of an equity  EftfEE
interest in a subsidiary - - - - - - (44,908) = = 44,908 - - -
Disposél of equity interestina HEHBARE
subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 551 551
Transactions with owners — EEEAZRS 9189 2258455 612 - - 1239 81,970 - 89,820 %08 1,207,565 74200 1,140,144
Profi for the year KEFHH
Other comprehensive income A Ef2ENE :
for the year: = = = = = = = = = 1,184,697 1,184,697 6315 1191012
Exchange differences on:
Translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - 3101 - - 31011 9,980) 27,097
Release upon disposal of ~ HEHEBLFEAR
subsidiaries - - - - - - - 299 - - 29 - 29
Total comprehensive income. - REE2ERELE
for the year - - - - - - - 31376 - 1,184,697 1,202,073 (36651 1218408
At 31 December 2010 RZZ-E27
=1-A 01 3,890,264* 6.815* 51,106* 161,797 2,754321* = 57,762 128957 1,226,261 8,297,983 10781 8,405,854
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERBER |
(Year ended 31 December 2011 ‘E:%*%E__fr: = —[ElIc=ED)

Attributable to owners of the parent .

BATREARE
Share Capital Convertible Share Non-
Issued premium ~ redemption Reserve  Contributed  bonds equity Exchange option Retained controlling Total
capital account Teserve funds surplus reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
TEERS

BRARA  ROEER RAMEGR fifie  RMBE  REER  ENER  BREGR R & FEREE  BuAE
HKSOD HKSOD RSO0 SO HKSOM  HKSOOD RSO0 KKSOOD  HKSOMD  HKSOD  RKSOOO  HKSTOOD

A 7Er 7E1 7E 7ET 7AT AT AT AT AT 781 A1
note 29) (note 31all) ~note 31(all)  (note 31(ali) note 27) note 31(alv)

) (Wisiam)  (Wsal)  (REsiann)  (BE2) (Rsiali)

Group i ]
At 1 January 2011 W-F--F-A-8 20,12 3,890,254 6,815 51,105 161,797 275430 57,762 128957 1,226,251 8,297,983 10787 8,405,854
Repurchase of own hares EERSRATE29)

(note 29f) (785) (199,51} 785 - - - - = = (199,515) = (199,515)
Share repurchase expenses RbEEzH2290)

(note 29f) = (1,09) = = = = = = - (1,096} = 1,09)
Conversion of Convertble Bonds SR 2 290)

(note 29/ii) 13364 3,266,999 - = = (1,858,636 = = - a0 - 147
Exercise of share options fEEREZ )

(note 30) m 151,322 - - - = = 123.899) - 2,100 - 27,700
Equitysettled share option EREERRETEIEN)

arrangements (note 30) - - - - - - - 19,975 - 19,975 - 19,975
Transfer of share option reserve EREERREARRERE

upon the expiry of share options - - - - - = = (1,033) 1083 - - -
Transfer of reserve funds upon HENBRARRERERRERS

disposal of equity

interests in subsidiaries = = = 34,0001 = = = = 34000 = = =
Disposal of equty interests in HENBATRE

subsidiaries = - - - - - - - - - {111,513) {11,513
Transactions with owners EREALRA 12,856 327710 185 34,000 = (1,858,636 = 104.957) 35,033 1,268791 (111,513) 1,157,278
Proft for the year KERE - - - - - - - - 719,320 719320 3642 22,92
Other comprehensive income KEFARAENE

for the year:
Exchange diferences on translaion ~ BEFEH EREE

of foreign operations - - - - - - 105,575 - - 105,575 - 105,575
Total comprehensive income KERRENALE

for the year - - - - - - 105,575 - 719320 824,89 3642 828,531
At 31 December 2011 H-8--F+=f=1-A 347 7,107,964* 7,600% 17,105* 161,797 895,685 163,337 24,000 1,980,604* 10,391,669 - 10,391,669

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves ZZ(EZEERBIEEESMBRARGEEHBEA
of HK$10,358,092,000 (2010: HK$8,277,262,000) in the 10,358,092,000%& T( =& —=4 : 8,277,262,000
consolidated statement of financial position. BT e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERERERRE

(Year ended 31 December 2011 &ZE2—F——F+ - A=+—HILFE)

2010
—E-TF
Notes HK$'000
Kzt FEIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax: FriSFiana A,/ (EE)
From a continuing operation B A 7% 967,543 1,517,129
From a discontinued operation . Eﬂﬂzf\‘“%iﬁ% (753) 15,908
Adjustments for: AR
Finance costs ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ 78,738 223,088
Bank interest income SRTTHI B IA (5,984) (2,718)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEAT + 470 4 4
payments . 17 74 312
Amortisation of intangible assets A S 8 115,988 99,316
Impairment of trade receivables B EERE 8 178,395 —
Impairment of intangible assets B 5 e WK IR E 8 61,300 —
Impairment of items of property, plant  #13 « BE L& HEEER
and equipment 2B 8 62,382 —
Equity-settled share option expenses e w5 H BB AR R 2 8 19,975 323,255
Depreciation of property, plant and %% ﬁ%&uﬂ%?ﬁ%
equipment o 16 18,565 26,070
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRZER &5 FE
realisable value 8 15,331 —
Wirite-off of items of property, plant M - BE REEIEE
and equipment 2 5H _ 8 12,016 —
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of equity S BT A B b
interests in subsidiaries Jﬁiﬁg/(”ﬁl ) 32 12,331 (16,970)
Fair value loss on an equity Tﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéz
investment at fair value through IR E 2 AN FEZ
profit or loss B8R 8 5,502 —
Reversal of allowance for slow-moving & $577 & & (& # [0l
inventories (4,429) (3,605)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWHE  HE K&E
plant and equipment IHE 2 BE 6 309
Gain on disposal of an intangible asset HEEFEE 2 W 6 — (46,003)
Income from transfer of certain R IS BT AN 2
technology know-how A 6 — (85,897)
Bad debts recovery ZER U O] — (88)
Gain on disposal of an equity HERATEIIRR
investment at fair value through Ba s BHEREZ
profit or loss Was — (1,858)
. 1,536,980 2,048,248
Increase in inventories FEHEM (283,885) (5,081)
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 M E il f& g 51 IHIE A (1,421,591)  (1,325,382)
Decrease/(increase) in bills receivable  EWREER D /(i"bl]) 2,684 (55)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and R RIENRERD
prepayments (&) } 122,390 (154,324)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other B 5 K& E & 518 CR
payables 2),/ (14,473) 424,674
(Decrease)/increase in bills payable ANES A0 )/i"ﬂl] (99,660) 94,704
(Decrease)/increase in deposits and Re kEFERCRD),
accruals 0 (127,384) 16,543
Cash (used in)/generated from KETEE 2B (X)),
operations N (284,939) 1,099,327
Interest paid ETFE (20) (284)
Income taxes paid B2 ATIS (281,783) (128,899)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating & THE Zfﬁﬁ/ﬁi(ﬁ
activities R)/EEFE (566,742) 970,144
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERERRK

(Year ended 31 December 2011 Eﬁﬁ:;?;%%_fr:ﬂ =t+—HLEFE)

2010
—T-THF
Notes HK$'000
Kzt FET
Net cash flows (used in)/from KEIFE 2 HenE
operating activities (ER) ELFE (566,742) 970,144
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REBEEHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, plant HEYZE  BE R
and equipment 8 H (93,426) (95,304)
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of WM - KKF K&
property, plant and equipment HEB 2ENEE (14,804) (22,763)
Purchase of an equity investment at fair 2R ZEAFERRER
value through profit or loss IR A (10,822) =
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits & 1R 2 /(i"?JD) 178,463 (213,042)
Proceeds from disposal of equity HEKTB A RIIREE Z T3
interests in subsidiaries IR 32 31,059 80,269
Interest received B2 E 5,984 2,718
Proceeds from disposal of items of LEME - BERELE
property, plant and equipment BB Z 13508 20 775
Purchase of an intangible asset HEEm &= 20 - (11,453)
Proceeds from transfer of certain Lpﬁ B> £l A 2 BT 1S
technology know-how EX Oz — 69,328
Proceeds from disposal of an ﬁ’%ﬁﬁééﬁ%Zﬁﬁ%?ﬁ
intangible asset — 57,265
Proceeds from disposal of an equity HERANTETBRERNIERE
investment at fair value through ZRESIEE Z B IE
profit or loss — 5,664
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid HEBEMN LIRS ZFTE
land lease payments FRIE — 2,587
Net cash flows from/(used in) KEBRBZHReREEE
investing activities S (ER)F5 96,474 (123,956)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BEEEEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of shares EEAEpEr) (200,611) (172,680)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon TR TR 2
exercise of share options Fr15 5K18 27,700 58,777
Dividend paid to a non-controlling 2~ e Hxﬂx?ZH
shareholder — (67,164)
Proceeds from partial disposal of o BB A R BP0 AR 2
equity interest in a subsidiary Fr1S 508 — 44,100
Net cash flows used in financing REBEBFRARSREF
activities 8 (172,911) (136,967)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH RE&RARLSZEYZ R
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ) BEE (643,179) 709,221
Cash and cash equivalents at FUZHELESEEY
beginning of year 890,880 153,637
Effect of foreign exchange rate SN[ SR B B 2 RO 2
changes, net ikt 37,108 28,022
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT H&AZzHERREZEEY
END OF YEAR 284,809 890,880

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF HeERRESEEYEERZ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DT
Cash and bank balances BE MIBTHETE 25 284,809 890,880




66

IS ARG RiTER B R AR APOLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B ISR T 2R

(31 December 2011 R=ZF——F+=—_A=+—H)

2011 2010
=t LN T T F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Kt FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries AR E A A 18 8,396,133 8,522,949
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries e = NEI BN 18 128,475 164,798
Deposits and prepayments e RIBNFIE 3,686 1,718
Cash and bank balances e MRTTHET 25 51,419 52,938
Total current assets MENE EEE 183,580 219,454
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary EANLRIEEPNGIEN 18 77,469 —
Deposits and accruals Ze RIEFTER 1,375 1,951
Tax payable FESAIE 2,297 =
Total current liabilities mEIBEERE 81,141 1,951
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 102,439 217,503
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERABEE
LIABILITIES 8,498,572 8,740,452
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEMS
Convertible Bonds ARRES 27 729,375 2,072,384
Net assets BEFRE 7,769,197 6,668,068
EQUITY =
Issued capital BEITIRA 29 33,5677 20,721
Reserves Gl 31 7,735,620 6,647,347
Total equity R 4ARR 7,769,197 6,668,068
Frank Mingfang Dai Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P.
FREAEARFTHL
Chairman and President Director

FEHRAB BEZE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 AR M =

(31 December 2011 EQ:%**E?L:HE-JF"_TE)- '

1.

2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Apollo Solar Energy Technology Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business is Suite 7606-07, Level 76, International
Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon,

Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were involved
in the following principal activities:

o manufacture of equipment and turnkey
production lines for the manufacture of
amorphous silicon based thin-film solar
photovoltaic modules

° design,
(discontinued during the year)

manufacture and sale of toys

The Company's shares are listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The Group's operations are based
in Hong Kong and the People’'s Republic of China (the
"PRC").

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"),

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the

accounting

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for an equity
investment at fair value through profit or loss, which
has been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$")
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

and all values are rounded to the nearest

2.1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 R MY =

(31 December 2011 R=ZE——F+=—A=+—H)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 fRBEE

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has net current
assets of HK$2,825,794,000 and included in the
Group's current assets as at 31 December 2011
was a gross amount due from Hanergy Holding
Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Hanergy Group” and a related party in which certain
key management personnel are also directors of the
Company) for contract works of HK$2,810,658,000
(details of which are set out in note 22(ii) to the
financial statements). The Group finances its
operations principally by obtaining progress payments
from customers and credit terms from suppliers and
therefore the Group’s liquidity depends very much on
the timeliness of settlement of progress payments by
the Hanergy Group.

The directors of the Company, after due and careful
enquiries and by performing the necessary due
diligence work to assess the credibility and the
capacity of the Hanergy Group, are of the view
that the Hanergy Group would be able to settle all
progress payments on a timely basis and fulfill all the
contracts concluded with the Group. As such, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and financial obligations as and when
they fall due, and accordingly, are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2011. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases. All intra-group
balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends
are eliminated on consolidation in full.

R—E——F+=-_RA=+—H &A%
B 2 e & EFE A 2,825,794,000 %
T Mt AREER=Z——F+=A
=S+ BZRBEEREREERERSE
BEARAARENE QA5 EE e
EE] EETEEZEEENAARAF
EFECHEAT) ZEREHNITIENRIE
2,810,658,000 % 7T (FF 15 & 7 B 75 ik
BiEE22(ii) - AEBEEZFZRMAE W
BGEE RIE RN EEREREERRE
K WAKEBZRBE ST KBE

REERGREMFEFERNRE -

REESHAERRTEEREB 2EER
RENMETVAZRRBETHR A%
BEERREREEEARBHEENE
HEERIE > WETRARERILZHMAB
B/ Bt - ARFEERR - ~5E
REBRAREEESURERERNY
BREDHMSETEL - #it - EAX
SEEERFELEEERREAMT
Hx -

REMBHRREEARARENB QA
HE_ZT——F+T_A=+—HLFE
ZHBHREK - MBRAREARRRZHB
BRHHBENEAR - XRA -G
BRmE - WBRAR 2 RERKERN
(AIREERGEHEB)BFER
AR WHEGAS AREZFEHIER
EZBRIE - KREARAREZER R
5 SEARERR SR RER
BB MR ENRARE B2 EUEH -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 AR M =

(31 December 2011 EQ:%**EJFZEE-JH?E)-

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 IREEEE)

Basis of consolidation (continue)

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is
attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that
results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’'s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate.

REEE(E)

ERAEFEZ TR HRREFELH
BUAEE—H -

B ATz 2HKRSART R BN IFE
Pt - BELLR S| AR SRR -

—HNBRRZMBERERELEES
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 22 B BRREBE2ES
AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised AEBERAFE B RE & KB LA
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's TR REGIEFT B AP ERELER -

financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment to HKFRS 1 First- EEMBHRE BEUBREEUE
Amendment time Adoption of Hong Kong =8| 1 5% B AR
Financial Reporting Standards F1RIETA BBTE IR EER 2
— Limited Exemption from 1EFT— B K IRAN 2
Comparative HKFRS 7 LB RS
Disclosures for First-time ERE 7 BRI B
Adopters B HREBEZ
15T
HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures BEGHER HEALHE
(Revised) %5 24557
(&14&3])
HKAS 32 Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial EEGTER BHEGFTEREI2R
Amendment Instruments: Presentation — 3258 2T A 25—
Classification of Rights Issues {EFTZx HERZ 78 72 ER]
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 EH(BRIE BEBEBRMBERER
Amendments Prepayments wEREZE EZEg) —2E
of a Minimum Funding =) — 2E FIARRIEESH
Requirement F 14557 EZ T HIEZAERT
[EFIE:N
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities B (BBRIE &z TALEHR
with Equity Instruments WEREZE L£HAEE
7)) — 2E
E195
Improvements to  Amendments to a number of —EF—FFE RZIZETFRHAMR
HKFRSs 2010 HKFRSs issued in May 2010 BB M ZEE BB R

BRI M HEAZEFT

Other than as further explained below regarding BT CE—PRBERE BT ERIE 24
the impact of HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments B(RIER]) BRE-—FE—ZFFZEH
to HKFRS 3, HKAS 1 and HKAS 27 included in B EER 2 M 2 BB REER
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010, the adoption of FEIRZER BEGFEAE1HER
the new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant EBGRTERE 27 R 2B - KB
financial effect on these financial statements. A REMEET BB I 1 WS 2 R ¥ UL 5 Bt

BHRRLBEEAMBHE -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 22 B BRERKECES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued) (%)
RN ST RS IET BB B RE %
BlzXEFEMT

The principal effects of adopting these new and
revised HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures (a) BBEERIE24 HKKBIT)EH
EALHE

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the BERGTERIE 245 (KB E
definition of related parties. The new definitions BREEEALTZTEE - FITE
emphasise a symmetrical view of related party RFAEEA TR EEME - WE
relationships and clarify the circumstances HAERTZEBEABYE —HE
in which persons and key management B2EEATHEERENBR - &85]
personnel affect related party relationships of RIS ARk 2 BB BT &5
an entity. The revised standard also introduces B —BUSES - HREHISERR
an exemption from the general related party EZNERETRZN—MEAEALT
disclosure requirements for transactions with WERERNTRR - BEALTZEE
a government and entities that are controlled, BUREAEET - MRIB RIS ETHE
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by BlzBAEATER 2EH) o ALK
the same government as the reporting entity. BT 2RI S AR EE 7 BT TS AR
The accounting policy for related parties has SRBFEEFMEATE -
been revised to reflect the changes in the
definitions of related parties under the revised
standard. The adoption of the revised standard
did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.

(b) Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in (b) R-E—FTFHABEMGH _—_FT—F

May 2010 sets out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs. There are separate transitional
provisions for each standard. While the adoption
of some of the amendments may result in
changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial
impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group. Details of the key amendments
most applicable to the Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: The
amendment clarifies that the amendments
to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 that
eliminate the exemption for contingent
consideration do not apply to contingent
consideration that arose from business
combinations whose acquisition dates
precede the application of HKFRS 3 (as
revised in 2008).

FEBHTHFIHREER < HERT %
HEBUHMEEAZ(EFT - B
Al BRABEMEGEX - BERS
MBI A EHEFBRES -
HEZFET AR IS EAREEENX
EXMHEE  RERRAREZ
EREFTHBOT ¢

s ABEBUBHMEERFEIRE
BAEG: BEEBMBRE
ERZET - AL
ERHELEEBSSIHELNE
395k ZAEET FTBEBR ¥ 2 /R 1K
BZE% - WAEARKE
HERAERAB BT BREE
B Z3R|(ZZEZENEL(E
SRl EFEHEE A
RE -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(continue)

In addition, the amendment limits the
scope of measurement choices for non-
controlling interests. Only the components
of non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of
the acquiree’s net assets in the event
of liguidation are measured at either
fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis
is required by another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit
guidance to clarify the accounting
treatment for non-replaced and voluntarily
replaced share-based payment awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that
an analysis of each component of other
comprehensive income can be presented
either in the statement of changes in equity
or in the notes to the financial statements.
The Group elects to present the analysis of
each component of other comprehensive
income in the statement of changes in
equity.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements: The amendment
clarifies that the consequential
amendments from HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and
HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2009 or earlier if HKAS 27 is applied
earlier.

22 B BERRREZES

(%)

(b)

(&)

I RFEBAKARFE
AR U E A R A] R E EF
Bt Pl st 2 SRHE AR s =t
BERE RAUSBESHESA
ZIEER A LT
FBAERN  RIFRERL
PIDHERCEERE- IR
FEMBEBMBFRELERNR
ERBEMEEE  FE
Pt et E A0 A 10 19 AU
Bz AFEE -

ZSERIMIMABXIES|
AR BR 13 AR B Je B BRERAX
Z By S 2R 2 gt Ba IR
JIE
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A] A 2 B B R B A R
MEZ2% - AREREEZT
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not

yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1
Amendments

HKFRS 7
Amendments

HKFRS 7
Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1
Amendments

HKAS 12
Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters’

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers
of Financial Assets'

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities®

Financial Instruments®
Consolidated Financial Statements®
Joint Arrangements®

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities®

Fair Value Measurement’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements —
Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income®

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income
Tax: Deferred Tax — Recovery of
Underlying Assets’

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRSs (continued)

HKAS 19 (2011)  Employee Benefits'

HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements'

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures®
HKAS 32 Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Amendments Instruments: Presentation —

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2012

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2012

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2015

Further information about those changes that are
expected to significantly affect the Group is as
follows:

HKFRS 7 Amendments introduce more extensive
quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements
regarding transfer transactions of financial assets (e.g.
securitisation), including information for understanding
the possible effects of any risks that may remain
with the entity that transferred the assets. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January
2012 and comparative disclosures are not required for
any period beginning before that date.

2.3 EEMEERERZBERBUHK
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BEMEERERE BT
HKFRSs (continued) X8 (2)

HKFRS 7 Amendments issue new disclosure BEBP R EERE 7S] ABE MR

requirements in relation to the offsetting models
of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
amendments also improve the transparency in the
reporting of how companies mitigate credit risk,
including disclosure of related collateral pledged
or received. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part
of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely
replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. This phase focuses on the
classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four
categories, an entity shall classify financial assets
as subsequently measured at either amortised
cost or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement
of financial assets compared with the requirements of
HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions
to HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the
"Additions”) and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current
derecognition principles of financial instruments of
HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried forward
unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made
to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair
value option (“FVO"). For these FVO liabilities, the
amount of change in the fair value of a liability that
is attributable to changes in credit risk must be
presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI").
The remainder of the change in fair value is presented
in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value
change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. However, loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts which have been
designated under the FVO are scoped out of the
Additions.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BEMEERERE BT
HKFRSs (continued) X8 (2)

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance
in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment
of financial assets continues to apply. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2015.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that
applies to all entities including special purpose entities
or structured entities. It includes a new definition of
control which is used to determine which entities
are consolidated. The changes introduced by HKFRS
10 require management of the Group to exercise
significant judgement to determine which entities are
controlled, compared with the requirements in HKAS
27 and HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose
Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that
addresses the accounting for consolidated financial
statements. It also includes the issues raised in
HK(SIC)-Int 12.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 37 Interests in Joint
Ventures and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled
Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Ventures.
It describes the accounting for joint arrangements
with joint control. It addresses only two forms of joint
arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint ventures,
and removes the option to account for joint ventures
using proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements
for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and structured entities that are previously included
in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also introduces
a number of new disclosure requirements for these
entities.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EEMEERERZEBTH

HKFRSs (continued)

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27
and HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS
10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12. The Group expects
to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, and the
consequential amendments to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28
from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value
and a single source of fair value measurement and
disclosure requirements for use across HKFRSs. The
standard does not change the circumstances in which
the Group is required to use fair value, but provides
guidance on how fair value should be applied where
its use is already required or permitted under other
HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13
prospectively from 1 January 2013.

Amendments to HKAS 1 change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or
recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for
example, upon derecognition or settlement) would
be presented separately from items which will never
be reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2013.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments
that range from fundamental changes to simple
clarifications and re-wording. The revised standard
introduces significant changes in the accounting for
defined benefit pension plans including removing
the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses. Other changes include modifications to
the timing of recognition for termination benefits,
the classification of short-term employee benefits
and disclosure of defined benefit plans. The Group
expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 January
2013.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRSs (continued)

HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the requirements for
offsetting financial instruments. The amendments
address inconsistencies in current practice when
applying the offsetting criteria and clarify the meaning
of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-
off” and some gross settlement systems may be
considered equivalent to net settlements. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January
2014.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly,
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company's statement of comprehensive income to
the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at
cost less any impairment losses.

2.3

2.4
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether it measures
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liguidation either at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration which is deemed to be an
asset or liability will be recognised in accordance
with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change
to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it will not be
remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity. In instances where the contingent
consideration does not fall within the scope of HKAS
39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate
HKFRS.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continue)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other
items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continue)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of
the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, construction contract assets,
financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’'s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continue)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to profit or loss of the statement of comprehensive
income in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTBERBE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (%)
Related parties BEAL
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: TIEM—FHEEAEE 2 BEA
e ¢
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that (a) ZAREATHEATZERHR
person’s family and that person B B AL
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) HASEEBZEHIRESNE
Pl
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HAKBEBEAZES
9
(i) is a member of the key management (i) AAKBENEFARZEAF
personnel of the Group or of a parent of —HEEEBRA
the Group;
or 59
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) %A TIATERIEGER 2 E8E

conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of (i ZEBEASERR—SE
the same group; 2B

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture (i) ZERBAREMER(EMER
of the other entity (or of a parent, ZEBRGE - [MBARIKRAR
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other MEBAR) < HBE ARG &
entity); B2

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures (i) ZEBREASEAR —F=
of the same third party; BELZEBREE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity (iviy ZEBDE=ZF 288D
and the other entity is an associate of the ¥ ME—EBRF=FTE
third entity; il =N

(v)  he entity is a post-employment benefit plan (v) ZEBAASEIASEAE
for the benefit of the employees of either MERAEERMEZILZR
the Group or an entity related to the Group; R HETEl

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled (Vi) ZEEX(a) TR AR
by a person identified in (a); and HEES &

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) @) Ttz ATHZERBE
influence over the entity or is a member ﬁijﬁ/aﬁi EaE (o
of the key management personnel of the ZERBAR)ZHEAP—F

entity (or of a parent of the entity). Ix = AR o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss of the statement of comprehensive income
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance Over the lease terms

leases
Buildings 1% — 5%
Plant and machinery 10% — 20%

20% — 33',%
20% — 25%

Moulds and tools
Leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and

equipment

Motor vehicles 20% — 25%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or
loss of the statement of comprehensive income in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and
machinery under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair
value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (%)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued) B EE(HERIN) (&)
Technology know-how 7 A

Purchased technology know-how is stated at cost
less any impairment losses and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10
years.

Customer contracts

Customer contracts secured on the date of acquisition
will be recognised as cost of goods sold when
the revenue of the related customer contracts is
recognised.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards
and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other
than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases.
At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the
leased asset is capitalised at the present value of
the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to
reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are included in
property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss of the statement
of comprehensive income so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor
are accounted for as operating leases. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor
are charged to profit or loss of the statement of
comprehensive income on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating
leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and loans and receivables. The Group
determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value,
plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial
assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (%)
Investments and other financial assets (continued) RERHEMEMEE(E)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued) HEBRRE(E)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and
bank balances, pledged deposits, trade and other
receivables and quoted financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of sale in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in other income and gains or finance costs in profit
or loss of the statement of comprehensive income.
These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
date of initial recognition and only if the criteria under
HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess
whether the intent to sell them in the near term
is still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’'s intent
to sell them in the foreseeable future significantly
changes, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. The reclassification from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans
and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or
held-to-maturity investments depends on the nature
of the assets. This evaluation does not affect any
financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss using the fair value option at designation as
these instruments cannot be reclassified after initial
recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance income in profit or
loss of the statement of comprehensive income. The
loss arising from impairment is recognised in profit
or loss of the statement of comprehensive income
in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”)
and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) CRMEEZREE)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued) BEBHERAI R 2 MEE(E)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment
loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’'s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is
the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the amount
of the loss is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses
in profit or loss of the statement of comprehensive
income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (%)
Financial liabilities TEREE
Initial recognition and measurement A ERREE

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39
are classified as financial liabilities, loans and
borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value plus, in the case of loans and borrowings,
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, bills payable and the Convertible Bonds.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Trade and other payables and bills payable

They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Convertible Bonds

Convertible Bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holders, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for
as compound financial instruments which contain
both a liability component and an equity component.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (&)
Financial liabilities (continued) sRMEEE)
Convertible Bonds (continued) HERERE)

Convertible Bonds issued by the Group that contain
both financial liability and equity component are
classified separately into respective liability and
equity component on initial recognition. On initial
recognition, the fair value of the Convertible Bonds
is determined using the binomial model that takes
into account factors specific to the Convertible
Bonds. Liability component is then determined using
the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-
convertible debts. The remainder is allocated to the
conversion option and is included in equity as equity
component of the Convertible Bonds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The equity component will remain in equity until
conversion or redemption of the bond.

When the bonds are converted, the equity component
of the Convertible Bonds and the carrying amount of
the liability component at the time of conversion, are
transferred to share capital and share premium as
consideration for the shares issued. If the bonds are
redeemed, the equity component of the Convertible
Bonds is released directly to retained profits.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (%)

EER G

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired
(treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted
from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss of the statement of comprehensive income
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’'s own equity instruments. Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration is
recognised in equity.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.
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labour and appropriate proportion of overheads. B o

(ii) Other inventories (i) BFE

Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method, and in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar
in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current
and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TEETHERE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (%)
Income tax (continued) FrBHi (&)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable EEREAE IR AR T =5
temporary differences, except: R BRIE -

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (&)
Income tax (continued) Fri8®i(4#&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that

the economic benefits will flow to the Group and

when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the

following bases:

(a)

from the manufacture of equipment and turnkey
production lines: either (i) upon customers’
acceptance when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither management involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the products sold;
or (i) on the percentage of completion basis,
pursuant to which costs to complete a contract
are estimated and revenue is recognised based
on the estimated progress to completion, as
further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction contracts” below, depending on
the structure and terms of arrangement;

from the sale of toys and moulds, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold;

from the rendering of services, when the
services are rendered;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset; and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract
amount and appropriate amounts from variation
orders, claims and incentive payments. Contract
costs incurred comprise direct materials, the costs
of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is
recognised on the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the proportion of costs
incurred to date to the estimated total cost of the
relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management. Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an
amount due to contract customers.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’'s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) (%)
Share-based payment transactions (continued) BRBZARE (E)
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, ¥

together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to profit or loss of the statement of
comprehensive income for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-
vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-
vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payment
transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control
of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss of the statement of comprehensive income
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute to a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of comprehensive income as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. All differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are taken
to the profit or loss of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation
of a non-monetary item is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair
value of the item (i.e., translation differences on
items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

(%)
S

ZEPBREANETZY > MARFZ
DEREINERH /AT - AKEEE
BETRAEEDRER IR ERBY
BE 2 BB A UZEERE © H
BRXHNFHERBFRIZBEZNEER
ERERAR - MINERBENL 2 EREE
ENBEENRSHRNELEE 2ER
ExBHHBE HAEEHMEETKIER
ZFEERBAGAEHNRER 2BE
PRI

AN DB MIRE LA EZIFE
BIEBRNAR S A ZERBE - LS
BEREMMEZEAFEFEZHFERR
B REETAVEERCZEXKE -F
MBI ERARAMEL 2 Wk BB
TYERERZE B 2 A FEZEB MR
BB EETE - (AREM2EIK
ASBERPHEANFEREBEZHEE ZE
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 TESTBERBE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at
the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognised in profit or loss of the statement of
comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

(%)
SNE ()
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below.

(i) Estimated fair value of acquired intangible
assets

Fair value of technology know-how is determined
based on relief-from-royalty method. These
calculations require the use of estimates about
the rate of royalty savings and the discount
rate. In the process of estimation, management
makes assumptions about future revenue and
costs.

Fair value of customers’ contracts is determined
based on excess earnings method. These
calculations require the use of estimates about
future cash flows, discount rate, required
returns on contributory assets and duration
of customers’ contracts. In the process of
estimation, management makes assumptions
about future cash flows, costs and duration of
customers’ contracts.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. Further details are given in note 19
to the consolidated financial statements.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful
lives of its property, plant and equipment and
their related depreciation charges. When useful
lives of property, plant and equipment are
different from those previously estimated, the
depreciation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets
reflect management’s estimation on the Group's
intention to derive future economic benefits
from the intangible assets. When useful lives
of intangible assets are different from those
previously estimated, the amortisation charges
for future periods will be adjusted accordingly.

TEEREE

(%)

et THBEREE)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Construction contracts

As further explained in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue and
profit recognition on contract work is dependent
on the estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contract, as well as the work
performed to date. In addition, actual outcomes
in terms of total contract costs and/or revenue
may be higher or lower than those estimated
at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years.

Significant assumptions are required to estimate
the total contract costs that will affect whether
any provision is required for foreseeable
losses. The estimates are made based on
past experience and knowledge of the project
management.

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of the Group are reviewed by
management for possible impairment when
events or changes in an operating environment
indicate that the carrying amounts of such
assets may not be fully recoverable. In
determining the recoverable amounts of these
assets, expected cash flows to be generated by
the assets are discounted to their present value,
which involves significant level of estimates
relating to sales volume, selling prices and
manufacturing and other operating costs. When
a decline in an asset’s recoverable amount has
occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to its
estimated recoverable amount. Further details
are given in notes 16 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vii) Impairment loss on trade receivables

The Group regularly conducts assessments on
possible losses resulting from the inability of
debtors to settle the amounts due to the Group.
The assessment is based, inter alia, on the age of
the debt and the credit-worthiness of the debtors.
If the financial condition of the debtors deteriorates,
allowance for doubtful receivables would be
required. Further details are given in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(viii) Impairment loss and net realisable value of

(ix)

inventories

Inventories of the Group are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Management
conducts assessments on the net realisable value of
inventories by reference to their age, obsolescence,
estimated net selling prices and other economic
conditions of the markets in which the Group's
customers operate. If the actual selling prices of
inventories are substantially less than those expected
due to an adverse market condition or other factors,
an impairment loss on inventories may result.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provision in the period in which such
determination is made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
(x) Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax assets
mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less than expected,
a reversal of the deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a reversal takes place.

Further information about the assumptions and their
risk factors relating to the fair values of share options
granted are disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segment and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive
directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their
review of the performance of those components.
The business components in the internal financial
information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group’s major product and
service lines.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RESEER
(continued) (&)

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

— Manufacture of equipment and turnkey
production lines — the manufacture of
equipment and turnkey production lines for the
manufacture of amorphous silicon based thin-
film solar photovoltaic modules (the “Solar
Business”); and

— Toy and moulds — the design, manufacture and
sale of toys; manufacture of moulds for sales to
customers (the “Toy Business”)

The Toy Business was discontinued in the current
year because the Group decided to focus its
resources on the Solar Business. The segment
information reported does not include any amount
for the discontinued operation, which is described in
more detail in note 10.

The operating segment is monitored and strategic
decisions are made based on segment’s performance.
Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax from a continuing operation.
The adjusted profit before tax from a continuing
operation is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax from a continuing operation except
that expenses related to share-based payments,
finance costs, income tax as well as head office and
corporate income and expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

AREBEBRATAZ2HOME -
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EHRAG R KA RERRE
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEHEER

(continued) (%)
A reconciliation of the Group’s operating segment AEEKESBERBEERE M BRERA
information to the Group’'s key financial figures as I AEEFENHEETHEROT ¢
presented in the consolidated financial statements is
as follows:
2011 2010
-3l T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Reportable segment revenue AIZ2|RHFEWA 2,564,640 3,019,097
Other income and gains E A R e 6,662 137,565
Group revenue AREEZ WA 2,571,302 3,156,662
Reportable segment profit Al 2R w7 1,099,104 2,059,675
Unallocated corporate income ROEEEWA 6,662 22,078
Equity-settled share option expenses 1z 4E B BT HERT = (19,975) (323,255)
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOoMEERT (39,510) (18,565)
Finance costs 7% E R (78,738) (222,804)

Profit before tax from a continuing REFELEER 2

operation e A A 967,543 1,517,129
Geographical information i E B R
The Group’'s revenue from external customers is REFERBINKREZD ZIMATHEBRA
derived solely from its operations in the PRC, and BloaiE  UWREFRSEETEMR
the non-current assets of the Group are substantially FE o

located in the PRC.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEHEER

(continued) (%)
Results of the Solar Business RIGREER 2 3£4E
Set out below are the results of the Solar Business LATHEARGREEBBE_S——F
for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010, N—_EBE-—FEE+_A=1+—HILEEZ
and the respective fair value adjustments arising from ¥E UREARRIERZZZTNF WK
the Company’s acquisition of the Solar Business (the BAGEEER ([WESE]) MBEED
“Acquisition”) which took place in 2009 in accordance MBHRELNEIRXFSHIELZE
with HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: HAERAE :
Year ended 31 December 2011 BE-_Z——S5+-HA=+—HLEE
Original Included
book in the
value of consolidated
the Solar Fair value financial
Business adjustments  statements
INCEES S FTARE
ZREREE AT EAR B iRk
HK$'000 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET Hat FAET FET
Revenue A 2,564,640 2,564,640
Cost of sales 4 R A (851,200) (i) (66,976) (952,879)
(if) (34,703)
Gross profit EH 1,713,440 1,611,761
Selling and distribution 2 #%& A
costs (2,062) (2,062)
Administrative THERA
expenses (75,492) (75,492)
Research and TR AR
development costs (121,010) (121,010)
Other expenses EEH (252,793) (iii) (61,300) (314,093)
Reportable segment Al 2D T

profit 1,262,083 1,099,104
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEHEER

(continued) (%)
Results of the Solar Business (continued) KRIGREE 2 EE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2010 BE-Z—ZF+-A=1+—HLFE
Original Included
book in the
value of consolidated
the Solar Fair value financial
Business adjustments  statements
PN EEES S STAGRE
ZREREE NEEAE b
HK$'000 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FEIT HteF FEIT FEIT
Revenue A 3,019,097 3,019,097
Cost of sales SHE AR (932,946) (i) (62,436)  (1,015,580)
(if) (20,198)
Gross profit EF 2,086,151 2,003,517
Other income and gains H b A K U2k 132,484 132,484
Selling and distribution 9 #5% A
costs (6,332) (6,332)
Administrative TEEA
expenses (37,724) (if) (2,747) (40,471)
Research and IR
development costs (29,523) (29,523)
Reportable segment AIE2HwHLE
profit il 2,145,056 2,059,675
Notes: Bia -
(i)  The adjustment represented the fair value of (i) FAREBUESFSETKERRARGE:S
customers’ contracts of the Solar Business recognised BEFPEHNZATE  WREREA
upon the completion of the Acquisition and charged to BEFEEHMABREHERKAHR ©

cost of sales upon the recognition of the revenue of
the related customers’ contracts.

(i)  The adjustments represented additional amortisation (i) FAREWEFETKERRAFLEA
of intangible assets as a result of the fair value BATEBEN EE 2 BIMNES -
adjustment recognised upon the completion of the
Acquisition.

(i) The adjustment represented the impairment of the (i) FABREEFNEERXLEPEHNER
intangible assets in relation to certain customers’ FRLKR LTSI B2 RE ©

contracts which were terminated during the year.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFBER
(continued) (%)
Information about a major customer BBEEEFZEHR

Revenue of HK$2,454,695,000 (2010: HK$2,310,366,000)
was derived from sales by the Solar Business to a single

W A #72,454,695,000 (=T — =
4 : 2,310,366,0008 7T ) Jh 2K B A F5&E
HFEME—RFEITHE °

customer.

5. REVENUE 5. WA

KAEFBERERBZBATINARE L
LR BEAMEAZRENZEHNK

value of goods sold and an appropriate proportion of AZBEED °

Revenue from a continuing operation, which is also
the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced

contract revenue of construction contracts during the

year.
6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. HMWARWz=
An analysis of other income and gains from a KEABEERKLER A A RKED
continuing operation is as follows: My
Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E-—F et
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Income from transfer of certain AR R A 2 WA
technology know-how — 85,897
Gain on disposal of an HEEFEE 2 W
intangible asset — 46,003
Exchange gain b 5 W 2 — 2,471
Bank interest income HRITH S WA 5,886 2,550
Others HAfth 776 644
6,662 137,565
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BBER
An analysis of finance costs from a continuing REFERLEEH 2HBER DT
operation is as follows: o
Group
rEH
2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FET
Imputed interest expenses on AR (& \%?Z
the Convertible Bonds fﬁ%iﬂ% 53 78,718 222,804
Interest on bank overdrafts THEZFE 20 —
78,738 222,804

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax from a continuing
operation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

8. BAIER

AEERERFERLEXH 2 BATGNE
ks, (Gt A) TFIER -

115

2011 2010
=t S T TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 2B B & 2,600 2,350
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKA 132,348 103,043
Depreciation of property, plant and L E =S E
equipment e 13,249 2,039
Equity-settled share option expenses ez S RER AR SL 19,975 323,255
Fair value loss on an equity BEAFEVERER
investment at fair value =R E 2 AFE
through profit or loss* 518 * 5,502
Foreign exchange differences, net EHEE - H5E 4,444 (2,471)
Impairment of intangible assets* B EERE* 61,300
Impairment of trade receivables* Z 2 e WEIERE * 178,395 =
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BEMREER
plant and equipment ZBE 6 —
Impairment of items of property, W% E MEEBIEER 2
plant and equipment* B * 62,382 —
Minimum lease payments under QM HE 7 &K
operating leases: e
Land and buildings T RIEF 12,423 3,685
Equipment B - 344
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRE ] #EFE
realisable value 15,331 —
Write-off of items of property, plant %% - BELXEEE 2
and equipment* g8 * 12,016 —
Total amortisation of intangible ﬁﬁbﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ
assets L] 118,790 113,339
Less: Capitalised to inventories, B BRERE - ANKE
contract costs and property, - BER
plant and equipment Fl (2,802) (14,023)
Amortisation of intangible assets RIEsEHRZ B EE
recognised in profit or loss 5y 115,988 99,316
* The fair value loss on an equity investment at fair * ?@%@5\]5&%@}%52%5%%2@
value through profit or loss, ?mp}alirment of intangible iﬁfg_ﬂﬁ ’ ﬁﬁ;é&;}iﬂﬁi 25 ER
assets, impairment of trade receivables, impairment of Egﬁ%%%%ﬁg%%%%{?g%%
items of property, plant and equipment and write-off A S ml sk BB A [ o

of items of property, plant and equipment are included
in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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9. INCOME TAX 9. FRiEH
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been HARASERAFEERBIL BELT
made as the Group did not generate any assessable IERBRA - ML ERBFEFNEIHE
profits arising from Hong Kong during the year. Taxes H B o Efhith 5 FEAR i s A 2 B I8 T5
on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated BRAREBRKREHEREMRETZHE
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in 5THE o

which the Group operates.

Group rEE
2011 2010
b Ll — T T
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax: BERFIIR -
— The PRC -
Income tax expense for the year RNEZFHGES W 265,467 325,707
Underprovision in respect BEFERETR
of prior years 4,264 166
269,731 325,873
Deferred tax (credit)/charge FEEFRERA), T H
Current year REE (25,917) 66,708
Attributable to change in tax rate R % 2= & B 5| B — (46,122)
(25,917) 20,586
Total tax charge for the year froma FKEFBELEELK Y
continuing operation NEEB B HERE 243,814 346,459
The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC were designated AEE s HEMNBRARERE B S
as “High and New Technology Enterprise” and it AmMAZEERCEMS

accordingly can enjoy a preferential Corporate Income HHE15% ©
Tax rate of 15%.
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

Jr‘f.E)-

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit

before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions

in which the Company and the majority of its

subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rates is as follows:
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FrEH (&)

BRARRIRE KIS HEA R FEMATE
AR 2 EERETEBANB AR
MzBBEZ HEREEREAE RS
XHERMAT ¢

2011 2010
- T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Profit before tax from a continuing REFELEZER 2 FA
operation il 967,543 1,617,129
Tax at the statutory tax rates of BRI AEEREETRETE
different jurisdictions Z I8 255,281 476,630
Lower tax rates for specific provinces EEBM K E BT
or enacted by local authority BIEH= (112,514) (214,970)
Effect on opening deferred tax of TR B H ARYIRIETR A
change in tax rate 2 — (46,122)
Adjustments in respect of current tax @7 HARIENHARL I8 2 A%
of previous periods 4,264 166
Income not subject to tax BATBA (451) (57,549)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR R 25,676 97,690
Tax losses utilised from previous BEABERFRRIBSE
periods (6) (1,729)
Tax losses not recognised KRR 2 T IAE 18 3,936 —
PRC capital gain taxes arising from ESpseRS S NSITEEE: Eod
disposal of subsidiaries B & AR RS 2,300 —
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on 5% TEHIFH 72N & = E
the distributable profits of the M8~ =) A 7 R ) 2 A2
Group’s PRC subsidiaries 64,528 92,559
Others HAh 800 (216)
Tax charge from a continuing REFECEEKIEAEEE
operation at the Group's BRITRAE 2 BI5 e E)
effective rate 243,814 346,459
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(31 December 2011 R=ZE——F+=—A=+—H)

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 10. EARIEKREEK
In March 2011, the Group entered into a sale and RZE——F=f AEFHEFETEY
purchase agreement with certain independent third FoAHEY—BEEHE  AHEEMK
parties to dispose of its remaining 51% equity BRARAREELERAR AR (KNER
interest in RBI Industries Holdings Limited, the MAEBER 2 EEERAR)ZHT
then immediate holding company of the Group's 51% AR - AEBBERERIEITA
Toy Business. The Group has decided to cease ¥5% RAREFEHEREF R A
the operation of the Toy Business because it plans REEK HER-_ZT——F=FA%K -
to focus its resources on the Solar Business. The
disposal was completed in March 2011.
The results of the Toy Business for the year are MAEBRAFEZEE2SMT ¢
presented below:
2011 2010
- Lol — T T
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue WA 49,285 425,576
Cost of sales SHE R A (33,313) (304,671)
15,972 120,905
Other income and gains E b g A M Wz 476 4,091
Selling and distribution costs palki=k=9:¢ (3,118) (29,144)
Administrative expenses TEEA (14,083) (67,588)
Research and development costs i 3% B AN — (2,911)
Loss on disposal of equity interests  H &R B A & f&#E
in subsidiaries il — (9,161)
Finance costs 755 R — (284)
(Loss)/profit before tax from a RE BRI EEE 2 BiAl
discontinued operation (B18), &7 (753) 15,908
Income tax (expense)/credit FTSBi# (), A (14) 4,434
(Loss)/profit for the year from a REFRECRIEEEEBL 2

discontinued operation (E18), &7 (767) 20,342
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(31 December 2011 EQ:%**E?L:HE-JF"_TE)- '

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 10. BRILREXEK &)
The net cash flows incurred are as follows: FTEARSTRE AN ¢
2011 2010
—E-—F Eetgees
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Operating activities ETHE (19,589) 57,215
Investing activities E&IEE (1,438) 35,088
Financing activities RUEIE B — (137,070)
Net cash outflows RE R FE (21,027) (44,767)
2010
—E—FF
HK Cents
B
(Loss)/earnings per share: B (EER), BT
Basic, from a discontinued AR REBKRIEEEER
operation (0.0) 0.4
Diluted, from a discontinued BE - REERIEREER
operation (0.0) 0.4

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share from a discontinued operation are based on:

KADRIEREXRBZERERNRET
(BB, BRRETIIEBAE

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent from a
discontinued operation

(&18), &

KEERIEREXRG TR
TR S RE AR

2011 2010
—e——r BEEE
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#7 FHATE
(767) 20,342

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year
used in the basic (loss)/earnings
per share calculation (note 13)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year
used in the diluted (loss)/earnings
per share calculation

8

RIEHEBRER(BE),/
BNz FRNDBETERK
B (AT 13)

Rt EEkEE(ER),
B2 FREBEITE BN

BB E
2010
—E—FF
000
Fhz
12,290,290 4,786,696
12,290,290 5,030,986
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(31 December 2011 R=ZE——F+=—A=+—H)

10.

11.

12.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per
share from a discontinued operation presented for the
year ended 31 December 2011 in respect of a dilution
as the impact of the share options and Convertible
Bonds outstanding during the year had an anti-dilutive
effect on the basic loss per share from a discontinued
operation presented.

No adjustment had been made to the basic loss per
share from a discontinued operation presented for the
year ended 31 December 2010 in respect of a dilution
as the impact of the Convertible Bonds outstanding
during the prior year had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share from a discontinued operation
presented.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to the owners
of the parent for the year ended 31 December
2011 of HK$719,320,000 (2010: HK$1,184,697,000)
includes a loss of HK$167,662,000 (2010: loss of
HK$290,714,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (note 31).

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors does not recommend to
declare final dividend (2010: Nil) and interim dividend
(2010: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2011.

10.

11.

12.

BRIEREER #7)

R PA GF 1A 18] AR 1T 150 B AR A I AT R BR (B 55
H2IREERIELEEB 2 ERE
AEBEERESTE  WIEAES
mMpBE—ZE——F+=-A=+—H1t
FEMEIIREERIELEEB TR
EREIBETHAE -

R EF M ARITE AT R E S L AT 27
REBRIEEEER s FREANEEA
EREETE WY ERBEMRES
—E—ZTFF+_A=+—HLEFEMRE
FIREERIECEER 2 BREANEE
HEITHE -

FRRER AEMERR

HE-_FT——F+=-_A=+—8H
LtFEFEEBRABEBEARBGLGREE &
#1719,320,000% T(= & — & & :
1,184,697,000 7% 7T ) B 1& B A AN A A BF
Bz A IR 2 E518 167,662,000 % 7T
—ZT—TF : [[518290,714,00075 7T )
(FFzE31) ©

IRE

EXETEREREE_T——F1+=
A=+t —HALEFEZRARE(ZF—
ZTE: B)RTHRE(ZE-—ZF:
&) -
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13. B alEBERESETE AEM

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF SREF
THE PARENT
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per FREARAREERZF HRE TS IEB &
share are based on: =
2011 2010
- T TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Earnings 2|
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary BEsTEEREARF 2
equity holders of the parent, AR EERERTR A
used in basic earnings per share FEE R (&)
calculation:
From a continuing operation REFELEER 720,087 1,164,355
From a discontinued operation KB BRI TS (767) 20,342
719,320 1,184,697
Imputed interest expenses on the AR EH 2 ([ E F B
Convertible Bonds A 78,718 222,804
Profit for the purpose of diluted RAUFTEBREERF 2
earnings per share calculation i ) 798,038 1,407,501
Attributable to: FELL -
Continuing operation FECE RS 798,805 1,387,159
Discontinued operation BRI EER (767) 20,342

798,038 1,407,501
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13.
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE PARENT (continued)

BAREERERIEE AEML
BRER#)

Number of shares

RHEE
2010
—E—FF
‘000
Fhz
Shares iz 15
Weighted average number of ordinary F{EztEZREARRER 2 FER
shares in issue during the year BEITEERINE TS E
used in the basic earnings per
share calculation 12,290,290 4,786,696
Effect of dilution — weighted average BEERZE — L@ MNETFH
number of ordinary shares: 2
Assumed issue at no consideration F AR ETTEFTA ARTTEE K
on deemed exercise of all share M R B (EEETT
options outstanding during the
year 74,877 244,290
Deemed conversion of all RAETREUL T IR B
Convertible Bonds 3,688,832 11,214,038
Weighted average number of ordinary FA{EstEGFREERF 7 F£ RN
shares in issue during the year B 317 B AR Nt 19 £
used in diluted earnings per share
calculation 16,053,999 16,245,024




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 35 AR M =

(31 December 2011 EQ:%**EJFZEE-JH?E)-

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 14.

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

An analysis of employee benefit expenses (including

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

BERANEMH(BERESHS)

KERBREXBZRERNER(R

directors’ emoluments) from a continuing operation is FBEEME) MO :
as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F el
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits e R EEMNE
in kind 44,385 20,508
Performance related and incentive BIT{ERRES
payments 43,408 49,561
Equity-settled share option expenses PARRIEAEE 7 BERRAER X 19,975 323,255
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRERETEIE R
schemes 4,334 2,207
112,102 395,531
15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND 15. EEFMESREEAEME

SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

BRI RFAEZ EM AR AT L ARR )
RBEBRRGOIFE 161 IGRE 2 AFE
EEHMOT

Group
KEE
2011 2010
B S T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fees we 996 238
Other emoluments: HEmsE
Salaries, allowances and benefits e R REWH S
in kind 4,572 2,146
Discretionary bonuses EIEIEAL 5,384 8,362
Contributions to retirement benefit  RIREFIET &Itk
schemes 36 90
9,992 10,598
10,988 10,836
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15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(a) Executive directors and independent non-

executive directors

15.

(a)

EEFHREREEAEME

(%)

BITEERBUFHITES

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
and benefits  Discretionary benefit
Fees in kind bonuses schemes
7 e BERE
{3 ByAz 12 2
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$000
FAT FAT ; FAr
2011 2
Executive directors: #7Es:
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai* Frank Mmg ang Dai &4 * 364 710 - - 1,074
Mr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P.** f@i** 64 1,929 - 5 1,998
Mr. Li Guangmin* J%E E* 156 125 - - 281
Dr. Li Yuan-min** FRREL* 64 1,005 - 1,069
Mr. Chen Li** N 20 137 - - 157
Mr. Xu Guo Jun” A" - 301 5,384 - 5,685
Mr. Peng Li Bin™ AN i - 365 - 31 396
668 4,572 5,384 36 10,660
Independent non-executive directors  BUFH{TES
Mr. Zhao Lan** R 34 - - - 34
Mr. Wong Wing Ho** %%ﬁﬁé** 34 - - - 34
Mr. Wang Tongbo** TRGRE 5 - - - 5
Mr. Su Changpeng™ FE=] S 141 - - - 141
Mr. Jiang Zhesheng™ I i 114 - - - 14
328 - - - 328
Total emoluments for the year 2011 —F——FMe 4% 996 4,572 5,384 36 10,988
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
and benefits  Discretionary benefit
Fees  inkind bonuses schemes Total
58 2R R \
g il N R G
HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOO0
AT AT FAT FAT AT
2010 _TZF
Executive directors: H1ES:
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai* Frank Mingfang Dai 74 * = 129 = = 129
Mr. Xu Guo Jun BEEEE - 343 % - 439
Mr. Peng Li Bin PR = 366 = 31 397
Mr. Li Guangmin* SRR - 55 - - 55
Mr. Chau Kai Man AR E = 786 8,266 39 9,091
Mr. Lee Kin Fai’ FBrs’ - 467 — 20 487
— 2,146 8,362 90 10,598
Independent non-executive directors BV (723
Mr. Su Changpeng* Gl 12 - - - 12
Mr. Xie Boyang®* HAGLE — - - - —
M. Jiang Zhesheng THESE 120 — - - 120
Mr. Wy Tak Lung® SEEast 66 - - - 66
Mr. Chow King Lok’ e T 40 - - — 40
238 - - — 238
Total emoluments for the year 2010  —E-ZEM4LE 238 2,146 8,362 90 10,836
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15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Executive directors and independent non-
executive directors (continued)

* Appointed during the year ended 31 December
*x ,ZA?):J%inted during the year ended 31 December
# E&?s?gned during the year ended 31 December
## E&Z{s?gned during the year ended 31 December

No emolument was paid by the Group to any
director as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2010.

There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010.
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15. EEFHRSREEAEHNS

(a)

(#)

HBOTESRBYFAITES(E)

2 REBEE=_ZT—ZF+=-_A=+—H1t
FENERT

> REE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—H1
FENERT

# REBEE-_T—ZF+=-_A=+—AH1
FEREE

# REBE-_T——F+ZA=+—HL
FERBE

Hz_Z——FRk-_ZFT—ZF+=A
=+—HIEFE  AEEBEMAERE
EYHME - LRS|IEEMAREE K
RINAREBIERRE - SIERBERME

(=

HE_E——FR-_E—ZTF+_H
T —HEFEIEENESRERR
EREWE TS 2 ZHE -

Five highest paid individuals (b) EEBZEFHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were RAFEE  AEERAETETMALE
the highest in the Group for the year included HE=%2(—2—ZTF: —R)8F  =HH
three (2010: one) directors whose emoluments SEHR EXHIT - FRENE TS
are included in the analysis presented above. (ZZE—ZF : IH) AL ZBleuT :
The emoluments payable to the remaining two
(2010: four) individuals during the year are as
follows:
Group
REH
2011 2010
TE-—F s
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Salaries and other emoluments FeRkEMmMe 1,798 8,637
Discretionary bonuses EYIBTEAL 4,533 9,750
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREAIFT B K
schemes — 168
6,331 18,555
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(31 December 2011 R=ZE——F+=—A=+—H)

15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND 15.
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (continued) (b)

No emolument was paid by the Group to any top

five highest paid individuals as an inducement

to join or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office during the years

ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The number of non-director, top five highest

paid employees whose remuneration fell within

the following bands is as follows:

EEFHREREEAEME
(&)

TEREHMAL(E)

HE_T——FRk_FT—ZFF+_H4
=t—HRLEFE AEEHREREFR
ZEaTMA LTINS - ARSI EE
INAZE B S INARE B {E AR -
SAERBERR A E o

REFHEERTHERZMES N FA
TEE -

Number of employees
EEA™

2010
—E—FF

HK$1,000,001

HK$1,500,001

HK$2,000,001

HK$2,500,001

HK$3,500,001

HK$4,000,001

to HK$1,500,000

to HK$2,000,000

to HK$2,500,000

to HK$3,000,000

to HK$4,000,000

to HK$4,500,000

1,000,001 #BTE
1,500,000 78T
1,500,001 &L E
2,000,00078 70
2,000,001 BLE
2,500,000 77T
2,500,001 BTE
3,000,00078 70
3,500,001 BLE
4,000,0008 7T
4,000,001 /B 7TE
4,500,000/5 7T
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥1% - BMERRE

Group &
Leasehold
improvements
furniture,
fixtures
Land and  Construction Plant and Moulds and Motor
buildings in progress machinery and tools equi[&nﬁznt vehicles Total
1HRET HEIE  HERRE  EARIE  HERRE byt A
HKSOO  HKSO00  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOWO
AT AT TET AT AT TET AT
31 December 2011 ZB—-§+ZA=1-A
At 1 January 2011: R2-—F-f-R:
Cost mE 100,013 33,414 183,562 179,338 59,905 8872 570,124
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (52,208 - (133,537) (178,365) (46,110) (4,535) (414,755)
Net carrying amount KE%E 47,805 33414 55,045 973 13,795 4,331 155,369
At 1 January 2011, net of R_2——F-F-R.
accumulated depreciation TREHTE 47,805 33,414 55,045 973 13,79 4,331 155,369
Additions ﬁﬁ - 17,138 69,410 441 24,483 4717 116,189
Disposals it ‘ = (493) (920) = (313) = (1,726)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) ~ HEMBAR (732 (46,481) (368) (4,727) - 10,335) 604) (62,515)
Write-off W = = = = (12,016) = (12,016)
Transfer s 12,258 (12,258) - = = = =
Impairment during the year EREfE (3,864) 20591) (35,858 - (2,069) - (62,382)
Depreciation provided during ERRERE
the year (1,784) = (10,476) (1,414) (3,417) (1,474) (18,565)
Exchange realignment EHAE 187 1,260 3,003 = 302 258 5,010
At 31 December 2011, net of RIB—F1f X
accumulated depreciation and =1-0 R E:HHE
impairment K& 8,121 18,102 15471 — 10,430 7,234 119,364
At 31 December 2011: E@:?’[*Efiﬂ
=1-H:
Cost WZ" 12,545 38,693 124,145 - 14,268 9,013 198,664
Accumulated depreciation and ZiERAE
impairment (4,424) (20,591) (48,668) = (3,838) (1,779 (79,300)
Net carrying amount REFE 8,121 18,102 15,477 - 10,430 7,234 119,364
31 December 2010 “E-BE+-A=1-H
At 1 January 2010; RIF-FE--H:
Cost Wl‘ . 139,954 1,745 152,647 179,464 60,647 6,088 540,545
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (56,386) - 137,073 (172,070) (43,990) (5,139) (414,658)
Net carrying amount KE%E 83,568 1,745 15,574 7,394 16,657 949 125,887
At 1 January 2010, net of S i
accumulated depreciation MREFTE 83,568 1,745 15,674 7.3% 16,667 949 125,887
Additions ﬁﬁ - 32,507 50,964 2,091 5,627 4115 95,304
Disposals k-3 ‘ - - (1,084) - - - (1,084)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32)  HERBAR it 32) (19,525) (1,357) - (265) (753) (85) (21,985)
Transfer g - (276) 105 = 17 - =
Depreciation provided during ERNiTERfE
the year 6,031) = (6,941) (7,671) (4,701) (726) (26,070)
Exchange realignment B AR (10,207) 79 (3,573) (576) (3,206) 84 (16,683)
At 31 December 2010, net of RIZ2-FE42f
accumulated depreciation =1-R MBEHHE 47,805 33414 55,045 973 13,79 4,337 165,369
At 31 December 2010; %:ﬁ—gﬁfiﬂ
=4-8:
Cost ﬁﬂ'i 100,013 33,414 188,082 179,338 59,905 8,872 570,124
Accumulated depreciation ZitiiE (52,208) - (133537) (178,365) (46,110) (4,535) (414,755)
Net carrying amount REAE 47,805 33,414 55,045 973 13,795 4,331 155,369
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BMERRE#)

(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, whilst the REEHR - ETRER - HEBNTE
application was in progress, the certificate of BRI A S B REA(ES,121,000 %
ownership with respect to certain buildings of T(ZE—TF : B)2ETEFEL
the Group with an aggregate carrying amount of BREFE o

HK$8,121,000 (2010: Nil) had not been issued by the
relevant government authorities.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's leasehold land RZZE—ZFEFE+—A=+—H " =AY
included in property, plant and equipment with a net X BEERSEZASERE T HERE
carrying amount of HK$1,031,000 was situated in F{E 41,031,000 BT BHUREBR
Hong Kong and was held under a medium term lease. AR AR ERE A -

17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 17. A Lt#EE
The Group’s prepaid land lease payments comprise REETEN T S B IE AT B &%
land use rights in the PRC which are held under BZHBELHERENT ¢

medium term leases as follows:

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—e——r JEEEs
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEAE 9,830 14,080
Amortisation during the year F N i (74) (312)
Disposal HE - (2,587)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) HEWB AR (H2E32) (9,756) —
Exchange realignment bE 5 AR - (1,351)
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+T—HZ2EEE — 9,830

Analysed for reporting purposes as:  {EsR&ERIERZ DT ¢
Non-current FETRED — 9,665
Current M ED - 165

— 9,830
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 18. REMRHE LT

Company
AN
2011 2010
S el = =7
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

FEETMRD - BRANE

Unlisted shares, at cost

8,396,133

8,622,949

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Details of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2011 are

JEW TR P A R RIA R - %
BRRERFER -

RZZE——F+ZA=+T—HZHWBEA

as follows: BT

Place of

incorporation/

registration and Percentage of equity

operations Nominal value of issued/ attributable to the
Name FMERYL/ERR  registered share capital Company Principal activities
£ EEBE ERORA/GMEARE  ANAEEERASL TTER

2011 2010
-t

Held directly
EERE
Apollo Precision Ltd. (i) British Virgin Islands ~ Qrdinary US$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

("BVI") EER1,0005T REARR

EBRAHS

([RERRES])
Held indirectly
BEEE
Apollo Precision (HK) Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary US$1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding and trading
BERIREARAR) BE L& 1,000,000% 7T of equipment and turkey

production lines
REBRREEREREE
HER
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 18. RERKMB AR (&)

(continued)

Place of

incorporation/

registration and Percentage of equity

operations Nominal value of issued/ attributable to the
Name HMARYL/ERK  registered share capital Company Principal activities
£ EEBE BRORA/AMEARE  ANARGERESM IEER

2011 2010
v--r

Held indirectly (Continued)

BERE(E)
Apollo Precision (Fujian) Ltd. The PRC Registered US$3,800,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment and
(a wholly-owned foreign enterprise) & &R 3,800,000 turnkey production lines
RRAGRIAEERAR BEREREELER
(ZENELE)
Apollo Precision (Beijing) Ltd. The PRC Registered RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment and
IRRHAGERERR A e HRERARESB,000,0007T turnkey production lines
BENRREELESR
Notes: Hiet -
(i)  Pursuant to the resolution passed on 14 February i) WBRER=-_ZF—-F-_A+HWABBZ
2012, the name of Apollo Precision Ltd. was changed SR ZE » Apollo Precision Ltd.28& A
to Hanergy Hi-Tech Power International Limited. ERE R RHE AR EERGHD BR AR °
(i)  Pursuant to the resolution passed on 14 February i)y WBER-_ZE——F_A+TUBEBAEB
2012, the name of Apollo Precision (HK) Limited was Z R & Z - Apollo Precision (HK)
changed to Hanergy Hi-Tech Power (HK) Limited. Limited 28 B2 m BHE R ()
RNDBIRAF °
19. GOODWILL 19. &
The goodwill arose from the Acquisition in 2009 and RZZEZNFUWBEEEMEELHER
its net carrying amount is analysed as follows: HEEEFESTWOT ¢
Group
REH
2011 2010
3 T TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net carrying amount at R—A—BRT+ZHA=+—HzZ

1 January and 31 December BREDFE 7,915,318 7,915,318
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

The goodwill is allocated to the cash generating unit
of the Solar Business and its recoverable amount
was determined by the directors of the Company
with reference to the valuation performed by a firm
of independent professional valuers, based on value-
in-use calculations covering a detailed 10-year budget
plan followed by an extrapolation of expected cash
flows. The growth rates reflects the expected long-
term average growth rate for the product lines of the
cash generating unit and the discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections is 20% (2010: 20.57%).

The key assumptions also include stable profit
margins, which have been determined based on
past performance, and management’s expectations
for market share, evidenced by the sales contracts
entered into during the year and after taking into
consideration published market forecast and research.
The growth rate used is consistent with the forecast
included in industry reports. The discount rate used is
pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the Solar
Business segment.

Impairment testing has taken into account the sales
contracts entered into before the end of the reporting
period, together with the management’'s assumptions
on the growth and rate of return. No impairment of
goodwill was associated with the Solar Business
based on this value-in-use calculation.

Apart from the considerations described in
determining the value-in-use of the Solar Business
above, the Group’'s management is not currently
aware of any other probable changes that would
necessitate changes in its key estimates. However,
the estimate of the recoverable amount of the Solar
Business is particularly sensitive to the discount rate
applied.

19.

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

BHEE)

BAESIREERNGHEEBZRSELES
A MERKREESETIAARARESRS
EBHBEMEMTETZMEE  RIE
METFFREENSZEABETE
AEREEERESREETE - BEX
RMLIR G EE BN EMRRY 2 EHE
FHEERUREARREREETZ
BRI R A20%(ZZE—FF : 2057%) °

IZBREANEBEREZERMNE - &HT)
RIEBERAMREEERAZMSHE
(AFERRILZHERNER) LEZ R
ERfmiGEARAREE - IERAZ
BEREITRREA TN —B - K
RZBERRRHA - W RREAFGEER
BoeBamZSERE -

BERAAE R RRE BRI L ZHE
BHREEBEABEREEBXR MK
R’ REBUWERBEFEDE  LERH
BREDEAGEXGREELENUE
A

Br EXEEE KR RE %7 < (£ B EER A
Mz EEIN  AEEEEER /LT M
BEREMAEESMAREE TR
it AT KEFRERH < bt ATk @ &
BYPTRAZBER R H B
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BLEE
Group KEE

Technology Customers’
know-how contracts Total
5 9l 0 78 BEFEH &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

FET FET FET
(note (i) (note (ii)
(HiEE () (B73E (i)

31 December 2011 =—EB——F
+=—B=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of RZZT——F—HA—H
accumulated amortisation RAKANE - % 25t
BN 414,360 128,276 542,636
Amortisation provided during R B

the year (51,814) (66,976) (118,790)
Impairment during the year FRRAE (72 (iii)

(note(iii) — (61,300) (61,300)
Exchange realignment PE 57 8,143 — 8,143
At 31 December 2011 R-—ZT—F+—-HA

=+—H 370,689 - 370,689
At 31 December 2011: R-ZE—E+—H
=4=E
Cost B 7R 480,813 374,613 855,426
Accumulated amortisation R NORE
and impairment (110,124) (374,613) (484,737)

Net carrying amount BRMEFE 370,689 — 370,689
31 December 2010 —E2-ZF+=H

=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of RZZT—TF—HF—HB2Z

accumulated amortisation RS+ H0BR R AT 459,039 190,712 649,751
Additions NE 11,453 — 11,453
Amortisation provided during N B

the year (50,903) (62,436) (113,339)
Disposals HE (11,262) — (11,262)
Exchange realignment bE 5 R 6,033 — 6,033
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE—ZFF+—-H

=+—H 414,360 128,276 542,636
At 31 December 2010: RZE—TF+H
== :
Cost %N 470,281 374,613 844,894
Accumulated amortisation RET 5 (55,921) (246,337) (302,258)

Net carrying amount IREDFE 414,360 128,276 542,636
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Technology know-how acquired during the Acquisition
are recognised at fair value on the date of acquisition.
They are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Customers’ contracts acquired during the Acquisition
are recognised at fair value on the date of acquisition.
They are charged to profit or loss of the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income when the related
customers’ contracts are completed.

The impairment of the intangible asset of
HK$61,300,000 recognised for the year ended 31
December 2011 (2010: Nil) was attributable to the
termination of certain customers’ contracts during the

20. B EE %)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

REER  WBEEPEAZEM
HB TR RNV ERER - WIABEREE
REMEFTAMERFHI10 FRMEH -

REER  WBEEFBEAZERP
BRDRATEER  YRBEERP
BRTHEFEFTALGE 2E KRR 28

)

HE-_T——F+-A=+—HILF
EE MR 2 &EFEERE61,300,000
BT(ZE—ZF: &) EFAKILE
HETEFAHMES -

year.
21. INVENTORIES 21. 78
Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —T—FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
The Solar Business: INCIEES
Raw materials [ 357,216 30,146
Work-in-progress R m 229 72,008
Finished goods RIRK oh 2,900 —
360,345 102,154
The Toy Business MAEB(FRERIL) :
(discontinued during the year):
Raw materials R - 21,715
Work-in-progress e - 32,877
Finished goods K — 23,318
— 77,910
Total st 360,345 180,064
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. EZ R EHMEWRIE
Group
REE
2011 2010
—E——F s
Notes HK$'000 HK$°'000
Kiat FET FET
Trade receivables =) &/ (i) 524 134,600
Less: Allowance for impairment & - FEUFUE R E R
of receivables (i) - (1,891)
524 132,709
Gross amount due from RUWEHTITRERR
customers for contract SRR
works (if) 2,989,053 1,422,428
Less: Allowance for impairment & - FEUFIERIE B
of receivables (if) (178,395) —
2,810,658 1,422,428
Other receivables H i FE U RIE (iii) 86,757 31,060
2,897,939 1,586,197
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

Trade receivables

The Toy Business generally allows a credit period of
0 to 90 days to its trade customers. For the Solar
Business, trade receivables are settled in accordance
with the terms of the respective contracts. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Based on invoice date or payment terms as stipulated
in the relevant contracts, the ageing analysis of the
Group's net trade receivables is as follows:

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

22. ESREMEWRIE®)

HiaE -

(i)

B 5 IR

MAEB R THEESIEF0ZE90
REEH - pHARGREEBmS 25
M FIETIRIEA B A K2 &R
H o REBWARAEE Z WA
REFEEAEARREMMBEER
i AREEZRKFBEFENER
BE BB A L] B2 N BRI
HZBRE DT

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET F&TT
0 — 30 days 0— 30K 496 19,701
31 — 60 days 31 — 60K — 4,456
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X — 5,891
Over 90 days 90 KM 28 102,661
Trade receivables — net B 5 EWGIE — JF5E 524 132,709

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables
are recorded using an allowance account unless the
Group is satisfied that the recovery of the amount is
remote, in which case the impairment loss is written
off against trade receivables directly. The movements
in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

BB 5 e M OB 2 A 1R TR A
BB BRI AEE N RE R 2
REEH - ARERRDERRE S
HRARR B 3 o B 5 M ROB L
BRBIIROT

2011 2010

—E——F —T—TF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

At 1 January ®n—HA—H 1,891 2,459
Amount written off during the year FAME SRR — (568)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB A (1,891) —
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8~ - 1,891

Included in the above allowance for impairment of
trade receivables as at 31 December 2010 was an
allowance for individually impaired trade receivables
HK$1,891,000.

RZT—TF+_A=+—H  Lilt
B 5 FE WK IR R (B B B 4R 1 Bl R E
B 5 FEUGRIA 2 #151,891,000 & T °
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (continued)

The individually impaired trade receivables related to
customers that were in financial difficulties or were in
default in both interest and/or principal payments and
only a portion of the receivables was expected to be
recovered.

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables
that were past due as at the end of the reporting

22. ESRHEMBWRIRE)

Hiet - (&)
(i) EZEKHREE)
18 51350 (8. & 5 & e 3K T8 B2 T 3 B DR R

BB RANEH AL 2 HF AR - &
HYE R Um0 o0 8 I ROR

REFESHPREAMERREZARKE
B 5 REWGRIR AT B B (2 BR ik a0

period but not impaired, based on the due date is as T 8
follows:

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Neither past due nor impaired REH R ARBE - 20,440
1 — 90 days past due #HI1 — 90K 496 10,547
91 — 180 days past due #mHI91 — 180K - 708
Over 180 days past due 0 HAERA 180 K 28 101,014
524 132,709

As at 31 December 2010, trade receivables
HK$20,440,000 that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a large number of diversified
customers from whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that
have good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still fully recoverable. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

RZBE—ZTFE+_A=+—0 KLk
BUE 2 Z 5 EUGKTE 20,440,000 BITERZ
I T B R sk 2 TRIB AR ©

ERHERREZEBKRFIRES ZEREH
BERIGEERBZBIUTFER - REBHE
K ARREERS ANEEERLE
ERERES  BERDBERIENT 2 EK
O - WEBARZ S AR R ERES - A%
B ERZE AR E EAERRREME
S8t -
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

Gross amount due from customers for contract
works

22.

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

ESREMEWFIEE)

Hiat - (%)

(i) ERENIREFIRARE

Group

AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January n—A—H 1,422,428 —

Contract costs incurred plus recognised BEELESHORAINEER

profits less recognised losses 5%*']5)5%56%»@5%5 2,874,689 3,363,432
Less: Progress billings JB - #EFE AR B R IE (1,408,824) (1,972,596)
Impairment during the year FRRE (178,395) —
Exchange realignment b AR 100,760 31,592
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 2,810,658 1,422,428

All the gross amount due from customers for
contract works as at 31 December 2011 was related
to contracts with the Hanergy Group and about
HK$536,221,000 progress payments was past due
as at 31 December 2011. Subsequent to the end of
the reporting period, on 28 March 2012, the Hanergy
Group has committed a revised payment schedule for
all the past due progress payments and pursuant to
which the Hanergy Group undertook to settle the past
due progress payments as to HK$370,000,000 by 30
June 2012 and the rest by 31 August 2012.

The directors of the Company have conducted a
financial due diligence to assess the credibility and the
capacity of the Hanergy Group and are satisfied that
the revised payment schedule offered by the Hanergy
Group will be feasible and hence is acceptable by the
Group.

Furthermore, pursuant to the relevant sales contracts,
the Group is entitled to claim the Hanergy Group
penalty on the overdue progress payments.

RZE——F+=-A=+—8 " FFAH
BRENTIERFPRIERBEERS

B2 &#%EB - M# 536,221,000
TZEEREER-_T——F+=A

=+—HBH HREHRE  RZF
——F=A=+N\H EZg&EEEH
F 8B 2 R IA A GE B 3T 2 o
%’\E?ff‘ﬁ%z'ﬁﬁt EREEERBERC

—FNA=tHE A& EER
ﬁr;,r 18370,000,000 7% Jt + # &8 1§
RZZE——FN\A=+—H=kza#&

N3
/B

o

Z’K/

7N
42
&

AEFCHFGHEEERZEE
NETHBERES - LEHE
B P Fi2 A A BB R SR B P SR K A
A AR E A

BE
17 *

L O HCRL eI
RERR I R K B S B 0
%o
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22.

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Other receivables

None of the above assets is either past due or
impaired. The financial assets included in the above
balance related to receivables for which there was no
recent history of default.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair
value of trade and other receivables are not materially
different from their carrying amounts because
these amounts have short maturity periods at their
inception.

BILLS RECEIVABLE

The ageing analysis of the Group’s bills receivable
outstanding at the end of the reporting period, based
on the invoice date, is as follows:

22.

Zheie

ESREMEWRFIEZ)

Hiit - (&)
(iii)  E At pERKIA

VA& EI RBEIRARIERE © 5FA
VA b A 8k 2 & BhE E BT HY 0 B 3 R
IR ZEEFIAER -

MR E 5 & H At U R IE B R s 5 R
RHARE  MARREERRZEX
RAZAVEEARAEYEEAER

S

RBEPRAREEZARERKREE
ABZEBIEL 2RI DITOT

Group

KEH
2011 2010
- T T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
0 — 30 days 0 — 30X - 206
31 — 60 days 31 — 60X — 1,410
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X — 1,347
Over 90 days 90 KRIA E — 666
— 3,629

At 31 December 2010, all of the Group's bills
receivable were not past due and no impairment
allowance had been recognised.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair
value of bills receivable were not materially different
from their carrying amounts because these amounts
had short maturity periods at their inception.

R-_ZE—ZTF+-_A=+—H"  FIARK
EE R EIE S R B E K I & R E
K o

HRERZEEERGBES RN ERAE
B #ARREERREAFERAR
HEYEERNER -
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24. EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE 24, BAFEIBRNRESZZERKR
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =1

Group

rEE
2011 2010
Sl = =7
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFET

Equity investment stated at market  IRM{EYIR ZHERILE

value — listed in Hong Kong — RBEBLETM 5,320 —
The above equity investment was classified as LB AREESEAZIEES £+
held for trading and was, upon initial recognition, ERE  NEBBESEARATEET
designated by the Group as a financial asset at fair BB SR EE -

value through profit or loss.

25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 25. RERBITEEREEHER
PLEDGED DEPOSITS
Group Company
AEE PN

2011 2010 2011 2010
= = 7 ikl — T TF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FRET FIET

Cash at banks and RIT N FHEE S

on hand 325,568 858,457 51,419 52,938
Short-term bank 52 EAERTT I 5K
deposits — 246,329 — —
Less: Pledged B AREEER
deposits for EEZE
the Group's EIFHR
bills payable — (213,906) - =
Pledged RNEE—ARIRIT
deposits for =ZE2B
the Group's HHRIE R
general
banking
facilities (40,759) — — —

Total cash and cash HENKREZEY
equivalents 1B=E 284,809 890,880 51,419 52,938
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25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 25. BERBITEERCEHER

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$229,755,000 (2010: HK$939,691,000). RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sales
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day
to three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(%)

PIREEIR - KEBUARE ([ ARE )
BB 238 & KIR1T 417 4 229,755,000
ot (—Z—Z4F : 939,691,00087T) °
ARBAAEHABRABEMER R
i REP B 2 INEE RG] & 4 EE
BIRTE  NEBEL S BERELETT
INEXBZIRTHARBLBAREME
ﬁg o

RTRBEBSARTEARMNEGFEZ
T RBREVN B - 2 HIE B 2 7 K
H—BEE=ZEALF  RIEAKEZA
RFIR B RME - WIREFEHIE BfF R
BREEMAE - |RITHEF R EMER
FRRNELRERCEEEERFZR

7o

26. EZ R HMESFIE

Trade payables B e RIE
Other payables H b &~ 3118

Group

rEE
2011 2010
S Sl = =7
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFET
169,597 130,233
304,892 359,945

474,489 490,178
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continved) 26. B 5 R H Mt B FRIE (%)

The Group was granted by its suppliers credit periods AEBERBEEBERAOTEEEERES
as stipulated in the relevant contracts. Based on the TEEH - AEBEEFRENRBUAESR
invoice date, the ageing analysis of the Group's trade HEER 2 BRES D AT AT -

payables is as follows:

Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F et
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET TFET
0 — 30 days 0— 30K 147,277 116,047
31 — 60 days 31 — 60X 2,807 6,890
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X 3,141 4,509
Over 90 days 90 ABA E 16,372 2,787
Trade payable B 5N IE 169,597 130,233
Other payables E b S 3R 304,892 359,945
474,489 490,178
All amounts are short term and hence the carrying MBS ASHE  AtE S REMER
amounts of trade and other payables are considered DB EEEHEEAEATEZEEY

to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values. oo
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 27. AIBRARES

On 25 November 2009, the Company issued EEWBEEREZ —3D XA A
zero coupon convertible bonds, as part of the R-ZEBEZNF+—AZF+HBETAK

consideration in respect of the Acquisition, with
a principal amount of HK$3,814,950,000 (the
“Convertible Bonds"”). The Convertible Bonds were
issued in two tranches. The principal amount for the
first tranche is HK$1,040,440,000 and the second
tranche is HK$2,774,510,000. The Convertible
Bonds will be mature on 25 November 2013 and
are convertible into fully paid ordinary shares with
a par value of HK$0.0025 each of the Company
at an initial conversion price of HK$0.329 per
share, subject to the adjustments in the event
of, inter alias, consolidation or subdivision of the
shares, capitalisation of profits or reserves, capital
distributions in cash or specie or subsequent issue of
securities at a discount of the then market price, in
the Company.

The holders of the Convertible Bonds will have the
right to convert the whole or part of the outstanding
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds during
the conversion period subject to the applicable
restrictions contained herein. The Convertible Bonds
that remain outstanding on the maturity date shall be
redeemed at its then outstanding principal amount.

The movements in principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds during the year are as follows:

Company and Group

& 43,814,950,0008 jt < T £ B 7]
BEREFTBREKRES ] - 7R
BEEOMABET B 2AESEAR
1,040,440,000 8 T R 8 = #t v N& 58
£2,774,510,0007%8 7T » AJ 2R E 5 1§
RZZT—=F+—A=+HB3H I
AR R E SR 0.329B L iR A
ARAFIBZAREE0.0025 BT 2 BB E B
BRARAD - MR E AR (H ARG
BRI BASKREBERNE - B
HEMEARD R PEEFEITARRES
ZIERT FUAARE  DRAQRE RN
BT -

RBEHIR - TREESFEARER
BMABRBRERZEBAFORLELRS
B(XAERAFERRBIFR) - B
BHIA R 2 AR B S AR E
ARABMASEEED o

FABRBREFASBIEBHMT:

KRARAKEE

2011 2010

S el = =7
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FET

Principal amount at 1 January
Conversion of the Convertible Bonds  ### A] # % (&5

)il = Bl = P e x|

2,606,239 3,814,950
(1,758,709)  (1,208,711)

Principal amount at 31 December

RTZA=+—HB2Z2A%H 847,530 2,606,239
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 27. AIBRES (#)

RUITHERE - AIRERESFAEZAF

On initial recognition, the fair value of the Convertible

Bonds is determined using the binomial model that
takes into account factors specific to the Convertible
Bonds. Liability component is then determined using
an effective interest rate of 8.23% for an equivalent
non-convertible bond. The remainder of the proceeds
is allocated to the conversion option and is included
in equity as equity component of the Convertible
Bonds.

The Convertible Bonds recognised in the statement of
financial position are calculated as follows:

BEAK A RBESRERRTZZ
AIRAETE - AEMOERERAEEFE
ARRERS 2 BIRME823% BT ° FT
SRESRBOREN BE - XIERAER
BB 2 R & 0 5T A

RIS AR S 2% W 3R 2 Al MR AR & 25 5t 5 40
T

Company and Group AR RETER
Liability Equity
component component Total
=VEf:1%) EmID &5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°'000
FAET FET FET
Net carrying amount at R-ZE—TF—H—H

1 January 2010 ZBREFE 2,802,885 4,031,710 6,834,595
Conversion of the Convertible — H #aa] # % {& %

Bonds (953,305) (1,277,389) (2,230,694)
Interest expenses B 222,804 — 222,804
Net carrying amount at R-ZE—ZFF+_A

31 December 2010 and =+—Hk

1 January 2011 —T——%F—H—H

Z BT HE 2,072,384 2,754,321 4,826,705
Conversion of the Convertible — H ¥ ] # % {& %

Bonds (1,421,727)  (1,858,636) (3,280,363)
Interest expenses FEREZ 78,718 — 78,718
Net carrying amount at R-ZZE—F+=A

31 December 2011 =+ —BZEREFE 729,375 895,685 1,625,060
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28. DEFERRED TAX 28. EEFIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets FANELEHREAEREEZESHOT ¢

during the year are as follows:

Group REH

Unrealised
Depreciation  profit or loss

in excess on intra-group Fair value

of related transfer ~ adjustments With- Deductible Other
depreciation  of assets o on business holding impairment ~ temporary
allowance  transactions  combination tax Accruals losses ~differences Total
LT E S
B ERTE ax5e  ERAdZ A1z

RESfofR  ARRRE  QVESE RIE  BAER RERR RbEREE it
Notes SO0 HKSO0 KOO HKSOMD  HKSODD  HKSOOD  HKSOO  HKSOOO
i &L AT &L AT AT AT AT AT

At 1 January 2010 N-5-55-7-A 3,669 (5,770) (115,309) = = - 4,031 (113,375
Change in tax rate ES £ 9 - - 46,122 - - - - 16,12
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT ) (99) - - - - - (3208) (3,306)

Deferred tax credited) EMi2ENAERL

(eharge) to profit or famat)/(i8)

loss of the statementof  ZEEHE

comprehensive income

during the year 1,069 3,958 12807 (87,808 5183 - 6,249 (58,552)
Exchange realignment EiAE - - - 2210 - - - (2210

At31 December 2010and ~ M=E-FE=A

1 January 2011 =+-Ak
-3——5-f-q Y1 BNt N1 N - m
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT ) (4.630) 1812 - 3,109 - - 107 (6,781)

Deferred tax credited/ EMi2ENERL

(eharge to profit or R/ ()

loss of the statementof  ZEEHE

comprehensive income

during the year 9 - 35,264 2847 (64,528 1,689 28,659 — BT
Exchange realignment Eigg - = = (14191) - 672 - (13519)

At 31 December 2011 nE——F
+ZA=+-8 - 35,204 (31,529) (165,628) 6,868 29331 - (125,704)
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28.

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of
the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial
reporting purposes.

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

IEFERLE (4)

REJNBEWME r ETELEHBEEER

BECRMBRRRRIEE - LT A5
Eﬁ‘%fi&ﬁ MM S 2 N BIRER IR
BRI

Group
rEE
2011 2010
TE-—F il
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net deferred tax assets recognised RERE MR RERZ
in the consolidated statement of FIRETIEE E
financial position 71,453 16,434
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised 4R & BIISIANRIERZ
in the consolidated statement of R IAB G
financial position (197,157) (147,755)
(125,704) (131,321)

The Group has tax losses of HK$48,275,000 (2010:
HK$124,465,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose, subject to the rules of the tax
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as the utilisation of which is uncertain.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

NEEE B 5 E18 48,275,000/ (=
T —T4F : 124,465,00078 7T ) IR A

B LR ERB AR 2R A ZHR
T AAEKEEEBE 2 Ral 2 RRE
BT c AR KRBEEZEBEESTH
R MU ERZEEEERETHE

RIEFEIERMAEIE  RPBEKRLZ
SIERECRARARIMEETIRL
BEBM10% BN - HREH_-FF
NF-—A—BRBER  WERR_-TZT
tFFT_A=T—BEZBM - HHEH
BIBINREE Z RDEER B AT R
B RIRERBE AR E - 5t
AEEME  BRARERLE% - Fitt
AEBEEERRTEKRLZZENE
REARN-_ZEEN\F-—A—BRELEZE
FFT 2 K 2 B SN TR -
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29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. B

Shares % 13
Number of Nominal
shares value
RHEE HE
‘000 HK$'000
FhE FET

Authorised: VERE ¢
At 1 January 2010, 31 December R—ZE—ZEF—H—H"

2010 and 1 January 2011 —ET—ZEF+=-HA=+—H

(ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 E—TE——F—F—H (8K

each) {8 0.0025/8 70,2 LAk 32,000,000 80,000
Increase of authorised share capital  YAE XA AN 32,000,000 80,000
At 31 December 2011 (ordinary R—ZE——F+_-_H=+—H

shares of HK$0.0025 each) (EZRMEE0.0025 T2 &8

%) 64,000,000 160,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHE :
At 1 January 2010 (ordinary shares RZZE—ZF—A—H(EKA

of HK$0.0025 each) f0.0025 B T2 Ei@Ak) 4,612,668 11,632
Repurchase of own shares* (note BRIAFRG * (A1)

(1) (244,600) (612)
Conversion of the Convertible HIRR R ES (B (1)

Bonds (note (ii)) 3,673,894 9,185
Exercise of share options (note 30) 1T EE AR (A7 30) 246,592 616
At 31 December 2010 and R-ZE—FEFE+-_F=1+—H

1 January 2011 (ordinary shares E—TE——F—F—H(8K

of HK$0.0025 each) [E{8 0.0025 % 7T 2 AR ) 8,288,554 20,721
Repurchase of own shares (note (i)  E&[BIZAR & BAD (A7 () (313,952) (785)
Conversion of the Convertible HIRR R ES (B (1)

Bonds (note (ii)) 5,345,620 13,364
Exercise of share options (note 30) 1T B AR (A7 30) 110,800 277
At 31 December 2011 (ordinary RZEBE——F+=-_A=+—H

shares of HK$0.0025 each) (SR ™EE0.0025 8Lz Ll

) 13,431,022 33,577
* 63,900,000 ordinary shares repurchased in 2009 were *

cancelled in January 2010.

RZZZ NG 2 63,900,000 % &
—E—TF— A
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 29. BA(4#)

Notes:

(i) During the year, the Company repurchased its own
shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

(i) FA ARFERBIABLOELSZ
g ra

2011
Number of Highest Lowest
shares price paid price paid Aggregate  Transaction Total
Month/year B/ repurchased per share per share cost paid costs  consideration
1] gREM gRER
ki8R REEk RIEEE  ABRRA RERE BRE
000 HK$ HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
; 27 FAT #
January 2011 —E——%-J 215,792 0.64 061 135,539 749 136,288
February 2011 “E-—5_f 98,160 0.66 0.64 63,976 347 64,323
313,952 199,515 1,096 200,611
—ZE-FF
2010
Number of Highest Lowest
shares price paid price paid Aggregate  Transaction Total
Month/year B/ repurchased per share per share cost paid costs  consideration
gREM gREM
BERGHA RaEk REEE  ABRRA RARE ARE
'000 HKS HKS HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
& V7 AT T T AT
January 2010 ZE-55-] 25,900 1.12 1.02 27,548 89 27,637
February 2010 “Z-Z£-f 119,700 1.09 089 121,928 389 122,317
November 2010 338 23,100 069 0.58 14,904 55 14,959
December 2010 “Z-ZE1ZR 12,000 0.65 061 7,460 27 7,487
180,700 171,840 560 172,400

(ii) During the year, the Convertible Bonds of an
aggregate principal amount of HK$1,758,709,000
(2010: HK$1,208,711,000) were converted into
5,345,620,000 ordinary shares (2010: 3,673,894,000)
of HK$0.0025 each in the Company at the conversion
price of HK$0.329.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share options are set out in
note 30 to the financial statements.

(i) F WA A% 4H%1,758,709,0007% 7T
(ZZ—Z4 :1,208,711,00087T) 2
AMRESF R RE0.329F LK
# /5,345,620,000 5 (=& — T 4F ¢
3,673,894,000% ) A QA 7 & Kk & &
0.0025 702 EiEAK ©

B

RRPEIE Z 7 BEN MWK M T
30 -
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30. SHARE OPTIONS 30. BixfE

Share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 August 2007,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) relating to the grant of share options
to directors, employees and other participants (the
“Grantee”) including consultants, advisers, suppliers
and customers of the Group.

The directors may specify the minimum period, if any,
for which an option must be held or the performance
targets, if any, that must be achieved by the Grantee
before the option can be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment and at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (ii)
the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the date of the
grant of the share option; and (iii) the average closing
price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share option.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the share
capital of the Company in issue on 28 August 2007,
the date of adoption of the Scheme, unless a refresh
approval of the shareholders is obtained.

BRET A

BRER-_ZZLFNA-+N\BESB

ZORFEE - ANRRRAN—IRBERER S

(T8 DAAKEZES BERE

ﬁﬂ/,\%(ﬁ%?*/d BREER - #H
- HEERERP) R HBRE

EENRETRREAEITERN VAR
B2 &ERBNE)SIARABEER
ZERBABZR(ME) -

BRENHAESNERYLRIE R
o TEE(AIRERRE A RAE)
HERTI=Z=FFR 2&mE  (IRH2
&  (ii) WﬁWﬁHﬁ%?ﬂﬁ%‘EEHﬁx
P& B #RE R ATl 2 SRR E 5 K (i)
A% 5 %%&%Hﬂ%?ﬁﬂj”ﬂwﬁm#%
BB E BmERMM 2 B TH
WTfE o

RITERIFZ T 8 R AR BHER E AL RS
P it 81 TR 2 2 B0 RE A T Al Ak
BOTZBENESHETFEBAARAR
—ETEFNA =+ N\B(AVERAZE
2R ZEBRITRAZ10% @ HE
BUSBCR Z ERTHLERRID -
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Share option scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the Special General Meeting held on
11 June 2010, the resolution approving the renewal
of the 10% of the general limit was passed by the
shareholders and the maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of all options
to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in
issue on 11 June 2010. The total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 461,224,947
(representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of passing the resolution to
refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and to
be issued) in respect of which share options may
be granted under the Scheme to any one Grantee
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
share capital of the Company in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Scheme was approved by the shareholders of
the Company on 28 August 2007 and has a life of 10
years until 27 August 2017.

Share options granted to certain consultants of the
Solar Business

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed in a
special general meeting held on 23 November 2009,
the directors are specifically authorised to (i) grant the
options to consultants of the Solar Business and (ii)
upon the exercise of the options, allot and issue up to
320,000,000 shares of HK$0.0025 each in the share
capital of the Company to the Grantee.

30. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 30. Bk #®)

BRERE(E)

BERZZE—ZF A+ —HETZ2K
RERAE - BLEEH10% — B ERZ
RBEZERFIE - METERERZE
B R AR EE A A B AR A 5T &S T 1
M EBEREMAERT I RORES
HETSBAARRANR=ZE—ZFTF A
T—HZEBITRAZ10% ° Al HBEE
ZaT B BT 2 IR0 2 80R 461,224,947
BRUEARABRBBEFH10% LR 2A
FREAZEBEITRA10%) °

PMEMR 128 A SRR IEZ A 1R TEM
—BEABRAZBREMS 2B &S
R (BEITEBETERT) AEBEAR
AIRZ 12 AMERE —B 2B &ETR
R2Z1% @ HEREEHRAUIBRFAR
AR Z HEERR D

A B ER—_EELFNAZ-TN\BE
ARFRRAE - RE10F EE-F
—tFNAZ+tEHAL -

BYAGRERE THRB 2BRE

BER-_ZEZNF+— A= +=HBH817
ZREFBNAS ERBZEBRAER
EERBRERG)ELERET KGR
EBER - RG)RITEBRER - %
K %175 % 320,000,000 A& A& A &) B A
fF & AR {8 0.0025 % 7T 2 B (0 T & &
A °



150 S A EL TR ER AR APOLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A AR M R

(31 December 2011 R=ZE——F+=—A=+—H)

30. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 30. BRE®)
Share options granted to the management of the BRIAEEEEE 2 BRE
Group
Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed in a BER-_ZE——F+—A=F+HHE7TZ
special general meeting held on 30 November 2011, REREFRAE L@B s TRRER &
the directors are specifically authorised to (i) grant EEERRENREEBRETAERE
the options to the management of the Group and (ii) IBIE ; (i) AT B IR - iR ek g2
upon the exercise of the options, allot and issue up to 175 % 100,000,000 B A A & B A &
100,000,000 shares of HK$0.0025 each in the share AT {6 0.0025 8 7T 2 IR 1D T A A °

capital of the Company to the Grantee.

The following share options were outstanding during LA BB RS RE A EE 4 1R AR T T{EF
the year:
2011 2010
S —2-2%
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price VI LoIg  exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
SR E S NE
FATER BREHE THTHEE B EE R
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT Fi& BT T
At 1 January ®—A—H 0.24 126,400 0.24 372,992
Granted during the year FAKH 0.17 100,000 = =
Exercised during the year  FR{T{E 0.25 (110,800) 0.24 (246,592)
Expired during the year FAJE® 0.18 (12,000) — —
At 31 December RtZA=+—H 0.17 103,600 0.24 126,400

The weighted average share price at the date of EXRE{THERENITE B Z INEFHK
exercise for share options exercised during the year B A&FK0BIBT(—ZFTE—ZFF : §HR0.61
was HK$0.63 per share (2010: HK$0.61 per share). D) o
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30. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 30. BRE®)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share RBEBIRMARITEZBREZ1THEE
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting MATEHIT ¢

period are as follows:

Number of
2011 options Exercise price* Exercise period
—E——F BREHAR TEE* 1TEH
Granted to ‘000 HK$ per share
®F Fi ZRET
Consultants of INCEES 3,600 0.25 25 November 2010 to
the Solar RaR (1) 24 November 2014
Business (ii) —ZE-ZEF+—A-+HABZE
—E-NF+—A=+mMA
Management of AREFBEERE 100,000 0.1664 16 December 2011 to
the Group (iii) (iii) 15 December 2016
—E——H+ZA+RBEZ=
T—-RF+ZA+AH
103,600
Number of
2010 options Exercise price* Exercise period
—E-ZF BREZAR THEE* TEH
Granted to ‘000 HK$ per share
BT Fhz FRET
Consultants of R ES B RAE (1) 12,000 0.18 13 April 2010 to 12 July 2011
the Group (i) —E-TFNA+=HF
—E——FtA+=H
Consultants INCEE LS 114,400 0.25 25 November 2010 to 24
of the Solar (if) November 2014
Business (ii) —E-ZTF+—A=+HAZE
—E—NE+—HA=+WmA
126,400
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * BERRHE 2 1T EA R AT IR B 1T A A

adjustment in case of rights on bonus issues, or other

BB 3R A ARV B RE R R o

similar changes in the Company's share capital.
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M EE

30. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

On 13 July 2009, the Company granted 52,992,000
share options to consultants of the Group under the
Scheme for nil consideration at an exercise price of
HK$0.18 per share. The vesting date of the share
options granted to business consultants of the Group
is one year from the date of grant.

On 25 November 2009, being the date of the
completion of the Acquisition, the Company issued
320,000,000 share options to certain consultants of
the Solar Business for nil consideration at an exercise
price of HK$0.25 per share as incentive of their
contribution to the development of the Solar Business.
The vesting date of the share options granted to
consultants of the Solar Business is one year from the
date of grant.

On 16 December 2011, the Company granted
100,000,000 share options to the management of
the Group for nil consideration at an exercise price
of HK$0.1664 per share. The exercise periods of the
share options granted to the management of the
Group are as follows:

30. BRE®)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

RZZZNAFELA+=H  AQRR
BZer 8l AT REE I 52,992,000 5
BRETAESBER  TEEAEFR
0188w - BT AL BEEM 2 Bk E
ZERBERABHAR T BHET—F -

%:;ﬁgﬂiﬂ——ﬂ —+A B (BNUEE
FIHTKBAE) ARBIUEREET
320,000, OOOP%H&%?’K% v
ETER - TEEAER025E T -
NEERSEHKGEEER 2 ERIED
SRR SN ETE Y e
SREBH AR L B BB —F -

R=ZZT——F+=A+8' AR
7] LA = R (B #% tH 100,000,000 {7 & A%

BEFTAEEERE TEEBAETR
0.1664 8L - W TAEEERE 2 B
fe#E 2 ITEERAA T ¢

Exercise periods 1TEH Number of options
BRERE
‘000
FhR

16 December 2011 to 15 December 2016 —T——F+-_A+HZE
—E—RFE+=A+TEH 10,000

16 December 2012 to 15 December 2016 T —-F+=ZRA+H=E
—E-RE+H+TEHA 10,000

16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016 —2—=%+-A+H=ZE
—ET-RE+=-A+HhAB 10,000

16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016 —E—NFE+-_A+HE
—E—R"F+=-A+HH 10,000

16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016 —E—AF+=-A+BHE
—E-XE+ZHATEHA 60,000
100,000

The fair value of the share options granted to the
management of the Group was HK$19,975,000 at the
grant date and was fully recognised as a share option
expense for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had
an exercise price of HK$0.1664 to HK$0.25 and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 2 years
(2010: 3.6 years).

(iv)

RELHBEH RTFTAEEEEEZE

% # 2 A F & A19,975,000% It
EREERABEZE_ZT——F+_A

=t HLEFEZBERER

RZE——F+ZA=+—HBHKRT
FrEREZ1TFEER0.1664 B TE
025870 MMEFLHBRTELFH
R2F(ZT—ZTF :36%F) °
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30. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The valuation of the share options granted to the
management of the Group in the current year was
carried out by an independent professionally qualified
valuer using a binomial model and the inputs for the
model were as follows:

30.

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

BREZ)
Kiat - (&)

(v)

RAFERTFAEEERE 2 BIRE
ZIEEDEBYEES EREERK
FAZBEENETT  ZEBAERZH
B

At 16 December
2011

R-B——%
+=A+%A

TEERR IR
£ [ B )

Expected volatility

Risk free rate

Expected life (years)
Expected dividend yield

The underlying expected volatility was determined
by reference to historical data, calculated based on
the expected life of the share options. Expectations
of early exercise were incorporated in the binomial
model. No special features pertinent to the options
granted were incorporated into the measurement of
fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
103,600,000 share options outstanding. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 103,600,000 additional ordinary shares
of the Company and additional share capital of
HK$259,000 and share premium of HK$17,281,000
(before issue expense).

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 103,600,000 share options
outstanding, which represented less than 1% of the
Company's shares in issue as at that date.

AR (F)
TEHEARR Bk

(vi)

(vii)

76.17%
0.85%
5

0%

HEBRRRED2EBEEREE R
REREZERFHFE - RETRE
ZHEBDFAZIRER - REFEQF
ERF - WS B AT B A 2 R -

REEHIR - N2 A14F 103,600,000 13
RITEBRE - RBREBEARAZHEER
RERE  2HTERTERRESS
B %% 17103,600,000 % 7 A 7] B8 4) B
5+ I3 0 A% 78 259,000 7 T K A% 2K
i (817,281,000 o (F0 bR TR X
Ai) °

RAGHBHKEILEBR KAFAHE
103,600,000 13 RATEEERRAE « (R
AIRZBAZEBITRAZ1% AT ¢

1563
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31. RESERVES 31. f#E
(a) Group (a) A&KEH
The amounts of the Group's reserves and NEBRANPE z FEcENESE
the movements therein for the current period FE N IRE MK HREKFE62E63 H
are presented in the consolidated statement ZITE R EEE -

of changes in equity on pages 62 to 63 of the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Capital redemption reserve (i) ZEXEEFE
Capital redemption reserve represents an BEAELDREBz2EERE
amount equivalent to the par value of the A% 15 B8 [B] )% 85 2 @ AR |
ordinary shares cancelled at a result of the (e

share repurchase.

(i) Reserve funds (i) fFEE
Pursuant to the relevant laws and BIE P B REEAD MOAR
regulations in the PRC, a portion of the NE B 2 BB A Az &P
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PENEEEEAEBBRER
PRC has been transferred to the reserve Tl 2 EES -

funds which are restricted to use.

(iii) Contributed surplus (i) EBE#HEE
The contributed surplus arose from the BERBRDEERNBEFEE
capital reorganisation in prior years. L EREM -

(iv) Share option reserve (iv) BREFE
The share option reserve comprises the fair BREREEEEROESR
value of share options granted which are TEZEREZATE &
yet to be exercised, as further explained eV HmERME245E
in the accounting policy for share-based IR R 5 2 &5t R E
payment transactions in note 2.4 to the — SR - ZeBERIER
consolidated financial statements. The R EETER SRR
amount will be transferred either to the B RR - SR AE R E E
share premium account when the related WS I R B R T R
options are exercised, or retained profits F o

should the related options expire or be
forfeited.
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31. RESERVES (continued) 31. f#E®)
(b) Company (b) ZAATF
Convertible
Share Capital bonds Share
premium  redemption  Contributed equity Other option ~ Accumulated
account 1BSEIVe surplus* 1eServe TBSEIVe 18S8IVe losses Total
-0 TARER

RikER BEGE RERR  EEBR AR BREER  ZHER it
HKSOW0  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOO  HKSOMD  HKSOWD  HKSOO
. A . A

At 1 January 2010 RIZ-E§-F-B 1831799 6,203 262432 4,031,710 (61.970) 39157 (104718 5784593

Repurchase of own shares BEAARN

(note 29 (hit290) (253,810) 612 - - M - - (M
Share repurchase expenses RABERH

(note 29f) (o) (640) - = = = = = (640
Conversion of the Convertiole ~ {ATERER

Bonds (note 29/i) (Kizt290) 2201509 - - 123 - - - 910
Exercise of share options fifEhiE

fnote 30) (Hit30) 291,59 - - - - 3B - B
Equity-based share option EREERRER,

armangements (note 30) i) - - - - - 323,266 - 323,255
Transaction with owners HEEALRS 2258 455 612 - (2m3y 8190 8980 — 1153468
Total comprehensive loss KERRAFRLE

for the year - - = = = — (0074 (290,714)

At 31 December 2010 N5-3F
+zA=1-B 3,890,254 68

b 260430 27043 - 18%7 (39430 6647347
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31. RESERVES (continued) 31. F#E®)

(b) Company (continued) (b) ZA&QF(#E)
Convertible
Share Capital bonds Share
premium  redemption  Contributed equity option  Accumulated
account reserve surplus®  reserve reserve losses Total
A THRE
RftaEE  RERE  EERR: sEGRE  BRERE  EHEE it
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS$'000
70 7 FA7 FA71 7 &7 FA7
At 1 January 2011 N-E-—%-A-H 3,890,254 6,815 26243 2,754,301 12897  (395432) 6,647,347
Repurchase of own shares BEAARG
fnote 29 (hit2q) (199,515) 78 - - - - (198730}
Share repurchase expenses RE
(note 291} (st 290) (1,096) - = = - - (0%
Conversion of the Convertible Bonds R
fnote 29(l (Hist290i) 3,266,999 - - (1.858,63) - - 1408363
Exercise of share options fifEhE
fnote 30 (Hit ) 151,322 - - - (138%9) - U
Equity-based share option amangements ERGEERERE
Inote 30) (Hit30) - - - - 1997 - 18975
Transfer of share option reserve upon the EREERREAERE
expiry of share options i - - - - (1,033) 1,033 -
Transaction with owners LLIVEY 3217710 78 - (1858636 (10497) 1033 12569
Total comprehensive loss for KERRR
the year FifE - - - - - (167,660 (167,662)
At 31 December 2011 i
tZA=1-A 1,107,964 1,600 262,432 895,685 24000 (562,081) 7,735,620
z Contributed surplus arose from the excess of & BEHMABGRTDEERFTKERE A

BIRREERB BT AR ARG
HEZEZBEBEFEZELRSE

issued and capital reorganisation in prior years. 48 o

the carrying value of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares
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32. DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES

(A)

Year ended 31 December 2011

In March 2011, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with several
independent third parties to dispose of the
remaining 51% equity interest in the Toy
Business, for an aggregate consideration of
HK$90,000,000. The disposal was completed
in March 2011. A loss on disposal of the equity
interests in subsidiaries of HK$12,331,000 was
recognised in profit or loss of the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and the
respective reserve funds of HK$34,000,000 were
transferred to retained profits upon disposal in
the current year.

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

32. HEMBATAKRAER

(A)

BE-_Z——H+=-A=+—HIL
FE

R-ZT——F=f AEEHEET
BUE=HIMN—HDEEWSE
& I B 75 R 8251 % AR AN 4
%= # K {&/490,000,000% T °
RELER ZT——F=A%
e HEMBRARBRAERZE
812,331,000 8 T iR & 2 I
mANERAE  AHRES
34,000,0008 TR A F E HE %R
EREFSRRT o
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32. DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

32. HENEBARKRAER (&)

(A) Year ended 31 December 2011 (continued) (A) BE=ZE——F+=-HA=+—HI
FEE)
Details of the aggregate net assets disposed of FRLE 2 BFEEFIBRANE

in the current year and their financial impacts SLEPATR S
are summarised below:
HK$’000
FET
Net assets disposed of: BHEZFEE :
Property, plant and equipment VI - B KA 62,515
Prepaid land lease payments ARt LS 9,756
Deferred tax assets EEFITREE 11,251
Inventories 78 104,354
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b fE W sk IE 19,730
Bills receivable FEM =& 945
Deposits and prepayments e RIBNFIE 8,758
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHERT 58,941
Trade and other payables B 5 R E AR (18,531)
Deposits and accruals He MEFTE B (38,680)
Tax payable FER TR IR (725)
Deferred tax liabilities FEIETRIBE E (4,470)
Non-controlling interests FEfE i (111,513)
102,331
Loss on disposal of equity interests & B B A R AR A
in subsidiaries 2 518 (12,331)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash #RK(E — UE L L 90,000
Net cash inflow on disposal: HERZFRER
Cash consideration HeRE 90,000
Cash and bank balances disposed of B HEZRE RIEITET (58,941)

31,059
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32. DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Year ended 31 December 2010

(a)

(b)

Partial disposal of equity interest in a
subsidiary

In June 2010, the Group entered into a
disposal agreement with Power Design
Holdings Limited (“Power Design”),
which was owned by a key management
personnel of the Company, to dispose
of its 49% equity interest in RBI
Conglomerate (Holdings) Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, for a
cash consideration of HK$44,100,000. The
transaction was completed in June 2010
and a gain on partial disposal of the equity
interest in a subsidiary of HK$44,908,000
was recognised in other reserve in the
prior year.

Disposal of subsidiaries

(i)  In January 2010, the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to
dispose of its entire equity interest
in Talent Link Holdings Limited and
its subsidiary, RBI Conglomerate
Limited, for a cash consideration
of HK$30,000,000. The disposal
was completed in January 2010
and a gain on disposal of equity
interests in subsidiaries of HK$5,000
was recognised in profit or loss
of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

32. HENEBARKRAER (&)

(B) BZ=—Z—ZTHF+=-A=+—HIL
FE

(a) HEHRBARAZTKEER

RZZE—ZTF-A ~&H
Hd Power Design Holdings
Limited ([ Power Design] -
BARAEZEEEAEHR
BIEIMHEWE  NEEH
RAR A2 EWE R FIRBI
Conglomerate (Holdings)
Limited Z 49% f% 78 4 % -
X 18 544,100,000 T °
RPER_ZE—ZTFAAR
B - 2By HE M B A R R A
1 25 2 Wz 44,908,000 %8 7T
RiBEFEREMFERER

(b) HEHEBRE

i) M=ZZT—Z=F—HF &K
EEEBIE=FE]
VEEmE AEE
— [ H M Talent Link
Holdings Limited & £
MERARAEEA D
XBRAAlZZHR
AigEm BeaREAR
30,000,000/ 7T ° &
ER=ZZT—ZTF—A%
B S B A R AR AR
25 2 W %5 5,000 7 T
ERGEEERZERZ
BRAER -
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32. DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

32. HENEBARKRAER (&)

(B) B2-F-FF+-"A=+—-HL
FEE)
(b) HEHBLRE(E)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

In June 2010, the Group entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with
an independent third party to dispose
of its entire equity interest in Syne
International Company Ltd. and its
subsidiary, Syne Powertrain System

(ii)

R=E—2ExA"
ALBRBUE=S
AU BE GRS
HRBEARERAR
REHE A RIS 7
BHRGRAN) B B A 7

(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (formerly known (Br 78 K23t B BOF
as Tai Fat Toy (Shenzhen) Ltd.), for a J)BEBRAT)ZEE
cash consideration of HK$6,423,000. AR ReRER

The disposal was completed in
June 2010 and a gain on disposal
of equity interests in subsidiaries
of HK$1,600,000 was recognised
in profit or loss of the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

In November 2010, the Group disposed
of its remaining 51% equity interest
in RBlI Conglomerate (Holdings)
Limited to two independent third
parties for a total cash consideration
of HK$45,900,000. Completion of such
disposals took place in November 2010
and a gain on disposal of equity interest
in a subsidiary of HK$26,131,000
was recognised in profit or loss
of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

In December 2010, the Group entered
into a disposal agreement with an
independent third party to dispose
of its 51% equity interest in RBI Toy
Inc., for a cash consideration US$1
(approximately HK$8). The transaction
was completed in December 2010 and
a loss on disposal of equity interest
in a subsidiary of HK$10,766,000
was recognised in profit or loss
of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

(iii)

(iv)

6,423,000/ 7T ° H &
BERZE—ZFF A%
B - HE M B A B %A
7 2% 2 W %5 1,600,000
BITEREGAZE RS
R ZBmNTER o

RN —FF + —
A AEBEHEER
RBI Conglomerate
(Holdings) Limited 2
BRTB1% R AR T
WMABLE=T B3
& X {8 A&45,900,000
BIL e WHEERZE
—ZTF+—A%EK ' &
ENBRARRAEZZ
I %526,131,0005 7T
ERGREaEEKERZ
B RRER o

RZE—ZF+=H "
AEBBEBYFE=FH
R E W AW
EHMRBI Toy Inc. Z
B1% R AfEm HE
R E B1ZE T(H87%8
L) RPERZE —
ZFE+ZATENK  HE
M8 A Rl AR AN #e 2 2 UK
% 10,766,000% 7T B
RirarEWmK 2B
i MR ©

B
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32. DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTEREST IN 32.
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)

HEKRBATRAER ©)

(B) BE—F—-FFt+-A=t—-AL
EEH)

(b) HEHEAR(E)

tEFELEZRFEEN
BREMBRER XA -

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

Details of the aggregate net assets
disposed of in the prior year and their
financial impacts are summarised below.

HK$'000
FET
Net assets disposed of: EHEZFEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - R = Kkl 21,985
Investment properties B 30,000
Deferred tax assets RER A& EE 3,306
Inventories FE 4,800
Other receivables o fth FE UK IR 2,854
Deposit and prepayments e RIE R 1,331
Cash and bank balances e RiRITHET 2,054
Other payables ot fE S 5RIE (340)
Deposits and accruals e RETER (1,120)
Tax payable JE R IE (367)
Non-controlling interests =R = 551
65,054
Release of exchange reserve upon oS R [ B
disposal k] 299
Gain on disposal of equity interests B A R A RE
in subsidiaries 2 Wz 16,970
Total consideration — satisfied by cash #RE — UIEBE L 82,323
Net cash inflow on disposal: HERZFHRERA
Cash consideration ReRE 82,323
Cash and bank balances disposed of B HEZIRE MIBITHET (2,054)

80,269
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. WAEE
At the end of the reporting period, contingent RBERR - KR BEHRRPEE 2
liabilities not provided for in the financial statements =L N

were as follows:

Group Company
REH KA T

2011 2010 2011 2010
e+ BTl -« EESEL:
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
iz v R i

Guarantee given to a  EHIE A 7

bank in connection BEEIRITEER

with banking ARITIELBR

facilities granted to

a subsidiary — — 1,233,502 1,175,184
As at 31 December 2011, the guarantee given to a R-ZZE——FE+=-A=+—H " ' KA7
bank in connection with banking facilities granted to B R R ERRITEERERFEITEL
a subsidiary by the Company was not utilised (2010: ZHEREADB(ZZE—ZTF &) -

Nil).
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34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 34, REHEAE
As lessee EHABEA

The Group leases a number of properties and
warehouses under operating leases, with leases
negotiated for an initial period of three months to
five years, with an option to renew the lease and
renegotiate the terms at the expiry dates or at
dates as mutually agreed between the Group and
the respective landlords. None of the leases include
contingent rental.

At 31 December 2011, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

AEBERBKEHEERETYELR
- HEVNFRA=BAZHE A&
EREOERE R AEEERRET
ETREZABEREHERIRRK - Z
FHEMIBRARBEL -

RZF——F+ZA=1+—8 &XKH
RETABEEERE 2 RREEEE
ARSI T I HARR E A -

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——F el
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Within one year —FA 28,568 10,929
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-ZEAF(BEEEMF) 89,597 624
118,165 11,553

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EAXEIE

Group

REH
2011 2010
S el = =~
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET

Contracted, but not provided for EEFEES T
acquisition of items of property, WEEYIE -« R

plant and equipment N

11,773 18,609
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances
detailed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related
parties during the year.

36.

BREALXS
(a) BRAERAMBBHE LMD L

LR BRI - ARERF AR
BEALTETUTEARS °

Group
KEH
2011 2010
TE-—F il
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Sales SHE 5
— Manufacture of equipment and — &UERER
turnkey production lines BELER (i) 2,454,695 2,310,366
— Toys and moulds — mAREKA (ii) — 4,329
Purchase of toys BEITA (ii) - 2,035
Rental expenses HEEA (ii) — 590
Notes: Htat -
(i) The revenue from the manufacture of equipment (i) BB R BEREAEGR ZWATS

and turnkey production lines was receivable from
the Hanergy Group.

The sales were made in accordance with
the terms as stipulated in the relevant sales
contracts.

(i)  The sales of toys and moulds, purchase of
toys and rental expenses in the prior year were
conducted with companies with a common
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
The transactions were determined with
reference to the rates of similar market prices
and services for comparable transactions.

In September 2011, the Group entered
into certain equipment sales and services
contracts for an aggregate consideration of
US$5,950,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$46,000,000,000),
subscription and share options agreements with

and certain share

the Hanergy Group. Further details are set out
in the Company’'s circular dated 14 November
2011.

e EIZREEE -

HEDRIBAHHESNRIAZ

GRFETT ©

(i) MNBEEFE HETARER -
BEMANESERHEARNF
BEARESE A THEBERRE
7-RGNBEANBLRRZZ
BT IS ER LR mEE

RZZE—FNA - NEEEZRE
SEFTVETHREHERRES
@ #HR {8 45,950,000,000 3% 7T
(#8 % 7 #946,000,000,0007%8 7T )
KA TRDRIERERERZ © 5F
BHERARBIBEHA-T——F
+—ATmEZ@E -
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36.

37.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(c) Details of compensation of key management
personnel of the Group are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of item (a)(i)
and (b) above also constitute connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its
use of financial instruments in its ordinary course
of operations and in its investment activities. The
financial risks include market risk (including foreign
currency risk and interest risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the
Group's headquarters, in close co-operation with the
board of directors. The overall objectives in managing
financial risks focus on securing the Group’s short to
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure
to financial markets. Long term financial investments
are managed to generate lasting returns with
acceptable risk levels.

36.

37.

BEEALRS

(%)

() ZAEETBEERBHMFISIHNLE
B TEIRERMIFE 15 ©

BRLAFE (@HBERDEBEZEEAL
RBIER ETRAUEVUABRATELZ
RERS -

MEERERERRRBE

AEEFENEBREEBRENEARE
AT ERACRIANEYMBER -
MERREeEm SRR (BEINERR
EFERER) FERBREREE SR

G o
AA

MHERAREERTIEAAEEAIGH
VWHREZSEZAE - BRZMEAR
ERANEPRREAEERLHESH
ZBEE 0 (L BT S A RR
ERE - EURXERKTER - BEE
MBI EAEERF AL -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

It is not the Group's policy to actively engage in
the trading of financial instruments for speculative
purposes. The Group’s senior management works
under the policies approved by the board of directors.
It identifies ways to access financial markets and
monitors the Group’s financial risk exposures. Regular
reports are provided to the board of directors.

Foreign currency risk

(i) Transactions in foreign currencies and the
Group’s risk management policies

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
values or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group's exposures
to currency risk arise from its overseas sales
and purchases, which are primarily denominated
in RMB and United States dollars (“US$"), other
than the functional currencies of the Group
entities to which these transactions relate.

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure
regularly. No hedging or other alternatives have
been implemented during the year.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

BEMREEEERBEE)

TH2ERBEEZEMT ARSI
AEBEZHEE - AKBzaREEER
EZgMAECBRIE  BEMGESR
MERERARESREAR A - X
MEESRHEEMNHRS

SN LB
(i) SNEXZRAEEZ @B EERFE

EXERIERNEZRZESHENT R
TRAZAHEIAKRZREHR
HBZ R - AEEES 2 BB
A EEEUARERET([E
TTDEHEZBINEE - HEEEW
FERNERFGZIAEEEER Y

B o

AEBETE R HINERR - £/
W B TEP R E ML HE -

SNERBEEBRNBERFE—H
MASE LA BRARTZE
R o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. HBEKREEEERKEK#)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) INE R (E)
(i)  Summary of exposure (ii) BBREE
Foreign currency denominated financial assets LASNEEHE @ BB E R B ERIK
and liabilities, translated into Hong Kong dollars MERBRE BT ¢

at the closing rates, are as follows:

2011 2010
—E-TF
Uss RMB Us$ RMB
Y ARME E7T AR#E

LLCK R CY Ol HK$'000  HK$'000
FTERT TR TAT TAT

Trade and other B 5 REM

receivables e W kIR 2,810,821 - 759,324 180
Bills receivable R EE — — 3,629 —
Cash and bank [ RIRTT

balances S 296 48,637 22,815 124,448
Trade and other B 5 REAM

payables FE St FRIA (1,477) — (2,160) (6,231)
Gross exposure EERE R

arising from BE/(AfF)

recognised financial EEZRER
assets/(liabilities) R 2,809,640 48,637 783,608 118,397
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. KEBEEBERBER#)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

HhlE B (42 )
(iii) SEE 5 W

T 5% [ R HAR ONE (AR A A
Bz BE¥RINEFSH 251
AREZE o HRE - L ERRAEE
BIRA B NEB 2 oM | fa s AT AR
2 - W AE IR E NS [E 2R T]
used when reporting foreign currency risk BEBE) 2 B ERTAA o

internally to key management personnel and

(iii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity at
the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the exchange rates of foreign
currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant operating units. The rates are

represents management’s best assessment of
the change in foreign currency exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk at the end of the
reporting period have been determined based

WA - AEEFE M
52 B ST HBRINEES S
BE S LRH S YR BT

PR TR TMER - FiAH e

currency exchange rates taking place at the M o

on the assumed percentage changes in foreign

beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout the year. All variables are held

constant.
Appreciation/(depreciation) in US$ against RMB ETHARKEHE " (BE)
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF

HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-5%)
F5% (% 5%) 5% (B5%)

Profit for the year and ZANEEHM &

retained profits BB 17 7l 119,390 (119,390) 31,027 (31,027)
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. HBEKREEEERKEK#)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) INE R (E)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (continued) (iii) BBE D H ()
Appreciation/(depreciation) in US$ against HKD T BT HE S (RE)
2011 2010
—E2——F —ET-FF

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET F&T
+1% (-1%) +1% (-1%)
F1% (% 1%) F1% (BX1%)

Profit for the year and ZANEEHF &

retained profits B 17 A - — 447 (447)
Appreciation/(depreciation) in RMB against HKD A BT B (E)
2011 2010
—E2——F T —ZF

HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-5%)
5% (% 5%) F+5% (B 5%)

Profit for the year and ZANEEHM &

retained profits B A 2,030 (2,030) 4,764 (4,764)
These are the same methods and assumptions WETEMBRERUBEE_T—TF

used in preparing the sensitivity analysis TZA=+T—RIEFEZHEEVBRE
included in the consolidated financial statements PEBRE D ITAEREMER -
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Exposures to foreign exchange rates varied SN B R @ B B F 1) (Rl BB SN AX B & i
during the year depending on the volume of B o AT - B AT R AR A T R BR AR
overseas transactions. Nevertheless, the analysis SEZINE R o

above is considered to be representative of the
Group's exposure to foreign currency risk.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

(i)

(ii)

Exposures to interest rate risk and the
Group’s risk management policies

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’'s interest rate risk arises
primarily from cash and bank balances. Other
financial assets and financial liabilities are either
non-interest-bearing or bear fixed interest rates
and are measured at amortised cost.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of
the Group's profit for the year and equity to a
possible change in interest rates of +/-50 basis
points (2010: +/-50 basis points), with effect
from the beginning of the year. The calculations
are based on the Group’'s amount of cash and
bank balances during the year. All other variables
are held constant.

Group

HK$°000

37. BREREEEEREEK %)

NRE R
(i) FIEEBERERIEEZEREE

FET

+b0 basis

points
+50 B ¥

AR
2EF

Profit for the year and
retained profits

1,461

BFE

MEERESRIAZATFENKR
&M E H T 5 M X E W 3R
BRkR AREZMEERER
RERERRITHET - Hb&mRE
ER BB R ARE M Rt
B WIREHEKAGTE -

(ii) BUBEEZH
TREMEEYE  AEBH AR
F S5 F| R &= ¥ F = 0] 58 H 3R
+/-503 F(ZE—FF : +/-50%
FIEB 2 HBRE - BEEF TN
AEERFRNZRE RRTETS
HAER - MEHEMEEHERT
AEE
2011 2010
—2-——% —Z2-T%F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
-60 basis +50 basis -50 basis
points points points
50T +50 B4 F -50 B F
(1,461) 4,292 (4,292)
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. BKRREEEEREEK£)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) F == @b (42)
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (continued) (ii) SBEEZH(E)
Company /A=
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FET FET
+50 basis -50 basis +50 basis -50 basis
points points points points
+50 BT -50 B ¥ +50 Bh T -50
Profit for the year and ZANEEHF &
retained profits B 177l 257 (257) 265 (265)

The assumed changes in interest rates
are considered to be reasonable based on
observation of current market conditions and
represent the management’'s assessment of
reasonable change in interest rates over the
period until the end of the next reporting period.

The sensitivity analysis included in the
consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2010 was prepared on the
same basis.

MEZBEREHDHEERBAITHNRSR

REEZEY I REEEHEETRE
WERRIEBRENR 2 EBEE 2T
fili o

RE—T-TE+-A=t+—ALEE
2 MBRRMMZ HEE S HE
MAREERE -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

(i)

(ii)

Summary of exposures

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
counterparty to a financial instrument would fail
to discharge its obligation under the terms of the
financial instrument and cause a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations and its
investing activities.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial
assets, which comprise cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables and
bills receivable, arises from the default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables and bills receivable are
disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk management objectives and policies

The Group's policy is to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. Credit terms
are granted to new customers after a
creditworthiness assessment. WWhen considered
appropriate, customers may be requested to
provide proof as to their financial position.

Customers who are not considered creditworthy
are required to pay in advance or on delivery
of goods. Payment records of customers are
closely monitored. Overdue balances and
significant trade receivables are highlighted. The
directors will determine the appropriate recovery
actions. It is not the Group's policy to request
collateral from its customers.

37.

BEMREEEERBEE)

EEER
(i) EREE

(ii)

EERRIESRIAZ H R
SRIAY WRETREE - 18
HARESBABERZAR - &
£EEHERIERARADE
BEBRRAREEDTETES
L

A=

AEEEpERMEE(BRREENR
R HEY E5REMEKFIR
REKRER)ZEERBRKA ST
EH > meRRAEFNZETIAL
AREME °

EEAEBELARE S REMEIR
HERERERZEERR 2E
— S E(LEIBERGRE B mE T
22 %23 #FE o

B EEEEREE

AEBZHRBEREERFZY
TEARS BRTHEFPZEE
HREEFHRERY - WRRE
& BPAMREREHRM BRI 2

EH o

WRREENMEZEPARNKIA
HR RN » B Z R
BEIER - ARERRERES
ERAZER - ESRETHEE S
WiTE) - AEB BRI ERER
FREERR -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

The credit risk for liquid funds is considered
negligible as the counterparties are reputable
banks and securities brokers.

The credit policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered
to have been effective in limiting the Group's
exposure to credit risk to a reasonable level.

Concentration of credit risk

Included in trade receivables of HK$2,811,182,000
(2010: HK$1,555,137,000) was HK$2,810,658,000
(2010: HK$1,132,701,000) due from one single
customer, which represented approximately
100% (2010: 73%) of total trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period.

The directors of the Company believe that
impairment allowance is adequate in respect of
these balances as these customers have a good
track record of settlements during the current
year and prior year.

37.

—Z——%435% ANNUAL REPORT 2011

BEMREEEERBEE)

FERRE)
(i) EEBEEZERBERKEE)

(iii)

HRE T R EBRFZBRITRES
R HRBESZEERBRER

EERREBEBRFE —BEHAE
Binm - BRRBRITZER AR
SEERE 2 EERBRRHIESEK
IF o

FEEBES

fE W ZE 5 X IE2,811,182,000 %
Jo(= & — Z 4 : 1,655,137,000
BL)EEREKE —FFP RIE
2,810,658,000% TAI(=ZF —F
£ :1,132,701,0008 7T ) * hHkE
R 2B S EWRIBLTEA 100%
—ZT—FF :73%) °

ARREEHE - BRBEERAF
REFHHER RIFEE TS - 5L
I EESRETIR CRERBRRE -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. KEBEEBERBER#)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables and
also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group's objective is to maintain an appropriate level
of liquid assets and committed lines of funding to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long
term.

Analysed below is the Group’'s and Company's
remaining contractual maturities for its financial
liabilities as at 31 December 2011. When the creditor
has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. Where
the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each
instalment is allocated to the earliest period in which
the Group is committed to pay.

The contractual maturity analysis below is based
on the undiscounted cash flows in the financial
statements:

Group
2011

Less than

On demand 6 months

REXRE 2LR6MEA

HK$°000

HK$°000

FET FET

6Z121@A

RBE SR

MBEERRTYENEEREETE R
BEMBAETZARARH AKEEE
BEIERNFBARERESREEERS
HARRBDECRAR - AKEZBEER
MTEECRBEE KR RAHRESR
B UENEEEREMZRBEESS

go

NTARAEEREARFRER T ——
Ft-A=+—BZ#TEERAEL
RpanIHAE - AENIRAEERH
ERNRZEFBHMEA - EEEAT
BEESAGBZAS - ERABEUSES
REE - AR BN D REAEE A
Rz &xFHIR

AT & KB DRIEF B HwEK 2K
MIRBEMEIEH ¢

rEE

6 to 12 1to5b

months years Total

1ZE56F a%

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET FHET FET

Trade and other B 5 NE{h

payables & FIR 7,110 361,833 81,335 24,210 474,488
Convertible AR ES

Bonds — — — 847,530 847,530

7,110 361,833

81,335 871,740 1,322,018
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. HBEKREEEERKEK#)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESE(E)
Group (continued) KEE(E)
2010 —T-TF
Less than 6to 12 1tob
On demand 6 months months years Total
REXE JPR6EA 6FE12{EA 1&E54F BE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAET FHET
Trade and other B 5 NEfh
payables FERTFRIE 93,266 395,305 341 1,266 490,178
Bills payable FERT 24 — 97,588 — — 97,588
Convertible AR ES
Bonds — — — 2,606,239 2,606,239
93,266 492,893 341 2,607,505 3,194,005
Company ¥V
2011 =F——F
Less than 6 to 12 1tob
On demand 6 months months years Total
REXRKE 2PR6EA 6ZE12{EA 1ZE6 5 &%
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET FET FET FET
Amount due to BB A A]
a subsidiary K 77,469 — — — 77,469
Convertible AR &S
Bonds — — — 847,530 847,530
77,469 — — 847,530 924,999
The maximum LT B A A
amount of FERIRTT
the guarantee EEER
given to a bank  #RIT{EH
in connection ERZES
with facilities 2H
granted to a
subsidiary 1,233,502 — - — 1,233,602
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. BKRREEEEREEK£)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESE(E)
Company (continued) ENCTIE - D)
2010 —EFF
Less than 6to 12 1t0b
On demand 6 months months years Total
RERkE JLR6MEA 6FE121EA 1EB54F BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET FET FET FET
Convertible AR ES
Bonds — — — 2,606,239 2,606,239
The maximum B A A
amount of FEFERTT
the guarantee EEFR
given to a bank  $RITHEH
in connection BERZ&E
with facilities KoL
granted to a
subsidiary 1,175,184 — — — 1,175,184
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. BKRREEEEREEK£)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy DNFERE

The Group uses the following hierarchy for AREBHERA T REEERFEESRT

determining and disclosing the fair values of financial B A¥E:

instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted B&—: RIFEHAREESEEEERE
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for mHEZ2RECREFE) T
identical assets or liabilities EZ2RFE

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation EBf=: BEMBEZXEZHET
techniques for which all inputs which have a BEATEEEATEZASH
significant effect on the recorded fair value RER ZHERNGFEZA
are observable, either directly or indirectly E@E

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation BA&=: WIERENEREZMIEEE
techniques for which any inputs which have (GERTERER) M ¥ 256
a significant effect on the recorded fair ARIEEEEAFEZAME
value are not based on observable market Bz mERNEE 2 AT E
data (unobservable inputs)

Fair value hierarchy NEEZEE

As at 31 December 2011, the Group held the R-ZZTE——F+=-A=+—H ~A&EH

following financial instruments measured at fair value: BEUTEAFEFECEMITA

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B F-H E=H =N
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000
Assets BE FET FET FET FET
Equity investment at R AT EYIFRRIEDS
fair value through ZHESIRE
profit or loss (Hiat24)
(note 24) 5,320 — — 5,320
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37.

38.

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The Group’'s capital management objectives are
to ensure the Group’'s ability to continue as a
going concern and to provide an adequate return
to shareholders by pricing goods and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital
structure and makes adjustments in light of changes
in economic conditions. The Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the debt to equity
ratio. For this purpose, debt includes total borrowings
excluding the Convertible Bonds. Equity includes
equity attributable to the owners of the parent. The
Group’s goal in capital management is to maintain a
debt to equity ratio at a reasonable level. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting period
was 0% (2010: 0%).

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The comparative consolidated statement of
comprehensive income has been re-presented as
if the operation discontinued during the current
year had been discontinued at the beginning of the
comparative period (note 10).

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on
29 March 2012.

37.

38.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities

and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five

financial years, as extracted from the published audited

TXHEIAEEBEREAMRFE XS
BE ARERFERESHE - DRxAC
TEZEELMBERER  AEFHEEZE

financial statements and re-presented as appropriate, is set H2¥f :
out below.
RESULTS ¥E
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—ET+F —TT)N\F —ZTTNEFE —T-TF mEEd
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 L€
FHET FHET FHT FHT FHET
CONTINUING OPERATION BELCEER
REVENUE WA — — 315292 3,019,097 2,564,640
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX  REHERLS L 7 BAT

FROM A CONTINUING wH, (B1E)

OPERATION — —  (135,048) 1,517,129 967,543
Income tax expense Frie Rl i — —  (10,795) (346,459) (243,814)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR KREBECLES

THE YEAR FROM A ZAREREER

CONTINUING OPERATION (B1) — —  (145,843) 1,170,670 723,729
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BAIER&ExHK
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR REDRIEREER

THE YEAR FROM A ZARFEEHF,

DISCONTINUED OPERATION  (f&#B) 19,954  (55,677) 18,916 20,342 (767)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ZAEE %A,/ (&) 19,954  (55,677) (126,927) 1,191,012 722,962
Profit/(loss) for the year [SUNGIEZ PN

attributable to owners FERAREE

of the parent swFl/ (E8) 19,954  (55,677) (124,535) 1,184,697 719,320
Profit/(loss) for the year JEiE R A

attributable to FEIEAREE

non-controlling interests wmrl/ (E8) — — (2,392) 6,315 3,642
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
2007 2008 2009 2010
—ET+E —TTNE —EENE —T-TF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 WLEXII]
FET FET FET FET FET
Goodwill RS — — 7915318 7,915,318 7,915,318
Intangible assets EBREE — — 649,751 542,636 370,689
Property, plant and equipment 1% - BE kRk/E 203,040 188,685 125,887 155,369 119,364
Prepaid land lease payments AR LA E
(non-current portion) GEREHH) 29,414 29,697 13,475 9,665 -
Deposits paid for acquisition W% - BE
of items of property, R B
plant and equipment Ze — — — 22,763 15,583
Investment properties REME — — 30,000 — -
Deferred tax assets BELEHBEE 9,954 9,196 6,686 16,434 71,453
Net current assets MENEEF 191,832 159,067 229,131 1,963,808 2,825,794
Bank borrowings RITIEE (36,703) — = = -
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHBEAE (2,147) (4,008) (120,061) (147,755) (197,157)
Convertible Bonds ARRES — — (2,802,885) (2,072,384) (729,375)
Shareholders’ funds BRHERES 395,390 382,637 6,047,302 8,405,854 10,391,669
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